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Auditing Department
Martin J. Walsh, Mayor

December 27, 2017

The Honorable Mayor,
Members of the City Council,
and Citizens of Boston:

We are pleased to submit to you the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City of
Boston (City) for the fiscal yearended June 30,2017. The CAFRis prepared by the City’s Auditing Department,
and is intended to provide information regarding the financial position of the City. This report is prepared
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), as established by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), and meets all requirements of state finance law of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as well as the City Charter.

The responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and fairness of the data presented, including
disclosures, rests with the City. City management believes this report is accurate in all material respects
and is presented in a manner which fairly sets forth the financial position and results of operations of the
City. Managementis also responsible for establishing and maintaining internal accounting controls designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these financial statements are complete and
accurate in their presentation.

The Auditing Department uses an integrated financial and human resources management system
referred to as the Boston Administrative Information System (BAIS). The system is designed to track and
control daily activities and report the financial position of the City. This cutting edge software allows
managementto directly evaluate the financial status of individual programs as well as the entire department,
and also supports the rigorous monitoring and reporting requirements enforced by the City.

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, through Chapter 190 of the Acts of 1982, requires that the City
undergo an annual audit performed by a firm of independent public accountants. The City has selected
KPMG LLP to performthe June 30, 2017 audit. This auditis conducted in accordance with generally accepted
government auditing standards (GAGAS) issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The audit
provides an independent review to help assure a fair presentation of the City’s financial position and results
of operations.

The City also undergoes an annual audit of its federal grant funds as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). KPMG LLP issues separate reports on the City’s
internal control systems and compliance with applicable laws and regulations that meet the requirements
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of the Uniform Guidance. A substantial focus of the Single Audit is to evaluate the City’s internal control
structure. The evaluation includes testing a significant number of the major federal program transactions
that occurred during the fiscal year. The Single Audit also requires that the auditors determine whether the
organization has complied with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on each of its major
federalfinancial assistance programs. All of the City’s major federal programs are evaluated for the adequacy
of internal controls and compliance with laws and regulations. The report s publicly issued under a separate
cover.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) follows the independent auditors’ report and provides
a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements. This letter of
transmittal is intended to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it.

Boston: A City of

Neighborhoods
E::.E..,, "Boston is like no other city in
B the way we combine global
leadership with local pride
Boston's resilience isrooted in
our neighborhoods, where

COMmMmuny ties sustain us and

cultural diversity enriches us."
¥

-Mayor Martin J. Walsh

Profile of the Government

The City of Boston, incorporated as a town in 1630 and as a City in 1822, is located on the Shawmut
Peninsula, at the confluence of the Charles and Mystic Rivers. The City lies adjacent to Boston Harbor, which
is a part of Massachusetts Bay and leads ultimately to the North Atlantic Ocean. The Charles River separates
Boston from Cambridge and Watertown, while the Mystic River determines the boundaries between
Chelsea and Everett. The Neponset River separates the southern neighborhoods of Boston from the Town
of Milton and City of Quincy.

The City of Boston exists under Chapter 486 of the Acts of 1909 and Chapter 452 of the Acts of 1948
of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, which, as amended, constitute the City’s Charter. The Mayor is
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elected to a four-year term and serves as chief executive officer of the City. The Mayor has general
supervision of and control over the City’s boards, commissions, officers and departments. The legislative
body of the City is the City Council, which consists of 13 elected members serving two-year terms.

The City’s Mayor, Martin J. Walsh, was elected to serve a 4 year-term from January 2014 through
January 2018 and was sworn in on January 6, 2014 as the City’s 54th Mayor. Mayor Walsh was recently
re-elected to a second-term beginning January 2018 through January 2022. Prior to his service as Mayor,
Mayor Walsh was a member of the Massachusetts House of Representatives, serving as the State
Representative from the Thirteenth Suffolk District from 1997 through 2013. Mayor Walsh continues to
work tirelessly towards making Boston a city where everyone has the opportunity to succeed. His vision
shaped by thousands of Boston voices, envisions a city that will expand opportunity forall, supporta dynamic
economy, enhance quality of life, and prepare for climate changes. Through Imagine Boston 2030, the Mayor
hasidentified key areas where Boston can take action to enhance neighborhoods’ vitality: encourage mixed-
use job centers; provide spaces for new housing and jobs; and create a waterfront for future generations.
The $2.08 billion fiscal year 2018-2022 Capital Plan discussed in more detail in the Long-Term Financial
Planning section.

The City budgets and maintains its books and records on a statutory basis of accounting prescribed by
the Massachusetts Division of Local Services, Bureau of Accounts. This basis of accounting differs from
GAAP. The accounts of the City are organized on a fund basis. Each fund is considered to be a separate
accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing
accounts, which comprise each fund’s assets, liabilities, fund balance, revenues, and expenses.

The General Fundis the only fund for which a budget is legally adopted. The budgets for all departments
included in the General Fund of the City, except the School Department, are prepared under the direction
of the Mayor and City Council. Departmental budgets are established at the account level and so voted by
the City Council. The School Department budget is prepared under the direction of the School Committee.
Original and supplemental appropriations are submitted by the Mayor, approved by the City Council, and
lapse at year end unless encumbered. The legal level of control over appropriations is at the department
level. Amendments to the original budget must be approved by the City Council, except for a reallocation
of appropriations of up to $3.0 million, which the Mayor may approve. Further, the City Auditor, with the
approval of the Mayor, may make transfers from any appropriation to any other appropriation for purposes
of eliminating deficits before closing the books for the fiscal year.

Included in the basic financial statements, which are prepared on the GAAP basis of accounting, are
governmental activities, each major fund, the aggregate discretely presented component units, and
aggregate remaining fund information. Discretely presented component units are reported in a separate
column to emphasize their operational and/or financial relationship with the City. The Boston Retirement
System (BRS) has been presented as a blended component unit because it provides services almost
exclusively to the primary government. The Dudley Square Realty Corporation (DSRC) and the Ferdinand
Building Development Corporation (FBDC) are also presented as blended component units for the same
reason. The Notes to the Financial Statements further discuss the City’s financial reporting entity.
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Local Economy

Boston is the twenty-third largest city, in terms of population, in the United States and the economic
hub of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”). Itis a center for professional services,
business, finance, technology, research and development, higher education and health care, as well as for
transportation, exports, communications, culture and entertainment. The City accounts for approximately
16.7% of all jobs in the Commonwealth.

The City is the capital of the Commonwealth and is host to several other governmental agencies.
According to the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, there were an estimated 76,708 federal, state, and local
government workers in the City in 2015. Large state government offices, federal regional offices, U.S. Postal
Service facilities, state-chartered authorities and commissions such as the Massachusetts Port Authority
and the Boston Water and Sewer Commission, and the City’s local government agencies and departments
are all located within the City.

Boston’s medical and educational institutions are an important component of its economy, providing
employment opportunities for residents of the City and Metropolitan Boston. Spending by these institutions
as well as their employees, patients, students, and visitors are important to the City’s trade and service
sectors. Twenty-one inpatient hospitals are located within the City, including Massachusetts General
Hospital, Brigham and Women’s Hospital, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston Children’s Hospital,
Tufts New England Medical Center, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute and Boston Medical Center. The City is
also the home of the medical, dental and public health schools of Harvard, Tufts, and Boston Universities.
In 2015, there were an estimated 140,000 jobs, or 18.5% of all Boston jobs, employed in health services in
the City. Thirty-five colleges and universities reside in Boston, accounting for over 138,180 full and part-
time students, according to the City of Boston’s University Accountability Ordinance and Department of
Neighborhood Development.

Boston's economy, on average, outperformed both Massachusetts and the nation in terms of job
growth from 2006 through 2016. During that period Boston's annual job growth was 1.7%. Financial markets
have continued to express confidence in Boston’s fiscal health during the past year. In March 2017, the
rating service bureaus Moody’s Investors Service and Standard and Poor’s reaffirmed the City’s bond ratings
at Aaa and AAA, respectively, reflecting the City’s capacity to pay debt service. The credit reports from both
agencies highlighted Boston’s strong management throughout economic cycles as well as having historically
strong reserves while exhibiting positive financial performance.

Boston’s economic growth continues, with low unemployment, the arrival of high profile firms, and
a real estate market still in the midst of an historic building boom. The continued economic growth has
enabled the City to invest in key initiatives in the areas of affordable housing, public safety and the future
of transportation. The City of Boston has committed nearly $100 million to affordable housing; replaced
outdated safety equipment to allow our firefighters to respond safely and quickly to incidents; and released
a long-term plan comprised of 58 projects and policies to direct the City of Boston transportation agenda
for the next decade and beyond.
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Financial Overview

The Cityisrequired to have a balanced budgetin accordance with Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.),
Chapter 59, Section 23. As part of the State Department of Revenue’s tax rate certification process, the City
must balance all appropriations, fixed costs, and prior year deficits with the approved property tax levy,
estimated local revenues, and available prior year surpluses in order to obtain authorization to issue
property tax bills. Over two-thirds of the City’s revenues come from the property tax levy; however, the
increase in the levy from year to year is limited by state law. In fiscal year 2017 the net property tax levy
(levy less a reserve for abatements) totaled $2.05 billion.

State aid from the Commonwealth comprises the second largest revenue source to the City’s General
Fund after the Property Tax. This funding has been trending down since fiscal year 2002. In fiscal year 2017,
net state aid, decreased by $6.5 million. In fiscal year 2018, net state aid is expected to decrease by $8.8
million. Please see the Management’s Discussion and Analysis Section for additional information on
financial trends.

Infiscal year 2017, in order to partially fund the annual required contribution associated with the other
postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability, the City appropriated $40.0 million from the General Fund into
the OPEB Liability Trust Fund. The City’s OPEB financing plan balances the duty to deliver valuable public
services while acknowledging the cost of providing health benefits for our employees, both now and when
they retire. More details and information on the OPEB liability can be found in note 12 to the Financial
Statements.

Health, dental and life insurance costs and Medicare taxes continue to increase over the years. Health
benefits for over 29,000 City employees and retirees are managed by the Health Benefits Program. Over
90% of the City’s share of health benefits costs are self-insured through Internal Service funds. Actuarially
determined reserves are maintained in the Funds to stabilize rate increases and protect against large claims
or cost increases.

Most of the City’s workforce is represented by one of 41 different unions. Collectively, these unions
represent approximately 18,000 employees. As of October 2017, eight of these unions have reached multi-
year contracts beginningin 2016. These settled contracts cover over 60% of the City’s unionized employees.
The agreement with the Boston Teacher’s Union, which has approximately 8,000 members, is for two years
through August 2018. Other settled contracts include the Boston Police Patrolmen’s Association (BPPA),
AFSCME (American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees), and the Boston Police Detectives
Benevolent Society (BPDBS), which representin total almost 3,000 unionized workers. Those three contracts
are fouryearsin duration and include wage increases of 2% each year and other benefits. The City continues
to negotiate with the unions without settled agreements.

In fiscal year 2017, the GAAP General Fund equity increased to $985.3 million, thus allowing the City
to preserve its policy of maintaining a GAAP unassigned fund balance in the General Fund that is 15% or
higher than the current fiscal year’s GAAP General Fund operating expenditures. The GAAP unassigned
fund balance at the end of fiscal year 2017 was $702.1 million and $283.2 million was assigned. The
unassigned fund balance represents approximately 22.5% of GAAP General Fund operating expenditures.
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The FY18 adopted budget builds on the City’s strong fiscal management record; maintains high levels
of support for educating Boston's students and keeping the City of Boston safe; expands upon strategic
initiatives to achieve cost savings; and positions the City to manage through instability at the national level.

Long Term Financial Planning

Imagine Boston 2030, the City's first comprehensive planning process in fifty years, is underway.
Boston’s five-year $2.08 billion Capital Plan, is an investment program for the City’s future. An ambitious
set of initiatives form the foundation of the Imagine Boston 2030 plan. Taken together, these initiatives
will support Boston’s dynamic economy and improve quality of life for residents by encouraging affordability,
increasing access to opportunity, promoting a healthy environment, and guiding investment in the public
realm. Under the Imagine Boston 2030 umbrella, the City is investing deeply in the core goals of BuildBPS,
Go Boston 2030, Boston Creates, and Climate Ready Boston. The City's capital plan is an important tool in
realizing the goals and vision of Boston 2030. As an investment program for the future, "Building A Better
Boston" will enable the City to identify, prioritize, and implement capital projects aligned with Boston's
goals. The fiscal year 2018-2022 Capital Plan moves Boston Resident’s priorities from idea to action, and
invests in creating the city Bostonians imagine for the future. All projects in the Capital Plan are categorized
as Upkeep, New/Major Renovation, Upgrade, and Planning or Matching Funds. The Capital Budgeting
Program of the Office of Budget Management (OBM) tracks the overall distribution of these categories to
maintain a balance between the upkeep of existing assets and the expansion or introduction of new ones.
The distribution of allocations for fiscal year 2018 are 26.0% for New/Major Renovations, 51.0% for
Upgrades, 21.0% for Upkeep, and 2.0% for Planning or Matching fund requirements.

Financing for the fiscal year 2018-2022 Capital Plan comes from General Obligation (G.0.) bonds, state
and federal funds, trust funds, and other funds. G.O. bonds represent 60.2% of all project funding. The
capital plan assumes $950.0 million in new G.O. borrowings over the next five years to support ongoing
capital needs. Effective debt management ensures that the City can meet its capital infrastructure and
facility needs. The Treasury Department manages all borrowings according to the City’s debt management
policies. These policies address issues such as debt affordability and limitations on the level of variable rate
debt the City will use. The City’s goal is to rapidly repay debt, maintain a conservative level of outstanding
debt, and ensure the City’s continued positive financial standing with the bond market. More details and
information on the Long-Term Obligations can be found in note 10 to the Financial Statements.

State and federal funds in the five-year Capital Plan are currently estimated at $379.0 million and
$301.4 million, respectively. One federal program is the Connect Historic Boston Project. Two of the state
financing programs include the School Building Assistance (SBA) program and the Massachusetts
Department of Transportation's Highway Division’s Chapter 90 funds. The SBA, which is administered by
the Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA), provides an important revenue source for school
renovation and construction. Annually, the MSBA accepts new project requests from cities, towns, and
school districts, and if a project is ultimately approved, the MSBA will pay 40% to 80% of eligible project
costs. For the fiscal year 2018-2022 period, total payments from the MSBA are estimated at $37.4 million
to offset debt service costs for projects previously approved by the MSBA. Additionally, in March 2016, the
Executive Director of the MSBA was authorized to enter into a Project Funding Agreement with the City for
window and door replacement projects at seven schools. The MSBA is providing a multi-year grant up to
nearly $16.4 million. For the fiscal year 2018-2022, the total payments are estimated at $14.3 million.
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Chapter 90 allocates funds by formula through state bond authorizations and through the state budget to
all citiesand towns in the Commonwealth. The City uses Chapter 90 funds to support its roadway resurfacing
and reconstruction programs. Based on recent allocations, the City expects an estimated $14.4 million in
Chapter 90 funds to be provided in fiscal year 2018.

The City continues to aggressively pursue grant funds, maximize the use of Chapter 90 funds, and
actively manage its projects to ensure that spending does not exceed projections and that priority projects
move forward. Together, these strategies will enable the City to maintain a reasonable level of capital
spending and borrowing and prudently manage its outstanding debt.

Awards

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Boston for its CAFR for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2016. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit
must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR. This report must satisfy both GAAP and
applicable state and local legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of only one
year. We believe that our current report meets the Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and
we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for a certificate.

In addition, the City also received the GFOA’s Award for Distinguished Budget Presentation for its
Annual Budget document for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2015. The City’s budget document was judged
to be proficient in several categories including policy documentation and financial planning.
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KPMG LLP

Two Financial Center
60 South Street
Boston, MA 02111

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Boston, Massachusetts:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
the City of Boston, Massachusetts (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed
in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit
the financial statements of the Dudley Square Realty Corporation, the Ferdinand Building Development
Corporation, and the Permanent Funds, which represent 5.6% and 0.3% of the assets and revenues,
respectively, of the governmental activities, and 1.3% and 0.8% of the assets and revenues, respectively,
of the aggregate remaining fund information. We also did not audit the financial statements of the Boston
Retirement System, the OPEB Trust Fund and the Private-Purpose Trust Funds, which represent 97.2%
and 76.2% of the assets and revenues, respectively, of the aggregate remaining fund information. Further,
we did not audit the financial statements of the Boston Public Health Commission, Trustees of the Public
Library of the City of Boston and the Economic Development and Industrial Corporation of Boston, which
represent 59.7% and 88.9% of the assets and revenues, respectively, of the aggregate discretely
presented component units. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have
been furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for those entities, is
based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

KPMG LLP Is a Delaware lImited llabity parinership,

the U.S. memoer firm of KPMG Intemational Cooperative
["KPMG Intemnational™), a Swiss entity.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities,
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City, as of June 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position, and where
applicable, cash flows thereof and the budgetary comparison for the City’s General Fund for the year then
ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Emphasis of Matters
Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

As discussed in Note 2p to the financial statements, in 2017, the City adopted Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related
Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of
GASB Statements 67 and 68, No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than
Pension Plans and No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures. Our opinions are not modified with respect to
these matters.

Other Matters
Prior-Year Comparative Information

The financial statements include partial prior-year comparative information related to the budgetary
comparison for the City’s General Fund. Such information does not include all of the information required
for a presentation in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such
information should be read in conjunction with the City’s financial statements for the year ended June 30,
2016, from which such partial information was derived.

Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management’s discussion and analysis and
the schedules listed under Required Supplementary Information in the table of contents, be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the GASB who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We
and the other auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining, individual fund
statements and schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are
not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining, individual fund statements and schedules are the responsibility of management and were
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
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such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us and other auditors. In our
opinion, based on our audit, the procedures performed as described above, and the reports of the other
auditors, the combining, individual fund statements and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects
in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

We also previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and Government Auditing Standards, the City’s basic financial statements as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2016 (not presented herein), and have issued our report thereon dated December 29,
2016, which contained unmodified opinions on the respective financial statements of the governmental
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors. The 2016 combining,
individual fund statements and schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
2016 financial statements. The 2016 combining, individual fund statements and schedules have been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2016 basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare those financial statements or to those financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the 2016
combining, individual fund statements and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic financial statements as a whole for the year ended June 30, 2016.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 27,
2017 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

KPMes LIP

December 27, 2017
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)

The City of Boston (the City) provides this Management’s Discussion and Analysis to present additional information to the
readers of the City’s basic financial statements. This narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City is
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. Readers are encouraged to consider this information in conjunction with the
additional information that is furnished in the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s financial statements. The City’s basic financial
statements include three components: 1) Government-wide Financial Statements, 2) Fund Financial Statements, and 3)
Notes tothe Financial Statements. This report also contains required supplementary information regarding historical pension
information and other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan information. The components of the financial statements are
described in the following sections.

Basic Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include two types of financial statements that present different views of the City — the
Government-wide Financial Statements and the Fund Financial Statements. The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
supplement the financial statement information and clarify line items that are part of the financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The Government-wide Financial Statements provide a broad view of the City’s operations in a manner similar to a private
sector business. The statements provide both short-term and long-term information about the City’s financial position,
which assists in assessing the City’s economic condition at the end of the fiscal year. These are prepared using the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. This basically means they follow methods that are similar
to those used by most businesses. They take into account all revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year even if
cash involved has not been received or paid. The Government-wide Financial Statements include two statements:

. The Statement of Net Position presents all of the government’s assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between them reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in the City’s net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving
or deteriorating.

. The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items
that will not result in cash flows until future fiscal periods (such as uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).
This statement also presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each function of the City.

Both the above financial statements present two separate sections as described below.

. Governmental Activities — The activities in this section are mostly supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues
(federal and state grants). Most services normally associated with city government fall into this category, including general
government, human services, public safety, public works, property and development, parks and recreation, library, schools,
public health programs, state and district assessments, and debt service.
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. Discretely Presented Component Units—These are legally separate entities for which the City has financial accountability
but function independent of the City. For the most part, these entities operate similar to private sector businesses. The
City’s four discretely presented component units are the Boston Public Health Commission, the Boston Development &
Planning Agency, the Economic Development Industrial Corporation, and the Trustees of the Boston Public Library.

Complete financial statements of the individual component units can be obtained from their respective administrative
offices. Additional information about the City’s component units is presented in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Government-wide Financial Statements can be found immediately following this discussion and analysis.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for
specific activities or objectives. The City, like other local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate
compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

The Fund Financial Statements focus on individual parts of the City government, reporting the City’s operations in more
detail than the Government-wide Financial Statements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories. It
is important to note that these fund categories use different accounting approaches and should be interpreted differently.
The three categories of funds are:

Governmental Funds — Most of the basic services provided by the City are financed through governmental funds.
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
Government-wide Financial Statements. However, unlike the Government-wide Financial Statements, the Governmental
Fund Financial Statements focus on near term inflows and outflows of spendable resources. They also focus on the balances
of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the government’s
near term financing requirements. This approach is known as using the flow of current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this approach, revenues are recorded when cash is received or
when susceptible to accrual (i.e., measurable and available to liquidate liabilities of the current period). Expenditures are
generally recorded when liabilities are incurred, except for those related to long-term liabilities, which are recorded when
due and payable. These statements provide a detailed short term view of the City’s finances to assist in determining whether
there will be adequate financial resources available to meet the current needs of the City.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the Government-wide Financial Statements, it is useful
to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental
activities in the Government-wide Financial Statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long term impact
of the government’s near term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison
between governmental funds and the governmental activities. These reconciliations are presented on the page immediately
following each governmental fund financial statement.

The City presents four columnsin the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The City’s three major governmental funds are the General Fund, the Special
Revenue Fund, and the Capital Projects Fund. All non-major governmental funds are combined in the “Other Governmental
Funds” column on these statements. The Governmental Fund Financial Statements can be found immediately following the
Government-wide Financial Statements.
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Of the City’s governmental funds, the General Fund is the only fund for which a budget is legally adopted. The Statement
of Revenues and Expenditures — Budgetary Basis is presented after the governmental fund financial statements. This
statement provides a comparison of the General Fund original and final budget and the actual expenditures for the current
and prior year on a budgetary basis.

In accordance with state law and regulations, the City’s legally adopted General Fund budget is prepared on a “budgetary”
basis instead of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Among the key differences between these two sets
of accounting principles are that “budgetary” records property tax as it is levied, while GAAP records it as it becomes
susceptible to accrual, “budgetary” records certain activities and transactions in the General Fund that GAAP records in
separate funds, and “budgetary” records any amount raised to cover a prior year deficit as an expenditure and any available
funds raised from prior year surpluses as a revenue, while GAAP ignores these impacts from prior years. The difference in
accounting principles inevitably leads to varying results in excess or deficiency of revenues over expenditures. Additional
information and a reconciliation of “budgetary” to GAAP statements is provided in note 4 to the Financial Statements.

Proprietary Funds — These funds are used to show activities that operate more like those of commercial enterprises. Like
the Government-wide Financial Statements, Proprietary Fund Financial Statements use the economic resources
measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. There are two types of proprietary funds—enterprise funds and internal
service funds. Enterprise funds charge fees for services provided to outside customers including local governments.
Enterprise Funds provide the same type of information as the business-type activities of the Government-wide Financial
Statements within governmental activities, only in more detail. Currently, the City does not have any enterprise funds. The
Internal Service Fund provides health insurance services predominantly to other funds, departments or agencies of the
City. Therefore, its activities are included in the Government-wide financial statements within governmental activities.

The Proprietary Funds Financial Statements can be found immediately following the Governmental Fund Financial
Statements.

Fiduciary Funds — These funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the City government.
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the Government-wide Financial Statements because the resources of these funds are
not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for
proprietary funds. They use the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

The City’s fiduciary funds are the Employee Retirement Fund (the Boston Retirement System), which accounts for the
transactions, assets, liabilities, and net position of the City employees’ pension plan; the Other Postemployment Benefits
(OPEB) Trust Fund, which is an irrevocable trust established for the accumulation of assets to reduce the unfunded actuarial
liability associated with the City’s obligation for other postemployment benefits; and the Private Purpose Trust and Agency
Funds, which include money held and administered by the City on behalf of third parties.

The Fiduciary Funds Financial Statements can be found immediately following the Proprietary Fund Financial Statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the Government-
wide and the Fund Financial Statements. The Notes to the Financial Statements can be found immediately following the
Fiduciary Funds Financial Statements.

Required Supplementary Information
The basic financial statements are followed by a section of required supplementary information, which includes a schedule
of funding progress and a schedule of employer contributions for the OPEB Trust Fund, a schedule of the City’s proportionate
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share of the net pension liability of the Boston Retirement System, and a schedule of the City’s contributions to the Boston
Retirement System.

CURRENT YEAR FINANCIAL IMPACTS

. The City of Boston’s OPEB obligation significantly impacts the Government-wide financial results. Each year, the
City is required to recognize an additional portion of its unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The most recent
valuation of the City’s OPEB obligations as of June 30, 2015, estimated that the total OPEB unfunded actuarial
accrued liability of the City increased by $111.8 million to $2.16 billion. This increase was largely as a result of
changes to the discount rate applied in the actuarial valuation.

. Infiscal year 2017, the City’s contribution to the OPEB Trust Fund (5159.2 million) for retiree health benefits includes
$40.0 million in advance funding toward reducing the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The ARC was not met in
2017 resulting in an increase in the net OPEB obligation. In fiscal year 2018, the City has also appropriated $40.0
million in advance funding toward reducing the unfunded actuarial accrued liability.

. The City of Boston’s net pension liability significantly impacts the Government-wide financial results. With the
implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 in fiscal year 2015, the City is required to report its proportionate share
of the Boston Retirement System's collective net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows
of resources, and pension expense. Based on the measurement of the Boston Retirement System's net pension
liability as of December 31, 2016, the City's proportionate share of that net pension liability decreased by $150.2
million to $1.57 billion.

. In fiscal year 2017, with the implementation of GASB Statement No. 73, the City is required to report a net pension
liability and pension expense as it relates to the benefits provisions of Massachusetts General Law Chapter 32 as
applied to non-contributory retirees and beneficiaries and Section 100 death benefit recipients and the provision
of the applicable special legislation. As a result of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 73, beginning net
position of the governmental activities as of July 1, 2016 was restated (reduced) by $102.4 million.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

This analysis is based on the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities found directly after Management'’s
Discussion and Analysis.

Government-wide Highlights

Net Position — Primary Government — The total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of the City exceeded its assets
and deferred outflows of resources at fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 resulting in a net deficit of $505.0 million (presented
as net position). At year end, the City had a deficit in governmental activities unrestricted net position in the amount of
$1.21 billion.

Changes in Net Position — Primary Government — The City’s total net position increased by $146.4 million from the amount
reported in fiscal year 2016.

Net Position

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The City’s net
deficit totaled $505.0 million at the end of 2017, compared to a net deficit of $651.3 million, (restated) reported at the end
of the previous year.
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The components of net position comprise the following: the investment in capital assets such as land, buildings, equipment,
and infrastructure (road, bridges, and other immovable assets), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are
still outstanding — this amount is $648.8 million million indicating that the net book value of the City’s capital assets exceeds
the amount of related capital debt outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens;
consequentially, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other
sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

A portion of the City’s governmental activities net position, $52.7 million, represents restricted net position, or resources
that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. Internally imposed designations of resources are not
presented as restricted net assets. The unrestricted net position increased by $55.2 million from the 2016 restated amount
of $1.26 billion.
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Net Position — Primary Government
(In thousands)

Governmental Activities

Total Primary Government

2017 2016 ¥
ASSETS:
CUITENT SSEES wvvvvriiiiieciie et eeree e S 1,683,091 S 1,690,182
Capital @SSELS .uevvvviiiiriiee e 2,091,030 1,981,333
Other @SSets .....ccccuvveeiieeiieiiieeeeee e 226,147 94,427
Total @sSets ......cooeevveiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeceeececee, 4,000,268 3,765,942
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Total deferred outflows of resources............... 291,681 332,903
Liabilities:
Current liabilities ......cccccoeevceiiieeeeeeeieeeeeee, 634,777 597,993
Noncurrent liabilities ......ccccccoevvvveveiee e, 3,990,579 4,087,823
Total liabilities ..........cccceeeeeeeiiiiiiiieeee, 4,625,356 4,685,816
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Total deferred inflows of resources................. 171,549 64,340
NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets........cccccceeueeneee. 648,786 557,142
RESLIICTEA ..vvvvveeeii it 52,746 53,200
UNrestricted ..ooveveecieieciee e (1,206,488) (1,261,653)
Total net position ...........cccoevevvieiiciecienriennen, S (504,956) $ (651,311)

(1) The 2016 amounts in the tables above have been restated to reflect the implementation of GASB Statement No.73, "Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to
Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68", described in note 2p to the Financial Statements.
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Changes in Net Position — Primary Government
(In thousands)

Governmental Activities

Total Primary Government

2017 2016 ¥
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for SErvices .......cocvveveeveeieeneecieeeeans S 217,549 § 203,195
Operating grants and contributions ................. 760,230 746,277
Capital grants and contributions ..........c.......... 52,348 39,381
General revenues:
L TS 2,381,358 2,281,288
Grants and contributions not restricted........... 201,013 199,835
Investment income ... 19,588 15,753
Miscellan@ous .......cccvvveeieiiiiiiiieeeeec e 3,738 6,058
Total revenues ..........ccoooeeveeeieieieiiieieieieieieeenn, 3,635,824 3,491,787
Program expenses:
General government .......coccceeevcieeeecieeeenciiee s 128,465 128,288
HUMAN SErVICES ..covvviiiieiiiiiiiiieieieeeceeeeeeececeeeeeeees 49,974 52,056
Public safety ....cccceecieiieeiee e, 962,654 941,313
PUblic WOIKS ..vvveeieiiiiiieeeee e 130,182 139,816
Property and development .......cccccceeeeeiveeenneen. 168,276 118,582
Parks and recreation.......ccccccoeeccvieeeeeeeeeccvnneeennn. 41,236 39,769
LIDrary oo 51,397 49,959
SCROOIS et 1,833,105 1,803,331
Public health programs.........ccccceevciveeecieeecnnen. 81,859 96,083
Interest on long-term debt .......cccovvveiiniiiininnen. 42,321 40,995
Total program expenses .............cccceeeevveeenneen. 3,489,469 3,410,192
Change in net position ..............cccceeviienennne. 146,355 81,595
Net position - beginning of year, as restated
(NOE 2P) e (651,311) (732,906)
Net position-end of year ............c.ccceevveeveeneennnnne. S (504,956) $ (651,311)

(1) The 2016 amounts in the tables above have been restated to reflect the implementation of GASB Statement No.73, "Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to
Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68", described in note 2p to the Financial Statements.
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Revenues - Governmental Activities
Fiscal Year 2017
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Governmental Activities

The City’s governmental activities net position increased by $146.4 million over the prior fiscal year. The following net
changes occurred during the course of operations in fiscal year 2017. In the assets accounts, cash and investments increased
by $134.8 million, receivables decreased by $9.2 million, and capital assets increased by $109.7 million. In the liability
accounts, there was a increase in warrants and accounts payable of $13.1 million and a increase in accrued liabilities of
$10.0 million. Additionally, an increase of $25.4 million was recorded relative to the City’s other postemployment benefit
obligation and a decrease of $150.2 million was recorded relative to the City's net pension liability in 2017.

During fiscal year 2017, the City’s revenues increased by 4.1%. The City’s largest sources of revenues were property taxes,
excise taxes, and payment in lieu of taxes of $2.38 billion (65.5% of total revenues) and $1.03 billion of program revenues
(28.3% of total revenues). Taxes increased by $100.1 million from the previous year. Program revenues increased by $41.3
million for fiscal year 2017. This is largely due to increases in operating grants and contributions. The City’s expenses cover
a range of services. The largest expenses were for schools (51.83 billion), public safety ($0.96 billion), public works ($130.2
million), property and development (5168.3 million), general government ($128.5 million), public health programs ($81.9
million), and human services ($50.0 million). In 2017, governmental activities expenses exceeded program revenues (i.e.,
user charges, operating grants, and capital grants) by $2.46 billion. This shortfall was covered primarily through taxes ($2.38
billion) and unrestricted grants and contributions ($201.0 million).

Comparative data on these revenues and expenses is itemized in the reporting of the Changes in Net Position — Primary
Government earlier in this Management Discussion and Analysis.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUND STATEMENTS

This analysis is based on the Governmental and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements. As noted earlier, the City uses fund
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal requirements.

Fund Highlights

Governmental Funds—Fund Balances—as of the close of fiscal year 2017, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined
ending fund balance of $1.46 billion, an increase of $93.9 million from the prior year. Of this total amount, $702.1 million
represents the unassigned fund balance. The increase in fund balance is largely due to an increase in property and excise
taxes.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near term inflows, outflows, and balances of
spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financial requirements. In particular, unassigned fund
balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s financial position at the end of the fiscal year.

General Fund - Fund Balance — The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. The City’s General Fund — Fund
Balance Policy states in part to maintain a GAAP unassigned fund balance in the General Fund that is 15%, or higher, of
GAAP General Fund operating expenditures for the fiscal year. The GAAP unassigned fund balance at the end of fiscal year
2017 was $702.1 million, which represents approximately 22.5% of GAAP General Fund operating expenditures.

However, because the City is required to follow the statutory basis of accounting rather than GAAP for determining the
amount of unassigned fund balance that can be appropriated, it is the statutory (not the GAAP) fund balance that is used
to calculate “free cash”. Free cash is the amount of statutory fund balance in the General Fund, as certified by the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ Department of Revenue, which is available for appropriation and is generated when
actual revenues, on a cash basis, exceed budgeted amounts and encumbrances are less than appropriations, or both.
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The City has established the General Fund-Fund Balance Policy to ensure that the City maintains adequate levels of fund
balance to mitigate current and future risks (i.e., revenue shortfalls and unanticipated expenditures). The policy in full states
that the City shall maintain a GAAP Unassigned Fund Balance in the General Fund that is 15% or higher than the current
fiscal year’s GAAP General Fund Operating Expenditures. The City shall only consider the certification of Free Cash (as
defined by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ Department of Revenue) in years where the appropriation of Free Cash
shall not cause the fiscal year’s GAAP Unassigned Fund Balance to go below 15% of the fiscal year’s GAAP General Fund
Operating Expenditures, while maintaining a Budgetary Unassigned Fund Balance at 10% or higher of Budgetary Operating
Expenditures. The City shall only consider the appropriation of Certified Free Cash to offset: (1) certain fixed costs such as
pension contributions and related post-retirement health benefits; and/or (2) to fund extraordinary and non-recurring
events as determined and certified by the City Auditor.

Special Revenue Fund - Fund Balance — The Special Revenue Fund accounts for the proceeds of specific revenue sources
thatarerestricted or committed to expenditures for predefined purposes. The fiscal year 2017 Special Revenue Fund balance
is reported at $255.4 million, a $8.7 million increase from fiscal year 2016.

Capital Projects Fund — Fund Balance — The Capital Projects Fund accounts for financial resources to be used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities, other than those financed by proprietary funds and trust funds. The
fiscal year 2017 Capital Projects Fund balance is $121.2 million, a $42.3 million increase from fiscal year 2016.

Other Governmental Funds — Fund Balance — Other Governmental Funds account for assets held by the City in permanent
trust funds, as well as the activities related to DSRC and FBDC. The fiscal year 2017 Other Governmental Funds fund balance
is $93.9 million, a $6.7 million increase from fiscal year 2016.

Internal Service Fund

The City’s Internal Service Fund accounts for the City’s self-insurance program for health benefits provided by Blue Cross
Blue Shield and Harvard Pilgrim Health Care for City employees, their dependents, and retirees. The Internal Service Fund
is included as part of the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.

Budgetary Highlights

General Fund budgetary highlights include ending fiscal year 2017 with a $6.7 million surplus. There were no material
variances between the original budget and final budget amounts. One unfavorable variance from the final budget to actual
results was in the area of public works due to snow removal.

Favorable results were reported for General Fund revenue sources, including $20.3 million in licenses and permits, $16.7
million in payments in lieu of taxes, $13.0 million in departmental and other revenue, $10.7 million in excises. Other available
funds shows a revenue deficit of $67.5 million, however, this is a result of not transferring $950 thousand of cemetery funds,
$4.0 million from the Housing Initiative, $22.5 million of parking meter funds and $40.0 million of free cash from the general
fund.
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Capital Assets

The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities, as of June 30, 2017, has a net book value of $2.09
billion, made up of costs totaling $4.04 billion less accumulated depreciation of $1.95 billion. This investment in capital
assetsincludesland, buildings, improvements, equipment, infrastructure, and constructionin progress. Infrastructure assets
are items that are normally immovable and have value only to the City, such as roads, bridges, streets, sidewalks, drainage
systems, lighting systems, and similar items.

The total increase in the City’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year was approximately $109.7 million in
terms of net book value. However, actual expenditures to purchase or construct capital assets and contributions of capital
assets were $238.0 million for the fiscal year. Most of this amount was used for the purpose of constructing or reconstructing
buildings and building improvements and infrastructure. Depreciation charges for the year totaled $117.7 million. Additional
information on the City’s capital assets can be found in note 8 to the Financial Statements.

Long Term Obligations

Debt Administration — The authority of the City to incur debt is governed by federal and state laws that restrict the amounts
and purposes for which a municipality can incur debt. At year end, the City had $1.28 billion in General Obligations Bonds
principal outstanding — an increase of $29.4 million over last year.

On March 1, 2017, the City issued $150.0 million in Series A general obligation bonds to finance various capital projects in
the City. In June 2017, the City issued $58.4 million Series B bonds for the purpose of advance refunding prior debt. In
conjunction with the City’s annual bond offering, the rating service bureau Moody’s Investors Service reaffirmed the City’s
bond ratings at Aaa and the rating service bureau Standard & Poor’s increased the bond rating to AAA. General Obligation
Bonds are backed by the full faith and credit of the City, including the City’s power to levy additional taxes to ensure repayment
of debt. Accordingly, all general obligation debt currently outstanding has been approved by a vote of the City Council.

Notes and Leases Payable and Other Long Term Obligations — The City’s general long term notes and leases and other long
term obligations decreased $126.5 million, or 4.24%, during the current fiscal year. Key factors for this decrease are a
decrease in the net pension liability of $150.2 million, an increase in the workers’ compensation liability of $2.8 million,
and the increase in the net OPEB obligation of $25.4 million.

Additional information on the City’s long term debt obligations can be found in note 10 to the Financial Statements.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The GASB has issued Statement No. 73, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not
within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68."

The objective of this Statement is to improve the usefulness of information about pensions included in the general purpose
external financial reports of state and local governments for making decisions and assessing accountability. This Statement
establishes requirements for defined benefit pensions that are not within the scope of Statement No. 68, "Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions," as well as for the assets accumulated for purposes of providing those pensions. It also
makes amendments to certain provisions of Statements No. 67 and No. 68. The requirements of this Statement for pension
plans that are within the scope of Statement No. 67 or for pensions that are within the scope of Statement No. 68 are
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015. The requirements for defined benefit pensions not within the scope
of Statement No. 68 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016.
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The GASB has issued Statement No. 74, “Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans.”
The objective of this Statement is to improve the usefulness of information about postemployment benefits other than
pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB) included in the general purpose external financial reports of state and
local governmental OPEB plans for making decisions and assessing accountability. This Statement is effective for financial
statements for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016.

The GASB has issued GASB Statement No. 77, "Tax Abatement Disclosures." The objective of this Statement is to improve
financial reporting by giving users of financial statements essential information that is not consistently or comprehensively
reported to the public at present related to tax abatements. Disclosure of information about the nature and magnitude of
tax abatements will make these transactions more transparent to financial statement users. As a result, users will be better
equipped to understand (1) how tax abatements affect a government’s future ability to raise resources and meet its financial
obligations and (2) the impact those abatements have on a government’s financial position and economic condition. The
requirements of this Statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2015.

FUTURE PRONOUNCEMENTS

The GASB has issued GASB Statement No. 75, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions." The primary objective of this Statement is to improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local
governments for OPEB. It also improves information provided by state and local governmental employers about financial
support for OPEB that is provided by other entities. This Statement replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45,
"Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended", and
No. 57, "OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB." This Statement is effective
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017.

The GASB has issued Statement No. 87 “Leases."” The objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs
of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This Statement
increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities
for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources
based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational
principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to
recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable
and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’
leasing activities. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.
Earlier application is encouraged.

The GASB has issued Statement No. 86 "Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues.” The primary objective of this Statement is to
improve consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by providing guidance for
transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only existing resources-resources other than the
proceeds of refunding debt-are placed in an irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This Statement
also improves accounting and financial reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial
statements for debt that is defeased in substance. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods
beginning after June 15, 2017. Earlier application is encouraged.

The GASB has issued Statement No. 85 "Omnibus 2017." The objective of this Statement is to address practice issues that
have been identified duringimplementation and application of certain GASB Statements. This Statement addresses a variety
of topics including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair value measurement and application, and
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postemployment benefits (pensions and other postemployment benefits [OPEB]). The requirements of this Statement are
effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2017. Earlier application is encouraged.

The GASB hasissued Statement No. 84 "Fiduciary Activities." The objective of this Statementis toimprove guidance regarding
the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities should be
reported. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus
of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the
beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units
and postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities. The requirements of this Statement are effective
for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Earlier application is encouraged.

The GASB has issued Statement No. 83 “Certain Asset Retirement Obligations." This Statement addresses accounting and
financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations (AROs). An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with
the retirement of a tangible capital asset. A government that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement
activities related to its tangible capital assets should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement. The
requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2018. Earlier application is
encouraged.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all of the City’s citizens, taxpayers,
customers, investors, and creditors. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional information should be addressed to: City of Boston, Auditing Department, Boston City Hall, Room M 4, Boston,
MA 02201. Alternatively, these requests may also be made through email, by contacting the Auditing Department at
CityAuditor@boston.gov.
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Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2017

(Amounts in thousands)

Primary Government Discretely Presented
Governmental
Activities Component Units
ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Cash and investments S 1,618,856 S 70,837
Cash and investments held by trustees 64,235 12,583
Receivables, net: ...........
Property and other taxes 26,152 —
Intergovernmental 89,562 —
Other 16,191 49,240
Other assets . 6,541 2,083
Due from primary government — 2,331
Due from component units 984 —
TOtal CUITENT @SSEES ..vvviiiiiiiiei ittt 1,822,521 137,074
Noncurrent Assets:
Intergovernmental receivables ..o 7,569 —
Cash and investments held by trustee — 60,387
Notes and other receivables 73,422 168,258
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable assets 143,081 27,540
Depreciable, net 1,947,949 54,704
Due from component units 5,726 —
Total NONCUITENT ASSEES ...eiiviiiiieciie ettt et 2,177,747 310,889
TOtal @SSELS .....oiiiiiiiiecee e e 4,000,268 447,963

DEFERRED OUFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred amount for PENSION COSES ..ouviriiiiiiiriiieriee e 286,694 31,107

Deferred amount from debt refunding 4,987 —
Total deferred outflows of resources 291,681 31,107
LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:
Warrants and accounts payable 103,345 24,456
Accrued liabilities - current:
Compensated absences . 57,847 -
Judgments and claims 78,410 —
Payroll and related costs 149,663 —
Deposits and other 94,659 4,349
Unearned revenue — 4,251
Current portion of long-term debt and leases 148,522 2,075
Due to component units 2,331 —
Due to primary government — 984
Total current abilities ......cc.eevieeviiiiiiiiieicceee e 634,777 36,115
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bonds due in more than one year 1,296,931 18,162
Notes and leases payable due in more than one year .. 115,251 —
Other noncurrent liabilities 281,305 130,915
Net pension liability 1,574,036 158,608
Other postemployment benefits obligation .... 723,056 98,609
Unearned revenue - 65,975
Due to primary government ... — 5,725
Total noncurrent liabilities 3,990,579 477,994
Total liabilities 4,625,356 514,109
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Deferred amount for pension costs 169,991 25,296
Deferred amount from debt refunding 1,558 —
Total deferred inflows of resources .............cccecueveiniriencniienens 171,549 25,296
NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital @SSELS .....cccvevevierieeiiiiienieeiesee e 648,786 62,178
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable trust .... 10,041 74,041
Expendable trust 40,583 —
Capital projects 2,122 -
Unrestricted deficit ...... . (1,206,488) (196,554)
Total net position .... $ (504,956) $ (60,335)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2017

(Amounts in thousands)

Program Revenues

Operating
Charges for Grants and Capital Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary Government: ............cccceeevvveiiiieene e
Governmental activities:
General goVernment .......ccoveveeeeeveveeeeeeeeneas 128,465 S 27,470 S 7,713 S
HUM@N SEIVICES ..covvvvviieeeeeeeeetiiie e eeeeeeens 49,974 9 9,675
Public safety .....cccvveiiiiiniiinieee e 962,654 147,471 59,262
PUublic WOrks .....coovvviiiiiiii 130,182 28,268 —
Property and development .........ccccceevevveeeiineene 168,276 8,118 88,528
Parks and recreation........cccccccvviiiiiiiii, 41,236 459 1,582
LIDrary cooceeeeeeeeeeee e 51,397 591 2,969
SCNOOIS wevieii et 1,833,105 5,163 590,501
Public health programs .......ccccceeeeieiiiieeeecieeeens 81,859 — —
Interest on long-term debt ........ccoeeeeiiiiiciiiennnnnn. 42,321 — —
Total primary government ...............cccveueenee. 3,489,469 $ 217,549 S 760,230 S
Component Units: ........ccccoeviiiiiiiiiiininien e
Boston Public Health Commission........ccoveeeeeeeeeenne.. 189,169 S 57,700 S 44,814 S
Boston Planning & Development Agency.................. 28,675 8,739 19,514
Trustees of the Public Library of
the City of BOStON ...covvvievieiiii e 18,052 2,206 17,397
Economic Development and
Industrial Corporation of Boston .........ccccccvvveeeneen. 42,480 31,004 17,481
Total component units ...............ccoeveeveeveennen. 278,376 S 99,649 $ 99,206 $

General Revenues:

Taxes:

Property taxes, levied for general purposes

(ol Ty YNt

Payments in lieu of taxes

Grants and contributions not restricted

INVESTMENT INCOME ooiiiiiiiiieeieeeee ettt e e e e e et ee e e e e e e eessb e eeeesesssaaeeeeeessssnnannnees

(@11 AV T o o] o] o] T- 14 [ o T PP UPPPORPOE

LY T 1= 1= T T=To LU K3

Special item - gain on sale of land

Total BENEral FEVENUES ........coooueiiiiiiiieeeie ettt e e et e e s e e sbbeeessbaeeenanes

Change iN Net POSITION ............oooiiiiiiic e e et e e e e ere e e eanes

Net position - beginning of year, as restated (note 2p)

Net position - Nd Of YEAr ............ooiiiiieeee e e e

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements



Government-wide Financial Statements ¢ 19

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in

Net Position
Governmental
Activities Component Units
S (85,998) $ —
(40,288) —
(755,020) —
(81,897) —
(70,843) —
(38,794) —
(47,692) —
(1,214,634) —
(81,855) —
(42,321) —
S (2,459,342) $ -
$ - S (86,289)
— (422)
— 1,551
— 6,005
S - S (79,155)
$ 2,087,659 $ —
213,198 -
80,501 —
201,013 -
19,588 409
- 77,267
3,738 3,279
- 5,556
2,605,697 86,511
146,355 7,356
(651,311) (67,691)
S (504,956) $ (60,335)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

Other Total
Special Capital Governmental Governmental
General Revenue Projects Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and investments .......ccccocveevieenieenennne $ 1,153,476 S 245567 S 136,428 S 9,469 S 1,544,940
Cash and investments held by trustees....... 364 — 10,008 53,863 64,235
Receivables, Net: ....coovvveveieieieieeeeeeeeeeee
Property and other taxes ..........cccuuueee... 26,152 — — — 26,152
Intergovernmental .......cc.ccoceeeecieeeccieene 38,483 52,356 6,292 — 97,131
Departmental and other.........cc..uuuueeee.. 22,555 35,054 657 31,347 89,613
Total receivables ......cccccovveevieeniennen. 87,190 87,410 6,949 31,347 212,896
Due from other funds.....ccccovvvveeiiiiiiinennnnnnn. 1,868 1,745 — 6,942 10,555
Due from component units .........ccceeevveeeennns 6,709 — — — 6,709
Total assets .........oceeveevevveecieecieee, S 1,249,607 S 334,722 $ 153,385 S 101,621 $ 1,839,335
LIABILITIES
Warrants and accounts payable .................. S 48,704 S 25,344 S 28573 S 724 S 103,345
Accrued liabilities:
Payroll and related costs.........cccceeeuenennn. 148,379 1,282 — 2 149,663
Deposits and other .........cccceveeeviinneeen.n. 26,032 49,022 — 75,054
Due to other funds .......cooevvvvveeeiieencireneennen. 170 3,405 — 6,980 10,555
Due to component unit .....ccceeeeeieieiiiiiieennnn. 2,331 — — — 2,331
Total liabilities ...........cccocvevvvvennennen. S 225,616 S 79,053 $ 28,573 $ 7,706 S 340,948
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Revenue not considered available............... 38,703 254 3,570 — 42,527
Total deferred inflows of resources........ S 38,703 $ 254 S 3,570 S - S 42,527
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable .......ccccceeeieiiiiiiiiiicciiee, — — — 10,041 10,041
Restricted ....coocvevvieiniieiieenee e - 35,056 121,242 83,874 240,172
ASSIZNEd .. 283,208 220,359 — — 503,567
UNassigned .......cccceeeeciieeeecieee e 702,080 — — — 702,080
Total fund balances..............cccoeevvveneenns 985,288 255,415 121,242 93,915 1,455,860
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances............. $ 1,249,607 $ 334,722 $ 153,385 $ 101,621 S 1,839,335

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements



Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

Total fund balance - governmental fUNAS ................c.ooo i et e e et re e e et e e e eaees

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in
the governmental fund financial STAatEMENTS .........ooiiiiiii e s

Certain revenues of the government-wide financial statements are earned but not considered available
in the governmental fund financial StAtEMENTS .....ccviiiiiiiiii e e e rae e e s nreee s

Internal service funds are included in the government-wide financial statements ...........ccccceeeiiieeieiieeccciee e,

Some liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.
Those liabilities CONSIS OF: ..c.viiiiiiieee et sttt b e st e st e e sabeesbeeebeesbeesabeesbaesnreesn
General 0bligation boNds aNd NOTES .....ccc.eiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e aee e e

(07 o1 = | I 1=T- 1Y T USRSt
Bond issue premiums/diSCOUNTS, NET .....c.ccviiiieiieeiieeiteeeecee et eeteeeteer e e e e e e s be e be e beebeeasesraesaeesseeseenseenseessessaenseens
Deferred bond refunding 10SSES/ZaIN, NET ......ccviieiiii it ebe e ste e s b e e s beesare e sabeeeabeesaaeennrens
PaYolol U =Te T 1 ¢=T g =1 o] o1 oo T o o £ STTPIP
COMPENSALEA GDSENCES ..oiieeiiiiiiiiee ettt eetee et e e et e e e etae e e st e e e esataeeesabaeeestseeeassaeesansaeeesnssaseanssasesasssaeesseeeennnns
152 0 Vo 1 1 RS
B UTe F=da oY=t o o= T g o J ol =1 4 TSRS
Other postemployment DENETILS .....coiiiiiiieie ettt sttt e b e s e e sare e aee e e
Net pension liability, net of deferred aMOUNTS ........coociiiii i e e e et e e e rae e e e aaee s
(o] [V a o] T ¢ =Y o g T=To [ =14 o T o SRS

Net position of governmental aCtiVItieSs ...............cccoiiiiiii et e et e e e e ear e e e saaee s

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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(1,352,281)
(69,465)
(138,956)
3,427
(19,604)
(196,556)
(7,364)
(189,261)
(723,056)
(1,457,333)
(500)

(504,956)
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Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

Year Ended June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

Other Total
Special Capital Governmental Governmental
General Revenue Projects Funds Funds
REVENUES:
Real and personal property taxes .................. S 2,079,693 S — S — S — S§ 2,079,693
(ol LY 212,797 — — — 212,797
Payments in lieu of taxes ........cccoccveeeecveeennns 80,501 — — — 80,501
FINES 1ottt et 63,046 — — — 63,046
Investment iNCOME .....coeeeevvveiiiiieeeieeeeeiees 2,329 100 — 7,967 10,396
Licenses and permits ......cccoeecveeeveveeeenieeeennne 84,470 212 — — 84,682
Departmental and other.......cccccoccveveecienennns 87,985 61,694 — 4,654 154,333
Intergovernmental .......ccccoeeecveeivcieeeecieee s 554,661 258,671 43,579 — 856,911
Total revenues ............cccoeveecveeeccineennne 3,165,482 320,677 43,579 12,621 3,542,359
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General government .......ccccoceeecvieeeeeeeenn. 85,855 6,094 — 7,058 99,007
HUMAN SEIVICES ...uvvvvererrrnininierireieinierenenannns 31,422 8,329 — — 39,751
Public safety ......cccccevevcieeeeiiee e, 643,100 34,371 — — 677,471
PUblic WOTKS ....coceeeeeeiieeeeee e 106,059 8,534 — — 114,593
Property and development .........cccceeveennee 42,460 93,717 — — 136,177
Parks and recreation ........cccceeeeeeviinnnnnennn.. 23,447 1,062 — — 24,509
LIDrary ...ueeeeee e 35,791 3,180 — — 38,971
SChOOIS .o 1,048,987 139,127 — — 1,188,114
Public health programs .........cccccvvvevcveenn. 77,754 1,615 — — 79,369
Judgments and claims ........cccecveeeiiiieenns 3,766 — — — 3,766
Retirement costs .....covvvviiiiieiiieiiiiiceee e 347,402 — — — 347,402
Other employee benefits .........ccccuveeneee. 247,965 — — — 247,965
State and district assessments................... 244,320 — — — 244,320
Capital outlays .....ceeevveeeviiiereriee e, 10,283 1,767 221,321 319 233,690
[D1=Y o1 =] VA ol 171,131 — — — 171,131
Total expenditures .............ccceveenneenn. 3,119,742 297,796 221,321 7,377 3,646,236
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures........................... 45,740 22,881 (177,742) 5,244 (103,877)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Long-term debt, notes and capital leases
ISSUBT 1t — — 181,935 — 181,935
Refunding bonds issued ..........ccccceeeenneeee. — — 58,370 — 58,370
Payments to escrow agents ..........cccccueeee. — (7,432) (58,367) — (65,799)
Premiums on long-term debt issued......... — 8,247 15,063 — 23,310
Transfers in....ocovveeee e — — 23,000 1,455 24,455
Transfers Ut ...ooceevceevieeniee e (9,455) (15,000) — — (24,455)
Total other financing sources (uses) . (9,455) (14,185) 220,001 1,455 197,816
Net change in fund balances............. 36,285 8,696 42,259 6,699 93,939
Fund balance - beginning of year ............... 949,003 246,719 78,983 87,216 1,361,921
Fund balance - end of year ....................... S 985,288 S 255,415 §$ 121,242 $ 93,915 $ 1,455,860

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements



Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,

Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

Year Ended June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds ...............ccocooviii e,

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. In the statement of activities,
the cost of those assets is depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Capital outlays and
contributions of capital assets ($ 238,665) exceeded depreciation expense ($ 117,734) and
1055 ON dISPOSAIS (S 11,234) wviiieeieeee ettt ettt ettt e te e te e ereeebeeebeebeebeenaeeaeesteens

Certain revenues in the statement of activities that are not reported as revenues in the
governmental funds as they are not considered available .........ccoeeeeeiee i,

Issuances of long-term debt (S 240,305) increase long-term liabilities in the statement of net
position, but are included in the operating statement of the governmental funds.
Repayment of bond and lease principal($ 142,653) and payments to the escrow agent for
par value of refunded bonds ($ 63,450) are expenditures in the governmental funds, but
reduce long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. This is the amount by which
issuances exceed repayments and €SCrOW PAYMENTS .....covvieriueerrieriueerieenieeesreesieeesseesseenes

Increases in bond premiums net ($ 11,232) increase the long-term liabilities in the statement
of net position, but are included in the operating statement of the governmental funds.
Decreases in deferred loss on refunding, net ($ 2,349) decrease deferred outflows, net on
the statement of net position, but are included in the operating statement of
oo XL g a0 1T o =TI {0 oo L3R

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the governmental
funds. This amount represents the increase in liabilities for other postemployment
benefits $25,355, workers compensation $2,795 and interest payable $843, offset by a
decrease in liabilities for compensated absences ($ 3,785), judgments and claims ($ 4,159)
and landfill closure and post-closure costs ($ 432) and a decrease in net pension liability,
net of deferred amMOUNTS (S 2,856) ...ccuiicuiiiiieiceeeerieete ettt ettt steesteete et eaeeeteesteebeenrean

Net operating income from the internal service fund, which is presented in the statement
of activities, but not in the governmental funds ..........cccoeciiiieicii e

Change in net position of governmental activities ..............cccccooviiiicii e,

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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93,939

109,697

(4,232)

(34,202)

(8,883)

(17,761)

7,797

146,355
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Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

Budgetary Basis
General Fund — Budget and Actual

Year Ended June 30, 2017 (with comparative actual amounts for 2016)
(Amounts in thousands)

2017
Favorable
Original (Unfavorable) 2016
Budget Final Budget Actual Variance Actual
REVENUES AND OTHER AVAILABLE FUNDS:
Real and personal property taxes, net................. S 2,047,936 S 2,047,936 S 2,053,396 S 5,460 S 1,925,045
EXCISES uveerrieeieeniieeieesteesree st este e sre st esare e 198,820 198,820 209,498 10,678 234,247
Commonwealth of Massachusetts ...........c.......... 429,855 429,855 424,933 (4,922) 421,576
Departmental and other revenue .........ccceeeuneee 64,088 64,088 77,082 12,994 76,919
FINES 1eeetiecieecte sttt 59,560 59,560 63,082 3,522 60,899
Payments in lieu of taXes .......cccccveeevcveeeecieeeenen, 65,470 65,470 82,132 16,662 88,891
INvestment iNCOME ... 200 200 2,329 2,129 184
Licenses and Permits .......ccccvvveeeeeeieeiinneeneeeeeeeinnnns 54,695 63,785 84,093 20,308 74,442
MiSCellanEOouUS ......eevvviiiiiiiiiieieee e 267 267 267 — 802
Other available funds ........ccovcvveeiiieiciiieiiec e, 67,450 67,450 — (67,450) —
Total revenues and other available funds ..... 2,988,341 2,997,431 2,996,814 (618) 2,883,005
EXPENDITURES:

General government .......cccceecveeeeciieeeeceee e 104,004 125,158 121,507 3,651 87,435
HUM@N SEIVICES ..uueieeeeeiiiieeeeeeeeercee e eeevereee e 32,871 32,668 32,521 147 31,938
Public safety ....ccovveeieiiieneceee e 636,015 643,419 641,567 1,852 623,879
PUBIIC WOTKS ..veeeiieciec ettt 109,117 107,462 109,478 (2,016) 103,639
Property and development .........cccccovveeeeiveeenneen. 43,390 45,426 45,295 131 37,001
Parks and recreation ........cccceeeevveviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnns 23,214 24,634 24,451 183 25,546
LIDrary oo 34,502 34,776 34,775 1 34,863
SCNOOIS ..t 1,031,684 1,031,684 1,031,628 56 1,016,277
Boston Public Health Commission........ccceevuuen.... 77,267 77,267 77,267 — 76,155
Judgments and claims .......ccccoeeveciiieeiecicee, 5,000 5,000 3,188 1,812 10,454
Other employee benefits .......cceccvvviicieeecciieenne 259,480 257,023 256,044 980 241,177
Retirement COSS ...oovvuviriiiniiirieciee e eree e 204,669 202,988 202,925 63 200,649
Debt requirements .......ccceccveeeveceeeevveeeeeciee e 177,454 165,254 165,160 94 157,626
State and district assessments .......cccccevveveeeieennns 249,674 244,672 244,320 352 234,450
Total expenditures ..........cccocevvvienieiineennenn. 2,988,341 2,997,431 2,990,127 7,305 2,881,089

Excess of revenues and other available
funds over expenditures ...............c.......... S - S - S 6,687 S 6,687 S 1,916

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements



Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

ASSETS:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents .........ccccccveeeeciieeecciee e,
Total current assets .....ccevvveeeerciveeeriieee e,

Noncurrent assets:

(014 o 1= = T3] RS
Total noncurrent assetsS......ccccveeveevurveeeeeeennnns
o] - L= T = £

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:

Accrued liabilities .....cooeeeeeeieieiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen
Total current liabilities ............ccccevvveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieens

NET POSITION:

Unrestricted ......oooovvvviiiiiiii

Total net position ...........ccceeeeiee i,

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Internal Service

73,916

73,916

6,541

6,541

80,457

23,881

23,881

56,576

56,576

Fund Financial Statements ¢ 25
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses

and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES:
Employee contributions ........ccccceeieeiiiieiie e,
Employer contributions ........ccceccveviecieee e
Total operating revenues .............ccccceeeeeeeiiviieeeeeeccciineeen.

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Health benefits .....ccovveiviiiie e
Total operating eXpenses ...........cccccceeeeeeeeciiieeeeeeececiineenn.
Operating INCoOME .......coooviiiiiiiiiieee e e

Net position - beginning of year ..............cccoccoeeievciiiccen e,
Net position-end of year .............c.ccoooeiiiiiiiiicciiee e,

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Internal Service

68,821
276,134

344,955

337,158

337,158

7,797

48,779

56,576
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Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

Year Ended June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from employees and employer .......ccccccevvveerieeniieenieeniieenneen.
(01 ol o 110 I o V=T s o [o] s USSR
Net cash provided by operating activities .............cccccoeevviiincieeiniiennnnnns

Cash and cash equivalents- beginning of year ................ccocceniiiniinnenneen.
Cash and cash equivalents- end of year ..............cccccoeeiiiieiii e,

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
OPerating INCOME ..ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeee et e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeseeees

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash used in operating activities: ........cccocceeeeeiiie i

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ........ccccceeveeiivciieincceeeciee,
(0] 4 =T g 1Y =] £SO PR RPN
Due from component units / receivables .........cccccevveeiecreeiieeienneennen.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........ccccooeeeeiiiiiiiiiieeeieeees

Net cash provided by operating activities ............c.cccceceeviecveeniinennn.

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Internal Service

345,533
(339,025)

6,508

67,408

73,916

7,797

(1,018)
578
(849)

6,508
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Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2017

(Except Employee Retirement Plan, which is as of December 31, 2016)

(Amounts in thousands)

ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:

Investments, at fair value:

Short term:

Equity:

Fixed-income:

Alternative
All asset fund

Securities lending short-term
collateral investment pool

LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilities

Securities purchased
Collateral held on securities lending
Total liabilities

NET POSITION:
Held in trust for pension benefits and other purposes

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Total receivables

International

International

International

PRIT Pooled Fund
Real estate

Total investments

Employee Private-

Retirement OPEB Trust Purpose Agency

Plan Fund Trusts Funds
S 253,687 $ 2,321 S 113,356 $ 8,385
7,184 1 — —
15,183 — — —
13,134 — — —
5,303 — 102 —
40,804 1 102 —
50,398 — — —
3,866 — — —
1,109,817 151,676 — —
1,064,600 60,463 — —
748,731 210,889 — —
260,754 — — —
1,382,745 — — —
431,091 — 30 —
554,572 — — —
— 45,099 — —
5,606,574 468,127 30 —
191,892 — — —
6,092,957 470,449 113,488 8,385
15,882 187 3,232 8,385
34,166 — — —
191,826 — — —
241,874 187 3,232 8,385
$ 5851,083 $ 470,262 S 110,256 $ -
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2017

(Except Employee Retirement Plan, which is year ended December 31, 2016)
(Amounts in thousands)

Employee Private-
Retirement = OPEB Trust Purpose
Plan Fund Trusts
ADDITIONS:
Contributions:
EMPIOYELS oottt et ettt ettt et e et eteeteeseereene et esseeseeseereeseeneensensentessesrens S 247,771 S 163,791 S —
Commonwealth of Massachusetts (nonemployer) ........ccceeeeeeeeecieeeeciieee e, 132,477 — —
EMPIOYEES .eeeiii it ee ettt et e e st e e et r e e e sata e e e staeeeentaeeeentaeeesraeeeaans 153,943 — —
[DToYaF= o] 0 I3R= [T Ie ) f 1 1= (N — — 4,998
Total contribUtions ...........cooooviiiiiiiiiiieee 534,191 163,791 4,998
Investment earnings:
Realized and unrealized gains on iNVeStMENTS .......ccceeeeciiieeiiiee e 198,838 45,197 23,828
INVESEMENT INCOME ..oiiiiiiiei et e e e e e et e e e e e e e eeessaeeeeeeeessanaas 188,572 4,536 3,366
LeSS iINVESTMENT EXPENSES ...vvviiieeieeeiiiieeeeieeesiteeeestaeeessreeesssseeeesssseeessseessnsseeeans (28,940) (651) —
Net investment @arnings ............cccceeviiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 358,470 49,082 27,194
Securities lending activities:
Securities [ending INCOME .........uueiiiiiiecee e 2,704 — —
Less borrower rebates and fEes .........eeevciiiiiciiee i (1,123) — —
Net income from securities lending activities .............ccccccoevvevvvincieennnne 1,581 - -
Total net investment income (10SS) .........ccccceeeviieecie e, 360,051 49,082 27,194
INLErgOVEINMENTAL ..coiiiieeee e e e e et e e e e e artaaeeae s 7,566 — —
MiSCEIlAaNEOUS INCOME ....eeiiiiiiiie ittt st s sareesaee s 89 - -
Total additions .............oooiiii e 901,897 212,873 32,192
DEDUCTIONS:
BENEFIES eeeeiieieiee ittt ettt e sateenaae s 566,850 121,541 -
ReIMBUISEMENTS ..cooiiiiiiiiii 12,662 — —
Refunds of CONTIIBULIONS ..cccoeiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et 23,005 — —
Administrative expenses and Other ... 7,590 5 25,806
Total dedUCtions ..........cooiiiiiiiiiie e 610,107 121,546 25,806
Change in net PoSition ..........ccccoooiiii e 291,790 91,327 6,386
Net position - beginning of year ..............cccocciiiieiii e 5,559,293 378,935 103,870
Net POSItiON - @NA OF VAT ........ooiuviiiiiicieeeee et veeeane e $ 5,851,083 $ 470,262 $ 110,256

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017

1. The Financial Reporting Entity

a. Primary Government
The City of Boston (the City), incorporated as a town in 1630 and as a city in 1822, now exists under
Chapter 486 of the Act of 1909 and Chapter 452 of the Acts of 1948 of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
(the Commonwealth), which, as amended, constitute the City’s Charter. The Mayor is elected to a four-year
term and serves as chief executive officer of the City. The Mayor has general supervision of and control
over the City’s boards, commissions, officers, and departments. The legislative body of the City is the City
Council, which consists of 13 elected members serving two-year terms.

The accompanying basic financial statements present the City and its component units. The component
units discussed below are included in the City’s reporting entity because of the significance of their
operational or financial relationships with the City.

b. Blended Component Units Disclosure

Boston Retirement System (BRS) is a defined benefit contributory retirement system created under
state statute. It is administered by a Retirement Board comprising five members: the City Auditor,
who serves ex officio; two individuals elected by participants in the system; a fourth member
appointed by the Mayor; and a fifth member chosen by the other members. BRS provides pension
benefits to retired City, Boston Planning & Development Agency, Boston Housing Authority, Boston
Water and Sewer Commission, and Boston Public Health Commission employees. Although legally
separate, BRS provides services entirely, or almost entirely, to the City and thus has been reported
as a blended component unit among the City’s fiduciary funds. The financial statements of BRS are
included for its fiscal year end which is December 31, 2016.

Dudley Square Realty Corporation (DSRC) and Ferdinand Building Development Corporation
(FBDC) — The DSRC is a Qualified Active Low-Income Community Business, and is the owner and
developer of the Dudley Municipal Center property. FBDC is the leverage lender of the Dudley
Municipal Center property. FBDC leases the property from DSRC and the City subleases the property
from FBDC. The DSRC and FBDC are non-profit organizations qualified as tax-exempt entities under
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Both entities are instrumentalities of the City, as
the Mayor has full control of appointments to their boards of directors. Although legally separate,
both DSRC and FBDC provide services entirely, or almost entirely, to the City and thus have been
reported as blended component units. These funds are presented as non-major funds within the
other governmental funds as of their fiscal year end, which is June 30, 2017.
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Discretely Presented Component Units Disclosure

These component units are reported in a separate column to emphasize that they are legally separate from
the City but are included because the City is financially accountable for the organizations, meaning it
appoints, at a minimum, a voting majority of the board of directors of the organization and is able to impose
its will on the organizations or has a financial benefit or burden relationship with the organizations. Unless
otherwise indicated, the Notes to the Financial Statements pertain only to the primary government because
certain disclosures of the component units are not significant relative to the total component units and to
the primary government. A description of the component units, criteria for inclusion, and their relationship
with the City are as follows:

i. Boston Planning & Development Agency (BPDA) — The BPDA is legally separate from the City and
a body politic and corporate constituting the City’s redevelopment authority and exercising the
powers of a planning board for the City. The BPDA is governed by a five-member board, four of
whom are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the City Council, and one of whom is appointed
by the Governor of Massachusetts (same board members as the EDIC). The BPDA receives a
significant amount of intergovernmental revenue, which is used solely for capital projects that are
under the oversight of the BPDA. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 61, the BPDA is presented
as a discrete component unit of the City.

ii. Economic Development and Industrial Corporation of Boston (EDIC) — The EDIC is legally separate
from the City and a body politic and corporate and an instrumentality of the Commonwealth. The
EDICis governed by a five-member board, four of whom are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed
by the City Council, and one of whom is appointed by the Governor of Massachusetts (same board
members as the BPDA). The EDIC receives a significant amount of intergovernmental revenue,
including grants and contracts with the City for jobs and community service activities. Inaccordance
with GASB Statement No. 61, the EDIC is presented as a discrete component unit of the City.

iii. Boston Public Health Commission (BPHC) — The BPHC is legally separate from the City and a body
politic and corporate and an instrumentality of the Commonwealth. The BPHC is governed by a
seven-member board, six of whom are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the City Council,
and one of whom is the chief executive officer of the Boston Medical Center. The BPHC receives
the majority of its funding from a City appropriation, EMS and other third party billings, and federal
and state grants. The BPHC expects that the City will continue to provide support for the public
health programs of the BPHC. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 61, the BPHC is presented
as a discrete component unit of the City.

iv. Trustees of the Public Library of the City of Boston (TPL) — The TPL is legally separate from the City
of Boston and is a non-profit organization qualified as a tax-exempt entity under Section 501(c)(3)
of the Internal Revenue Code. The trustees of the TPL are appointed by the Mayor and the TPL
places substantial reliance upon the City to fund its daily operations. Inaddition, the Library receives
significant support through state and federal government appropriations and private sources. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 61, the TPL is presented as a discrete component unit of the
City.

The financial statements of the discretely presented component units are included for their respective fiscal
year ends, which is June 30, 2017.
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Complete financial statements of these discretely presented component units can be obtained through the
City Auditor’s office, Room M-4, City Hall Plaza, Boston, Massachusetts 02201. In addition, condensed

financial statements for the discretely presented component units are included in note 20.

Related Organizations

The Mayor is also responsible for appointing members of the governing bodies of the Boston Housing
Authority, Boston Industrial Development Finance Authority, and Boston Water and Sewer Commission;
however, the City’s accountability for these organizations does not extend beyond making these

appointments.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies of the City conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles as applicable
to governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The following
is a summary of the more significant policies followed by the City:

a.

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The Government-wide Financial Statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its
component units. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these
statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from any business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent
on fees and charges for support. The City currently reports no business-type activities. Likewise, the
primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the
primary government is financially accountable.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function
or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for Governmental Funds, Proprietary Funds, and Fiduciary
Funds, even though the latter are excluded from the Government-wide Financial Statements. Major
individual Governmental Funds are reported as separate columns in the Fund Financial Statements.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
i Government-wide Financial Statements
The Government-wide Financial Statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the Proprietary Fund and
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements. The Agency Fund within the Fiduciary Fund Financial
Statements has no measurement of results. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property
taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items
are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements for recognition have been met.



Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Fund Financial Statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as
soon as they are “susceptible to accrual” (i.e., both measurable and available). Revenues not
considered to be available are recorded as deferred inflows of resources.

The City applies the susceptible to accrual criteria to property and other taxes and
intergovernmental revenues. In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to
intergovernmental revenues, there are essentially two types of revenues. In one, resources must
be expended on the specific purpose or project before any amounts will be reimbursed to the
City; therefore, revenues are recognized based upon the amount of expenditures incurred
subject to availability requirements. In the other, resources are virtually unrestricted and are
usually revocable by the grantor only for failure to comply with prescribed compliance
requirements. These resources are reflected as revenues at the time of receipt or earlier if the
susceptible to accrual criteria are met. Property and other taxes are recognized as revenue in
the year for which taxes have been levied or earned, provided they are collected within 60 days
after year-end. Generally, intergovernmental revenues are recognized as revenue provided they
are earned during the year and collected within one year after year-end, except for
Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA) and Chapter 90 receivables which are
considered available when received.

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred. However, debt service
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to long-term liabilities including compensated
absences, other postemployment benefits, workers’ compensation and judgments and claims,
are recorded only when payment is mature and due.

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from the provision of services. The principal
operating revenues of the City’s Internal Service Funds are receipts from employer and
employees for health insurance premiums. Operating expenses for the Internal Service Fund
include administrative expenses, vendor payments, and health benefits. Any revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Description of Major Funds
Governmental funds — The City reports the following major governmental funds:

1. The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in
another fund.

2. The Special Revenue Fund accounts for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other
than trusts for individuals, private organizations, or other governments, or for major
capital projects) that are legally restricted or assigned to expenditures for various general
governmental functions. Revenue sources include grant funding for education, housing,
and public safety.

3. The Capital Projects Fund accounts for bond proceeds and grant revenues used for the
acquisition or construction of the City’s capital facilities.

Proprietary fund —The City reports the following proprietary fund:
4. The City uses an internal service fund to account for its self-insured health costs.
Although the fund is presented in a separate column in the accompanying proprietary
fund financial statements, it is not considered a major fund.

Notes to Basic Financial Statements ¢ 33



34 o City of Boston Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Fiduciary Funds — The City reports the following fiduciary fund types:

5. The Private Purpose Trust Funds are used to account for resources legally held in trust
for the benefit of individuals, private organizations, or other governments. The City
operates four pools used for the improvement of the City’s parks and cemeteries,
educational scholarships and sporting equipment, creation of public utility and beauty,
and co-mingled nontestamentary trusts.

6. The Pension Trust Fund accounts principally for the activities of the Boston Retirement
System, a blended component unit, which accumulates resources for pension benefit
payments to retired employees of the City and other entities.

7. The OPEB Trust Fund is an irrevocable trust fund established for other postemployment
benefits. The assets are appropriated from the General Fund and accumulate to reduce
the unfunded actuarial liability for health care and other postemployment benefits. The
assets of the trust are currently not used for direct payments of benefits.

8. The Agency Funds are used to report funds held by the City in a purely custodial capacity.
The City currently operates a drug evidence account for proceeds of property seized
from illegal drug-related activities. These funds are then used to offset the costs of
technical equipment or expertise and investigations.

c. Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, investments with original maturities of three months or
less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

d. Basis of Investment Valuation
Investments generally are presented in the accompanying basic financial statements at fair value. Where
applicable, fair values are based on quotations from national securities exchanges, except for certain
investments of BRS, which are described in notes5 and 11. Further, income from investments is
recognized in the same fund as the related investments.

The City invests in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT) Cash Portfolio, which is an
external investment pool and is not SEC-registered. The fund is state-regulated and is valued at amortized
cost.

e. Interfund Receivables and Payables
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the
end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of
interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans). All
other outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”

f. Uncollectible Tax and Other Receivables
All receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. Amounts considered to be uncollectible
are based on the type and age of the related receivable.

g. Capital Assets

Capital assets include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges,
sidewalks, and similar items), and intangible assets such as easements, land use rights, computer
software, trademarks and patents. Capital assets are reported in the governmental activities column in
the Government-wide Financial Statements. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an
initial, individual cost of more than $25,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets
are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital
assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation. Any significant construction
commitments are encumbered at year-end in the City’s Capital Projects Fund.
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The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the capacity or efficiency of the asset
or materially extend assets’ useful lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets of the primary government are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:

Assets Years
Buildings 30
Building improvements 30
Infrastructure 30
Land improvements - major 30
Land improvements - playgrounds 15
Computer upgrades 10
Equipment and machinery 10

Intangible assets, computer software and licenses 5
Computers and related equipment 3
Furniture and fixtures 3
Motor vehicles 3

h. Compensated Absences

Employees are granted sick and vacation leave in varying amounts. Upon retirement, termination, or
death, certain employees are compensated for unused sick and vacation leave (subject to certain
limitations) at their then current rates of pay. Public Safety employees are compensated for unused
personal leave in addition to sick and vacation leave. The portion of the liability related to unused sick
and vacation time that has matured or is due as of June 30, 2017 is recorded in the Governmental Fund
Financial Statements. The entire amount of the liability is reported in governmental activities in the
Government-wide Financial Statements. The liability for vacation leave is based on the amount earned
but not used; for sick leave, it is based on the amount accumulated at the balance sheet date that would
be paid upon termination (vesting method). The liability for both amounts is calculated based on the
pay or salary rates in effect at the balance sheet date.

i. Long -Term Obligations and Related Costs
Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the Government-wide
Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts are capitalized and amortized over the life of
the bonds using the straight line method, which approximates the effective interest method. The
unamortized portion is presented in the Government-wide Statement of Net Position as a component
of bonds payable. Bond issuance costs are reported as expenses when incurred.

The Governmental Fund Financial Statements recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond
issuance costs, during the period incurred. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts
on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from
the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.
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j. Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the BRS and additions to/deductions from the BRS fiduciary net position have been determined on the
same basis as they are reported by BRS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.

k. Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred outflows of resources are defined as a consumption of net assets by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period. Deferred inflows of resources are defined as an acquisition of
net assets by the government that is applicable to a future reporting period. Deferred outflows of
resources increase net position, similar to assets, and deferred outflows or resources decrease net
position, similar to liabilities.

I.  Net Position and Fund Balance
In the Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, net position is reported in the
following categories:

Net investment in capital assets: Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and outstanding
principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets.

Restricted: Net position the use of which is subject to constraints imposed by external parties,
including creditors, grantors, and laws and regulations of other governments, or imposed by City
Charter or enabling legislation. Nonexpendable amounts are required to remain intact under such
constraints.

Unrestricted: Remaining net position not considered net investment in capital assets or restricted.

For purposes of net position classification, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are available
for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are
needed.

In the Governmental Fund Financial Statements, fund balance is reported in the following categories:

Nonspendable: Amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable form or
they are legally or contractually required to remain intact.

Restricted: Amounts the use of which is subject to constraints imposed by external parties, including
creditors, grantors, and laws and regulations of other governments, or imposed by City Charter or
enabling legislation.

Committed: Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed
by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority. For the City, this
formal action takes the form of statutes which are passed by the City Council and approved by the
Mayor.

Assigned: Amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent for use for specific purposes, but are
considered neitherrestricted or committed. Under M.G.L. Chapter 190, Acts of 1982, the City Auditor
has the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes on behalf of the City.
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Unassigned: Amounts in the general fund that are not otherwise constrained for a specific purpose
more narrow than the general operations of the City. The City maintains a formal policy that
unassigned fund balance in the General Fund be at least 15 percent of the current year’s General
Fund GAAP basis operating expenditures.

For purposes of fund balance classification, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are available
for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are
needed. When unrestricted resources are used, committed resources are used first, followed by assigned
and unassigned resources, respectively.

m. Tax Abatement Refunds
Matured tax abatement refunds that are due and payable at June 30 have been recorded as a liability
in the General Fund. A liability for estimated future tax abatement refunds has been recorded in the
Government-wide Statement of Net Position.

n. Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs
State and federal regulations require the City to place a final cover on its Gardner Street landfill site
when it stops accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site
for 30 years after closure. At June 30, 2017, 100% of the Gardner Street landfill site had been used and
has not accepted solid waste for several years. While most of the landfill closure construction was
completed in prior years, there still remains 12 acres of the landfill to be capped as of June 30, 2017.

The total current cost of landfill closure and postclosure care is an estimate, subject to changes resulting
from inflation, deflation, technology, or other changes in applicable laws or regulations. Such costs are
recognized as expenditures in the General Fund to the extent that they are due or matured and are
expected to be paid with expendable available financial resources. The total liability is reported in the
Government-wide Statement of Net Position. Expenditures related to the Gardner Street landfill site
postclosure care in fiscal year 2017 were $432,000.

o. Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying basic financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statementsand the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

p. Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements

The City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 73, "Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement
68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68." The objective of this
Statement is to improve the usefulness of information about pensions included in the general purpose
external financial reports of state and local governments for making decisions and assessing
accountability. This Statement establishes requirements for defined benefit pensions that are not within
the scope of Statement No. 68, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions", as well as for the
assets accumulated for purposes of providing those pensions. It also makes amendments to certain
provisions of Statements No. 67 "Financial Reporting for Pension Plans", and No. 68. As a result of the
implementation of Statement No. 73, beginning net position of the governmental activities were restated
as follows (in thousands):
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Governmental Activities

Beginning Net Position as previously reported S (548,961)
Implementation of GASB Statement No. 73 (102,350)
Beginning Net Position, as restated S (651,311)

The City adopted GASB Statement No. 74 “Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other
Than Pension Plans.” The objective of this Statement is to improve the usefulness of information about
postemployment benefits other than pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB) included in
the general purpose external financial reports of state and local governmental OPEB plans for making
decisions and assessing accountability.

The City adopted GASB Statement No. 77, “Tax Abatement Disclosures.” The objective of this Statement
is to improve financial reporting by giving users of financial statements essential information that is not
consistently orcomprehensively reported to the public at present related to tax abatements. For financial
reporting purposes, this Statement defines a tax abatement as resulting from an agreement between a
government and an individual or entity in which the government promises to forgo tax revenues and
the individual or entity promises to subsequently take a specific action that contributes to economic
development or otherwise benefits the government or its citizens. For purposes of this Statement, tax
abatements include (1) a reporting government's own tax abatement agreements and (2) those that are
entered into by other governments and that reduce the reporting government's tax revenues. Disclosure
of information about the nature and magnitude of tax abatements will make these transactions more
transparent to financial statement users. As a result, users will be better equipped to understand (1)
how tax abatements affect a government’s future ability to raise resources and meet its financial
obligations and (2) theimpact those abatements have on a government’s financial position and economic
condition. The City has incorporated the required tax abatement disclosures, but adoption of the
statement did not impact financial statement amounts.

3. Short-Term Debt

During fiscal year 2017, the City had no short-term debt issued or outstanding.

4. Budgetary Data

The General Fundis the only fund for which abudget s legally adopted. The budgets for all departmentsincluded
in the General Fund of the City, except the School Department, are prepared under the direction of the Mayor
and City Council. The School Department budget is prepared under the direction of the School Committee.

Original and supplemental appropriations are submitted by the Mayor, approved by the City Council, and lapse
at year-end unless encumbered. The legal level of control over appropriations is at the department level.
Amendments to the original budget must be approved by the City Council, except for a reallocation of
appropriations of up to $3.0 million, which the Mayor may approve. Further, the City Auditor, with the approval
of the Mayor, may make transfers from any appropriation to any other appropriation for purposes of eliminating
deficits before closing the books for the fiscal year. After the close of the fiscal year, the City Auditor may, with
the approval of the Mayor, apply any income, taxes, and funds not disposed of and make transfers from any
appropriation to any other appropriation for the purpose of closing the accounts for the fiscal year.

The City must establish its property tax rate each year so that the resulting property tax levy will comply with
the limits required by Proposition 2-1/2 (note 6). The tax levy must equal the sum of (a) the aggregate of all
annual appropriations for expenditures; plus (b) the reserve accounts described in the following paragraph;
plus (c) provision for the prior fiscal years’ deficits, if any; less (d) the aggregate of all non-property tax revenues
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projected to be received by the City, including available funds, in amounts certified or approved by the
Commonwealth for tax rate purposes.

In accordance with the 1986 amendments to the Funding Loan Act of 1982, the City has established two reserve
funds. The first is a budget reserve fund, which is required to be funded in stages to a final level of 2-1/2% of
the prior year’s overall departmental appropriations, except the School Department, by the beginning of fiscal
year 1990. It is available to be applied to extraordinary and unforeseen expenditures. The second is a separate
reserve fund of 1% to 2-1/2% of the current year appropriation of the School Department to be applied to over-
expenditures in that department.

The City’s General Fund budget is prepared on a basis other than accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP). The “actual” results columnin the Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
— Budgetary Basis — General Fund is presented on a “budgetary basis” to provide a meaningful comparison of
actual results with the budget. The major differences between the budget and GAAP basis, where applicable,
are that:
i. Revenues are recorded when cash is received, except for real estate and personal property taxes,
which are recorded as revenue when levied (budget), as opposed to when susceptible to accrual
(GAAP).
ii. Encumbrances and continuing appropriations are recorded as the equivalent of expenditures
(budget) but have no effect on GAAP expenditures.
iii. Certain activities and transactions are presented in separate funds (GAAP), rather than as
components of the General Fund (budget).
iv. Amounts raised for the prior years’ deficits and available funds from prior years’ surpluses are
recorded as revenue items (budget), but have no effect on GAAP revenues.

In addition, there are certain differences in classifications between revenues, expenditures, and transfers. The
following reconciliation summarizes the differences between budgetary and GAAP basis accounting principles
for the year ended June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Excess
of revenue and
Other other
financing financing
Revenue Expenditures uses, net sources
As reported on a budgetary basis S 2,996,814 S 2,990,127 $ ) 6,687
Adjustments:
Revenues to modified accrual basis 36,191 — — 36,191
Expenditures, encumbrances, and
accruals, net — 6,593 — (6,593)
On-behalf contribution for
teachers pension 132,477 132,477 — —
Reclassifications:
Other transfers — (9,455) 9,455 —

As reported on a GAAP basis S 3,165,482 S 3,119,742 S 9,455 S 36,285
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5.

Deposits and Investments

State and local statutes place certain limitations on the nature of deposits and investments available to the City.
Deposits, including demand deposits, money markets, and certificates of deposit in any one financial institution,
may not exceed 60% of the capital and surplus of such institution unless collateralized by the financial institution
involved. Investments from operating cash in the general fund may be made in unconditionally guaranteed
U.S. government obligations having maturities of ayear or less from the date of purchase, or through repurchase
agreements with maturities of no greater than 90 days in which the underlying securities consist of such
obligations. Other allowable investments include authorized bonds of all states, bankers’ acceptances,
commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications established by rating agencies, and units in the
MMDT. MMDT, which is an external investment pool that is overseen by the Treasurer of the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts, meets the criteria established by GASB 79 "Certain External Investment Pools and Pool
Participants", to report its investments at amortized cost; therefore the City reports its investments in MMDT
at amortized cost which approximates the net asset value of $1.00 per share. MMDT has a maturity of less than
1 year and is not rated. The three highest commercial paper classifications for Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s
(S&P) are as follows:

Commercial Paper Credit Ratings
Moody's S&P
Superior P1 A1+ or A1
Satisfactory P2 A2
Adequate P3 A3

Primary Government (except the pension trust fund)

a.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the City’s deposits or investments may not
be returned. The City carries deposits that are fully insured by FDIC insurance or collateralized in the City’s
name. All of the City’s investments are held by third parties in the City’s name. As of June 30, 2017, the City
of Boston Trust Funds had uninsured and uncollateralized deposits and investments of $45.6 million.

Investment Policy

The City’s primary concern in connection with its investment activities is a concern shared by all municipal
governments: the preservation of capital. The City’s investment policy establishes a discipline in which all
of the City’s investment activities may be safely conducted while it strives to use its capital resources as
efficiently as possible. The foundation of that discipline is fixed by Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L.)
c. 44, sec. 55, which prohibits Massachusetts communities from investing in certain categories of high- risk
investments; limits the amount of the City’s bank deposits in any one financial institution; and establishes
qualifying criteria for banking institutions. Further, all investments held by third parties are to be held in
the City’s name.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.
Itis the City of Boston Trust Funds’ policy to limit the average duration of an actively managed fixed income
portfolio to seven years. The following is a listing of the City’s fixed income investments (in thousands) and
related maturity schedule (in years) as of June 30, 2017:
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Investment type Fair Value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 More than 10

Money market mutual funds S 181,204 § 181,204 S ) ) —

Institutional and mutual funds 53,701 — 53,701 — —

U.S. Treasury and agency

securities 79,012 226 15,426 10,333 53,027

State and local municipal

obligations 5,728 1,309 2,161 417 1,840

Corporate debt instruments 105,636 7,723 12,184 17,369 68,361

Certificate of deposits 25,052 25,052 — — —
S 450,333 $ 215,514 S 83,472 S 28,119 S 123,228

d. Credit Risk
It is the City of Boston Trust Funds’ policy that there shall be no specific limitation in regard to credit
worthiness of securities, except the overall average quality of each fixed income portfolio shall be AA or
better. The City’s fixed income investments as of June 30, 2017 were rated by S & P and/or an equivalent
national rating organization, and the ratings are presented below using the S & P rating scale (in thousands):

Investment type Fair Value Rating
Money market mutual funds S 181,204 Not Rated
Institutional and mutual funds 53,701 AAA to A3
U.S. treasury and agency securities 79,012 AAA to A3
State and local municipal obligations 5,728 AAA to B3
Corporate debt instruments 63,420 AAA to A3
Corporate debt instruments 29,703 Baal to B3
Corporate debt instruments 209 Caalto Cal
Corporate debt instruments 12,304 Not Rated
Certificate of deposits 25,052 Not Rated
S 450,333

e. Concentration Risk
The City adheres to the provisions of M.G.L. c. 44, sec. 55 when managing concentration risk. M.G.L. c. 44,
sec. 55 contains several restrictions limiting where and under what circumstances the City may deposit its
funds. No investments in a single issuer exceeded 5% of the City’s investment portfolio.

f. Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment or a deposit. As of June 30,2017, the City of Boston Trust Funds held international equity mutual
funds valued at $68.9 million. Although these investments are not denominated in a foreign currency, the
underlying securities are denominated in various foreign currencies.

g. Fair Value Hierarchy

Investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value measurements are
those that GASB statements require or permit in the Statement of Net Position or Balance Sheet at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements are categorized based on the valuation inputs
used to measure an asset's fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date; Level 2
inputs are other than quoted prices in Level 1that are observable for the asset or liability, or similar assets
or liabilities either directly orindirectly through corroboration with observable market data; Level 3 inputs
are significant unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
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The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

Money market funds: Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Money market funds held
by the Pool of the money market fund and the City are open-end money market funds that are registered
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The money market funds held by the City and classified as
Level 1 are deemed to be actively traded.

Institutional and mutual funds: Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Institutional and
mutual funds held by the City are open-end funds that are registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The institutional and mutual funds held by the Pool and classified as Level 1 are deemed to
be actively traded. If market quotations are not readily available, the funds are valued by the pricing method
determined by investment managers which determines valuations using methods based upon market
transactions for comparable securities.

Equity securities: Consist primarily of corporate stocks traded on U.S. and non-U.S. active security
exchanges. Stocks traded on active exchanges and valued at quoted market prices and documented
trade history for identical assets are categorized within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. If market
guotations are not readily available, the stocks may be valued using pricing models maximizing the use of
observable inputs for similar securities and are classified as Level 2.

US. Treasury and agency securities: Securities issued by the U.S. government, its agencies, authorities and
instrumentalities are valued using quoted prices, documented trade history in the security, and pricing
models maximizing the use of observable inputs determined by investment managers.

Corporate debt instruments: Valued either by using pricing models maximizing the use of observable inputs
for similar securities or valued by the investment manager.

The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the City believes its valuation
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies
or assumptions to determine if the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair
value measurement at the reporting date. The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as
of June 30, 2017 (in thousands):



Notes to Basic Financial Statements ¢ 43

Fair Value Measurements Using:

Quoted Prices

. . Significant
Iv::rﬁ::;v:or Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Investments:

Money market funds  $ 181,204 S — S — S 181,204
Institutional and
mutual funds 56,097 — — 56,097
Equity securities 51,390 240,670 — 292,060
US Treasury & agency
securities 1,885 77,127 — 79,012
State and Local
municipal obligations 25 5,703 — 5,728
Corporate debt
instruments 40,599 65,037 — 105,636
Total Investments: S 331,200 S 388,537 S — S 719,737

Boston Retirement System

a. Custodial Credit Risk
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the System’s deposits may not be returned.
The System carries deposits that are fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
insurance or collateralized with securities held by the System or the System’s agent in the System’s name.
As of December 31, 2016, all of the System’s deposits were insured or collateralized.

b. Investment Policy
The provisions of M.G.L. C. 32, Sec 23(2); 840 C.M.R. 16-19, 21, 23, 26; and, the Plan’s own investment
regulations (stated at http://www.mass.gov/perac/board-info/profiles/investment/bostonintsup.html)
govern the System’s investment practice. Diversification is attained through varied investment management
styles that comply with Massachusetts state law. This is accomplished through the retention of investment
managers that adhere to M.G.L. C. 32, Sec. 3(3), the “Prudent Person” rule.

The System has retained an investment consultant to work with the Retirement Board in a fiduciary capacity
toassure that strategicinvestment diversificationis attained, to employ investment managers with expertise
in their respective asset classes, and to closely monitor the implementation and performance of the
respective investment strategies.

The System is currently invested in stocks (domestic and foreign), fixed income securities (domestic and
foreign), real estate, private equity, PRIT and hedge funds.

c. Interest Rate Risk
The following is a listing of the System’s fixed income investments (in thousands) and related maturity
schedule (in years) as of December 31, 2016:
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Less More
Investment type Fair Value than1 1-5 6-10 than 10

U.S. Treasury notes and bonds S 73,823 S 2,540 S 41,750 S 10,302 S 19,231

U.S. agencies 74,158 1,462 1,180 1,120 70,395

Domestic corporate 581,704 4,494 107,737 170,080 299,393

Municipal 5,254 — 3,176 — 2,078

International corporate 36,353 — 11,706 20,634 4,013

International government 171,742 268 3,240 4,996 163,238
Asset-backed:

CMOs 24,301 — 256 — 24,045

Other 42,150 — 16,806 4,820 20,524

S 1,009,485 S 8,764 S 185,851 $ 211,952 $ 602,917

The System’s guidelines do not specifically address limits on maturities as a means of managing its exposure

to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The manager of each fixed income portfolio is

responsible for determining the maturity and commensurate returns of their portfolio.

The collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs) held by the System as of December 31, 2016 are highly

sensitive to changes in interest rates.

d. Credit Risk

The System allows investment managers to apply discretion under the “Prudent Person” rule. Investments

are made, as a prudent person would be expected to act with discretion and intelligence, to seek reasonable

income, preserve capital, and, in general, avoid speculative investments.

The System’s fixed income investments as of December 31, 2016 were rated by S & P and/or an equivalent

national rating organization and the ratings are presented below (in thousands) using the S & P rating scale:

Fair Not
Investment type Value AAA AA A BBB BB B Cccc rated

U.S. agencies S 74,158 $ — $ 1,122 S ) ) ) ) — § 73,035

Domestic corporate 581,704 615 4,850 21,528 54,758 28,291 62,929 36,174 372,559

Municipal 5,254 — 3,181 1,215 858 — — — —

International

corporate 36,353 990 457 6,750 9,103 4,633 6,583 3,340 4,497

International

government 171,742 2,155 2,369 4,867 1,291 — 1,443 — 159,617

Asset-backed:

CMOs 24301 19,118 1,443 1,139 — — — — 2,601

Other 42,150 31,111 2,019 2,053 — — 303 — 6,664
$935662 $53,989 $15441 $37,552 $66,010 $32,924 $71,258 $39,514 $ 618,973

In addition to the above schedule, the System has approximately $73.8 million invested in U.S. government

securities, which are not rated as they are explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government.

e. Concentration Risk

The System has no investments, at fair value, except for pooled funds, that exceed 5% of the System’s total

investments as of December 31, 2016.

The System adheres to the provisions of M.G.L. c. 32, sec. 23(2); 840 C.M.R. 16-19, 21, 23, 26; and the Plan’s
own investment regulations when managing concentration risk.
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f.  Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment or a deposit. Similar to the investments in domestic equities, the System employs or encourages
its investment advisor to employ diversification, asset allocation, and quality strategies.

Risk of loss arises from changes in currency exchange rates. The System’s exposure to foreign currency risk
is presented on the following table (in thousands):

Cash and
short-term
Currency investments Fixed income Equity Alternative Total
Australian dollar S 186 § 641 S 24994 S — S 25,821
Brazilian real — 142 — — 142
Canadian dollar 109 434 216 — 759
Columbian Peso — 111 — — 111
Danish krone 25 149 9,227 — 9,401
Euro currency 163 3,308 186,712 7,670 197,853
Hong Kong dollar 51 — 17,370 — 17,421
Indonesian rupiah 7 227 171 — 405
Japanese yen 144 2,450 79,650 — 82,244
Malaysian ringgit 3 63 — - 66
Mexican peso 43 465 — — 508
New Israeli sheqel 3 — — — 3
New Zealand dollar 21 — 1,179 — 1,200
Norwegian krone 29 552 230 — 811
Polish zloty 9 251 — — 260
Pound sterling 248 1,027 81,459 8,880 91,614
Singapore dollar 43 148 5,771 — 5,962
South African rand 11 252 — — 263
South Korean won 51 268 5,872 — 6,191
Swedish krona 19 126 11,141 — 11,286
Swiss franc 12 147 43,720 — 43,879
Thailand Baht 28 — — — 28
Total securities

subject to

E?Jrﬁ'egnncy ik S 1205 $ 10761 $ 467,712 $ 16550 $ 496,228
U.S. dollars (securities

held by international

investment managers) - 35,476 207,020 — 242,496
Total international

investment

securities S 1,205 S 46,237 S 674,732 S 16,550 $ 738,724

g. PRIT Pooled Fund
The Commonwealth enacted Chapter 112, Section 17 of the Acts of 2010 that requires the System to invest
all assets, current and future, related to Boston Teachers in the Pension Reserves Investment Trust (PRIT)
fund. The PRIT fund is an external investment pool that is not registered with the Securities Exchange
Commission, but is subject to oversight provided by the Pension Reserves Investment Management Board
(the PRIM Board). The PRIM Board was created by legislation to provide general supervision of the
investments and management of PRIT. PRIT is not a rated fund.

The fair value of the PRIT fund is based on unit value as reported by management of the PRIT fund. The
PRIT fund issues separately available audited financial statements with a year end of June 30. The Plan is
required to provide a 30 day redemption notice for this investment.



46  City of Boston Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

As of December 31, 2016, the System had $1.4 billion invested in the PRIT pooled fund.

h. Derivatives
The System trades financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of its investing
activities to assistin managing exposure to market risks. The System uses forward foreign currency contracts
to hedge against the risk of future foreign currency fluctuations.

i. Securities Lending
The Public Employment Retirement Administration Commission of Massachusetts (PERAC) has issued
supplemental regulations that permit the System to engage in securities lending transactions. These
transactions are conducted by the System’s custodian, which lends certain securities owned by the System
to other broker dealers and banks pursuant to a form of loan agreement. The System and the borrowers
maintain the right to terminate all securities lending transactions on demand.

At the System’s direction, the custodian lends the System’s securities and receives cash (including both U.S.
andforeign currency), U.S. government securities, sovereign debt of foreign countries, and irrevocable bank
letters of credit as collateral. The custodian does not have the ability to pledge or sell collateral unless the
borrower defaults. Borrowers are required to deliver collateral in amounts equal to not less than 100% of
the market value of the loaned securities.

The System does not impose any restrictions on the amount of securities lent on its behalf by the custodian.
There were no failures by any borrowers to return loaned securities or pay distributions thereon and there
were no losses from a default of the borrowers or the custodian for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The cash collateral received by the custodian on each loan was invested, together with the cash collateral
of other qualified tax-exempt plan lenders, in a collective investment pool. The relationship between the
average maturities of the investment pool and loans was affected by the maturities of the loans made by
other plans that invested cash collateral in the collective investment pool, which the System could not
determine. At December 31, 2016, the System had no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the
amounts the System owed the borrowers exceeded the amounts owed to the System.

At December 31, 2016, the fair value of securities loaned by the System amounted to $271.3 million, against
which was held collateral of $279.8 million as follows (in thousands):

Short-term collateral investment pool $ 191,826
Noncash collateral 88,012
Total S 279,838

j.  Commitments
At December 31, 2016, the System had contractual commitments to provide $243 million of additional
funding to private equity funds, and $69 million to real estate funds.

k. Fair Value Measurements
The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles. The Plan has the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2016
(in thousands).



Short-term:
Domestic
International
Total short-term
U.S. equities:
Large cap core
Large cap growth
Large cap value
Small cap core
Small cap growth
Small cap value
Total U.S. equities
International equities
Fixed income securities:
U.S. treasury securities
Corporate debt securities

Global multi-sector fixed
income

Municipal

Collateralized mortgage
obligations

Other asset backed securities
U.S. Agencies

Total fixed income securities

Total investments by fair value
level

Government external
investment pool:
PRIT fund

Investments measured at the
net asset value (NAV):

Hedge fund of funds
Private equity funds
Private real estate funds

Total investments measured
at the NAV

Total investments at fair value
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Fair Value Measurements Using:

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other
for Identical Observable
Assets Inputs
Total at December 31,
2016 (Level 1) (Level 2)
S 50,398 S 50,398 S —
3,866 3,866 —
54,264 54,264 —
626,295 626,295 —
116,912 116,912 —
100,733 100,733 —
83,856 83,856 —
103,165 103,165 —
78,856 78,856 -
1,109,817 1,109,817 —
1,064,600 1,064,600 —
73,823 73,823 -
581,704 498,441 83,263
208,095 — 208,095
5,254 — 5,254
24,301 — 24,301
42,150 — 42,150
74,158 — 74,158
1,009,485 572,264 437,221
3,238,166 S 2,800,945 S 437,221

1,382,745

324,902
229,670
431,091

985,663

S 5,606,574
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Fixed income and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active
markets for those securities. Fixed income securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix
pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted
prices.

Thevaluation method forinvestments measured atthe netassetvalue (NAV) pershare (orits equivalent) is presented
on the following table (in thousands):

Investments Measured at the NAV

Unfunded Redemption Redemption
Fair Value Commitments Frequency Notice Period
Global multi-strateg\{
hedge fund of funds S 324,091 S — Quarterly 60-90 days
Real estate funds® 431,091 68,559 — —
Private equity funds® 229,670 242,817 — —

Global Multi-strategy Hedge Fund of Funds. This type includes investments in 6 hedge funds that invest in other hedge
fund managers. Management of each hedge fund is given full discretion to invest with direct hedge fund managers.
The fair value of the investments in this type have been determined using the NAV per share of the investments.

Real Estate Funds. This type includes 31 real estate funds that invest primarily in U.S. commercial real estate. The fair
values of the investments in this type have been determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the System’s
ownership interest in partners’ capital. Distributions from each fund will be received as the underlying investments
of the funds are liquidated. It is expected that the underlying assets of the funds will be liquidated over the next 7
to 10 years.

Private Equity Funds. This type includes 58 private equity funds that invest primarily in U.S. companies. These
investments can never be redeemed with the funds; instead, the nature of the investments in this type is that
distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the funds. It is expected that the
underlying assets of the funds will be liquidated over the next 7 to 10 years.

6. Property Taxes

Real and personal property taxes are based on values assessed as of each January 1. By law, all taxable property
must be assessed at 100% of fair cash value. Also by law, property taxes must be levied at least 30 days prior
to their due date. Once levied, these taxes are recorded as receivables, net of estimated uncollectible balances.
Property tax revenues have been recorded using the accrual and modified accrual basis of accounting as
described in note 2.

The City bills and collects its property taxes on a quarterly basis following the January 1 assessment. The due
dates for those quarterly tax billings are August 1, November 1, February 1, and May 1. Property taxes that
remain unpaid after the respective due dates are subject to penalties and interest charges.

Based on the City’s experience, most property taxes are collected during the year in which they are assessed.
Liening of properties on which taxes remain unpaid occurs annually. On December 13, 2016, all properties with
unpaid fiscal year 2016 property taxes were liened. The City ultimately has the right to foreclose on all properties
where the taxes remain unpaid.

A statewide property tax limitation known as “Proposition 2-1/2” limits the amount of increase in the property
tax levy in any fiscal year. Generally, Proposition 2-1/2 limits the total levy to an amount not greater than
2-1/2% of the total assessed value of all taxable property within the City. Secondly, the tax levy cannot increase
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by more than 2-1/2% of the prior year’s levy plus the taxes on property newly added to the tax rolls. Certain
provisions of Proposition 2-1/2 can be overridden by a citywide referendum.

Receivables

Receivables as of year-end for the City’s individual major governmental funds and nonmajor governmental
funds, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows (in thousands):

Other
Special Capital nonmajor
General revenue projects funds Total
Receivables:

Property taxes, current S 16,013 S — S — S — S 16,013
Other taxes 89,389 — — — 89,389
Intergovernmental 38,483 52,356 6,292 — 97,131
Other 22,555 35,054 657 31,347 89,613

Gross

receivables 166,440 87,410 6,949 31,347 292,146
Less allowance for
uncollectibles (79,250) — — — (79,250)
Net total

receivables S 87,190 S 87,410 S 6,949 S 31,347 S 212,896

a. Long -Term Receivable

The City participates in the Commonwealth’s school building assistance program, which is administered by
the MSBA. The MSBA provides financial assistance (up to 80% of total costs) to the City to build and/or
renovate schools. As of June 30, 2017, under this program, the City was due funds totaling $14.3 million.

In the General Fund, the receivable is offset by deferred inflows of resources because the revenue is not
considered available. The following is a schedule of the three-year paydown (in thousands) as of June 30,
2018 through 2020:

Anticipated
revenue
Fiscal year(s):
2018 S 6,720
2019 5,107
2020 2,462
Total $ 14,289

Notes Receivable

Section 108 is the loan guarantee provision of the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program.
Section 108 provides communities with a source of financing for economic development, housing
rehabilitation, public facilities, and large-scale physical development projects. Housing and Urban
Development (HUD) provides grants or loans to local governments, which in turn provides loans to
developers. As of June 30, 2017, under this program, the City determined that $35.1 million was collectible.
This amount is recorded in the City’s Special Revenue fund.
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b. Tax Abatement Programs

The City enters into tax abatement agreements that meet the reporting requirements of GASB Statement No. 77
"Tax Abatement Disclosures". Below are descriptions of the tax abatement programs and the amount of real
estate taxes that were abated for each program during the fiscal year.

Chapter 121A

Chapter 121A of the Massachusetts General Laws authorizes a local government in cooperation with its
redevelopment authorities to suspend the imposition of real and personal property taxes, betterments and
special assessments on properties determined to be “blighted” in order to encourage the redevelopment of
residential, commercial, civic, recreational, historic or industrial projects by Chapter 121A Corporations. The City
receives two principal sources of revenue from Chapter 121A Corporations. The first consists of an excise, as
determined under Section 10 of Chapter 121A, that each Chapter 121A Corporation must pay to the
Commonwealth that is then distributed to the City. The second form of revenue consists of payments as required
by a contract between the City and Chapter 121A Corporations as authorized by Chapter 121A, Section 6A that
provide for additional revenue beyond the excise provided under Section 10 of Chapter 121A.

Chapter 121B

Chapter 121B of the Massachusetts General Laws authorizes a local government, at their option and through
their redevelopment authorities, to undertake public actions to address substandard or blighted open areas for
residential, commercial, industrial, business, government, recreational, educational, hospital or other uses.
Chapter 121B project owners may be exempted from property taxes. In these cases, an agreement to make
annual in lieu of tax payments to the City is required.

Tax Increment Financing (TIF)

Tax Increment Financing (TIF) is a property tax incentive authorized under the Economic Development Incentive
Program pursuant to Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 40, Section 59 and administered by the
Commonwealth’s Economic Assistance Coordinating Council. In return for substantial job creation, a local
government may provide businesses with tax relief on the incremental growth in their property's value for up to
20 years. In Boston, TIF projects must be approved by the Mayor and City Council.

The following are estimated taxes abated for the year ended June 30, 2017 by tax abatement program (in
thousands):

Tax Abatement Program Estimated In Lieu of Tax Estimated

(1) Tax Amount Payments Taxes Abated

121A Urban

Redevelopment S 48,113 S 39,818 S 8,295

121B Urban

Redevelopment 14,973 10,337 4,636

Tax Increment Financing 29,559 25,406 4,153

Total S 92,645 S 75,561 S 17,084

(1) Individual tax abatement agreements are available upon request or through the City of Boston Assessing Department
website at boston.gov/assessing
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8. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 2017 was as follows
(in thousands):

Beginning Ending
balance Increases Decreases balance
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land S 29,325 S 24 S - S 29,349
Construction in progress 95,846 150,669 (132,783) 113,732
Total capital assets not
being depreciated 125,171 150,693 (132,783) 143,081
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 256,860 18,500 — 275,360
Buildings and improvements 2,252,464 72,004 — 2,324,468
Furniture and equipment 409,644 61,890 (14,178) 457,356
Infrastructure 786,585 68,361 (11,206) 843,740
Total capital assets
being depreciated 3,705,553 220,755 (25,384) 3,900,924
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements 98,545 12,675 — 111,220
Buildings and improvements 1,170,882 45,404 — 1,216,286
Furniture and equipment 306,270 36,960 (14,150) 329,080
Infrastructure 273,694 22,695 — 296,389
Total accumulated
depreciation 1,849,391 117,734 (14,150) 1,952,975
Total capital assets
being depreciated, net 1,856,162 103,021 (11,234) 1,947,949

Governmental activities
capita| assets’ net $ 1,981,333 s 253,714 $ (144,017) s 2,091,030
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the governmental activities as follows (in thousands):

General government S 11,465
Human services 2,653
Public safety 19,121
Public works, including depreciation of general infrastructure assets 23,285
Property and development 8,783
Parks and recreation 11,240
Library 5,874
Schools 35,063
Public health 250

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities S 117,734

9. Interfund Balances and Amounts Due To and From Component Units
Individual fund receivable and payable balances at June 30, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):

Interfund balances Receivable Payable
General S 1,868 S 170
Special revenue 1,745 3,405
Non-major governmental funds 6,942 6,980
Balances at June 30, 2017 S 10,555 S 10,555

The purpose of the internal balances is to fund cash flows due to timing differences between receipts and
disbursements and to record amounts owed for rent related to the Dudley Municipal Center property.

Amounts due to and from discretely presented component units at June 30, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):

Discrete component unit balances Receivable Payable

Primary government:
General S 6,709 S 2,331

Balances at June 30, 2017 6,709 2,331

Discretely presented component units:

TPL — 425
BPHC 2,331 559
BPDA — 5,725

2,331 6,709

Balances at June 30, 2017 S 9,040 § 9,040




10. Long-Term Obligations

Governmental Activities
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The following is a summary of the long-term obligations of the governmental activities of the City as of

June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Outstanding,

Interest beginning of Outstanding, Due within
rates year Additions Reductions end of year one year
Bonds Payable:
General Obligation Bonds 0-6.05% S 870,875 $150,000 S 86,115 S 934,760 S 75,115
General Obligation Refunding Bonds 0.125-5.0% 377,785 58,370 92,900 343,255 44,925
Total governmental general obligation bonds
payable $ 1,248,660 $208370 $ 179,015 $ 1,278,015 S 120,040
Add (deduct): -

Unamortized bond premiums/discounts net 138,956

Current portion of long-term debt (120,040)

S 1,296,931

Outstanding,
Interest beginning of Outstanding, Due within
rates year Additions Reductions end of year one year
Notes, Leases and Other long-term obligations:
Notes payable 2.10-7.18% S 76,619 §$ ) 2,353 S 74,266 S 5,446
Leases payable 62,266 31,935 24,736 69,465 23,034
Judgments and claims 8,310 1,000 3,759 5,551 4,470
Tax abatements 16,400 — 1,400 15,000 4,800
Workers' compensation 165,915 16,018 13,223 168,710 44,909
Health and life claims 24,730 336,309 337,158 23,881 23,881
Compensated absences 200,342 74,230 78,016 196,556 57,847
Landfill closure and postclosure care
costs 7,796 — 432 7,364 350
Pollution remediation 500 — — 500 —
Other postemployment benefits 697,700 184,537 159,181 723,056 —
Net pension liability 1,724,260 — 150,224 1,574,036 —
Total notes, leases, and other

long-term obligations $ 2,984,838 $644,029 $ 770,482 S 2,858,385 S 164,737

The payment of long-term obligations of the governmental activities, except for health and life claims, is the

responsibility of the City’s General Fund. Health and life claims are the responsibility of the City’s Internal Service

Fund.

The annual debt service requirements of the City’s general obligation bonds, notes and leases payable as of June 30,
2017, including subsidies to be received for Build America Bonds and Qualified School Construction Bonds, are as
follows (in thousands):
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General Obligation Bonds:
Year(s) ending June 30:

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023-2027
2028-2032
2033-2037

Notes Payable:

Year(s) ending June 30:

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023-2027
2028-2032
2033-2037
Thereafter

Leases Payable:

Year(s) ending June 30:

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023-2024

Principal Interest Subsidy Total
S 120,040 S 59,218 (3,203) S 176,055
113,940 49,768 (3,236) 160,572
104,280 44,922 (3,056) 146,146
102,055 39,884 (2,972) 138,967
105,815 35,127 (2,875) 138,067
429,320 104,677 (6,846) 527,151
215,200 35,677 (427) 250,450
87,365 662,481 — 749,846
S 1,278,015 S 1,031,754 (22,515) S 2,287,254
S 5,447 §$ 1,188 - S 6,635
1,661 1,102 — 2,763
1,801 1,075 — 2,876
1,677 1,032 — 2,709
2,269 977 — 3,246
12,829 3,967 — 16,796
16,682 2,728 — 19,410
14,142 903 — 15,045
17,758 1,250 — 19,008
S 74,266 S 14,222 - S 88,488
S 23,035 S 838 - S 23,873
18,903 563 — 19,466
11,825 337 — 12,162
7,419 198 — 7,617
4,312 100 — 4,412
3,971 54 — 4,025
$ 69,465 S 2,090 — S 71,555

On March 10, 2017, the City issued $150.0 million of general obligation bonds for various municipal capital
projects and on June 10, 2017 the City issued $58.4 million of refunding bonds for the purpose of refunding
certain outstanding general obligation bonds of the City totaling $63.5 million. Interest on the bonds are
payable semiannually each March 1 and September 1 until maturity in fiscal year 2037.

The cash flow difference and economic gain (the difference between the present value of the debt service
payments and old and new debt) obtained from the June 10, 2017 refunding were $5.1 million and $5.4

million, respectively.
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The City has entered into various capital lease agreements for equipment acquisition. Payments under
these agreements are subject to annual appropriation and, by statute, are not included in the City’s debt
limit calculations. The gross amount of assets acquired under the equipment lease agreements totals $69.5
million as of June 30, 2017. The City’s operating lease with DSRC is described in note 19.

No Obligation Debt

The City has outstanding industrial, commercial, and housing development bonds payable solely from
revenues of the respective enterprises that do not constitute an indebtedness of the City and are not
charged against its general credit. This aggregate amount is immaterial to the financial statements.

Defeased Debt

The principal amount of debt refunded through in-substance defeasance transactions for governmental
activities and still outstanding at June 30, 2017 was approximately $164.7 million.

Debt Capacity

The City is subject to a dual general debt limit: the normal debt limit and the double debt limit. Such limits
are equal to 5% and 10%, respectively, of the valuation of taxable property in the City as last equalized by
the Massachusetts Department of Revenue. Debt may be authorized up to the normal debt limit without
state approval. Authorizations under the double debt limit, however, require the approval of the
Commonwealth’s Secretary of Administration and Finance. Additionally, there are many categories of
general obligation debt, which are exempt from the debt limit but are subject to other limitations.

As of June 30, 2017, the City may issue $5.27 billion of additional general obligation debt under the debt
limit. General obligation debt of $735.9 million, subject to the debt limit, and $72.7 million, exempt from
the debt limit, are authorized but unissued as of June 30, 2017.

11. Retirement Plans

a. Plan Description
The City contributes to the BRS, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer qualified defined benefit governmental
pension plan. The System provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and
beneficiaries of the following government units:

(1) City of Boston

(2) Boston Planning & Development Agency

(3) Boston Housing Authority

(4) Boston Water and Sewer Commission

(5) Boston Public Health Commission

(6) Sheriff of Suffolk County (Retirees as of December 31, 2009, funded by the City)

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts also is an other contributing entity and makes contributions to BRS
related to City of Boston teachers.

The System is administered by a five person Board of Retirement consisting of the City Auditor, who serves
as a member ex officio, two members who are elected by the participants, in or retired from the service of
the System, a fourth member appointed by the Mayor, and a fifth member chosen by the other members.
A complete set of financial statements for BRS for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 can be obtained
through the BRS, Boston City Hall, Room 816, Boston, MA 02201 or by accessing the website
www.cityofboston.gov/retirement/investment.asp.
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Participation in the System is mandatory for all permanent, full time, and certain part-time employees
immediately upon the commencement of employment. Participants who resign from employment, or are
receiving workers’ compensation benefits, and who are not eligible to receive a retirement allowance are
entitled to request a refund of their accumulated total deductions. In addition, those participants who
resign voluntarily with less than ten years of service are entitled to receive 3% per year interest; all others
receive interest which has accrued on their cumulative deductions at the regular interest rate (0.1% at
December 31, 2016).

Employees with ten or more years of service having attained age 55 are entitled to pension benefits; an
earlier retirement is allowed upon completion of 20 years of service. The System provides for retirement
allowance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a participant’s highest consecutive three-year average annual
rate of regular compensation (highest consecutive five-year average for those members who join the System
on or after April 2, 2012). Benefit payments are based upon a participant’s age, length of creditable service,
regular compensation, and group classification. Participants become vested after ten years of creditable
service. Effective July 1, 1998 Chapter 32 of the M.G.L. assigned the authority to establish and amend
benefit provisions and grant cost-of-living increases for the plan to the Boston Retirement Board.

If a member in service dies due to causes unrelated to his or her job, the surviving spouse and/or surviving
dependent children may receive benefits, either in a lump sum or in the form of an annuity based on the
length of service, contributions and age. Inthe event there are no spouse and/or dependent children named,
other beneficiaries may be entitled to a lump-sum distribution. Participants who become permanently and
totally disabled from further duty may be eligible to receive accidental or ordinary disability retirement
benefits.

Accidental disability is provided to members with incapacitation resulting from a work-related injury or
hazard. Generally, annual pension benefits are provided based on 72% of the annual rate of regular
compensation a member earned while an active employee on date of injury or average annual rate of
regular compensation. Ordinary disability is available to any member whose permanent incapacitation is
not work-related and has attained ten years of creditable service. Such benefits are provided as if the
member had attained the age of 55 (or actual age if over 55) based on the amount of creditable service
actually earned. Limits are placed on how much a disability employee can earn from other sources while
collecting a disability retirement pension.

The City is legally responsible for funding the employer portion of all pensions associated with certain
retirees from the Suffolk County Sheriff’s Department (SCSD), which became part of the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts in 2010, pursuant to a cooperation agreement (the Agreement) dated June 28, 2011.
According to the Agreement, all employees of the SCSD, or its predecessor department, who retired prior
to January 1, 2010 remained retirees of the BRS. In addition, members of AFSCME Local 419 who retired
between January 1, 2010 and October 31, 2010, remained retirees of the BRS. Employer contributions
related to these retirees are the responsibility of the City under the Agreement.
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Special Funding Situations

The City is party to a special funding situation with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts with respect to
City of Boston Teachers. The Commonwealth is responsible for funding the employer portion of all teacher
pensions in the Commonwealth. All teachers in the Commonwealth are members of the Massachusetts
Teachers Retirement System, with the exception of teachers employed by the City, who are members of
BRS. Although Boston Teachers are members of BRS, the Commonwealth is the responsible contributing
entity as described in Chapter 112 of the Massachusetts General Laws Acts of 2010.

The Commonwealth is also legally responsible for reimbursing BRS for a portion of the benefits payments
for cost of living increases granted before July 1997 as described in Chapter 112 of the Massachusetts
General Laws Acts of 2010.

BRS Basis of Accounting

The System’s financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member
contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions are
recognized as additions in the period when they become due pursuant to formal statutory obligations.
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

Investments are reported at fair value. The following is a description of the valuation techniques and inputs
used for each major class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

(1) Short-term, Equity and Fixed Income Investments - Securities traded on a national or international
exchange arevalued atthelastreported sales price at current exchange rates. Certain fixed income securities
not traded on an exchange are valued using a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value
securities based on the securities' relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

(2) Pooled funds - the fair value of shares in managed investment pools is based on unit values reported
by the funds.

(3) Alternative investments include hedge funds, holding through commingled limited partnerships of
venture capital funds, including equity interests in early, middle, and later stage companies, as well as debt
and equity interests in buyouts, acquisitions, restructurings, mezzanine structures and special situations,
such as litigation or spin-off activities. These investments are carried at the limited partnership interest or
redemption value, the equivalent of net asset value, which approximates fair value. Values assigned to
such investments are based on available information and do not necessarily represent amounts that may
ultimately be realized in liquidation. Liquidation values depend largely on future circumstances, including
marketability, and frequently cannot reasonably be estimated until at, or near, the liquidation date.

(4) Real estate investments consist of interests in commercial properties held by various partnerships and
other limited liability entities, some of which utilize debt financing. Fair values of such holdings are reported
based on the net asset values of the entities, which are estimated using third-party appraisals and other
information provided by property managers.

Membership

Membership in the System consisted of the following at December 31, 2015:

Active plan members 20,498

Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits 14,485

Inactive members entitled to a return of contributions 8,690

Inactive members entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 1,050
Total membership W

Total number of participating employers 6
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d. Contributions
Plan members are required to contribute to the System. Depending on their employment date, active members
must contribute a range of 5% — 11% of their regular gross compensation. Non-teacher members hired after January
1, 1979 must contribute an additional 2% of regular compensation in excess of $30,000. Participating employers
are required to pay into the System their share of the remaining System-wide actuarially determined contribution,
which is apportioned among the employers based on an actuarial computation. The contributions of plan members
and the participating employers are governed by Chapter 32 of the M.G.L. For the year ended December 31, 2016,
the System was due $380.2 million from all employers and the Commonwealth and received $380.2 million in these
contributions. For the year ended June 30, 2017, inclusive of contributions related to SCSD, and exclusive of
contributions related to the City’s teachers, the City’s required and actual contribution was $179.5 million. For the
year ended June 30, 2017, the Commonwealth’s required and actual contribution related to City Teachers was
$132.5 million. The amount is reported as intergovernmental revenue and retirement cost expenditures in the
General Fund.

e. Legally Required Reserve Accounts
The balance in the System’s legally required reserves (on the statutory basis of accounting) at December 31,
2016 is as follows (in thousands):

Description Amount Purpose

Annuity savings fund S 1,700,074 Active members' contribution balance

Annuity reserve fund 449,058 Retired members' contribution account

Military service fund 50 Members' contribution account while on military
leave

Pension reserve fund 3,466,207 Akr)noun'ts appropriated to fund future retirement
enefits

Pension fund 235,694 Remaining net position

S 5,851,083

All reserve accounts are funded at levels required by state statute.

f. City Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2017, the City reported a liability of $1.48 billion for its proportionate share of the BRS net
pension liability measured as of December 31, 2016. This net pension liability includes amounts related to
SCSD retirees and reflects a reduction for the special funding situations with the Commonwealth. The
amount recognized by the City as its proportionate share of the net pension liability, the proportionate
share related to the Commonwealth special funding situations, and the total portion of the net pension
liability associated with the City measured at December 31, 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

City's proportionate share of net pension liability S 1,483,824
Commonwealth's proportionate share of net pension liability

associated with the City 2,345,447
Total S 3,829,271

To determine employers' proportionate share of the net pension liability, separate calculations of net
pension liability were performed for each of the Commonwealth special funding situations, SCSD retirees,
and the remaining non-teacher group. At December 31, 2016, the City was allocated 100% of the net



Notes to Basic Financial Statements ¢ 59

pension liability for SCSD retirees and 81.71% of the remaining non-teacher group based on its proportion
of 2015 required employer contributions related to this group. The City’s proportion of the collective BRS
net pension liability at December 31, 2016 was 35.66% compared to 36.78% at December 31, 2015.

FortheyearendedlJune 30,2017, inthe Government-wide financial statements, the City recognized pension
expense of $454.2 million and revenue of $239.5 million related to the Commonwealth special funding
situations. At June 30, 2016, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to pensions from the
following sources (in thousands):

Deferred Deferred

outflows of inflows of

resources resources

Net difference between projected and actual investment

earnings S 262,105 $ —
Difference between expected and actual experience — 119,935
Changes in assumptions 3,716 50,056
Changes in employer proportion 20,873 —
S 286,694 S 169,991

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources at June 30, 2017
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows (in thousands):

Year ended June 30:

2018 S 61,486
2019 61,486
2020 39,525
2021 (22,194)
2022 (23,600)

$ 116,703

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
BRS and additions to/deductions from the BRS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same
basis as they are reported for the BRS.

g. Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability for the December 31, 2016 measurement date was determined by using an
actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2015, with updated procedures used to roll forward the total pension
liability to December 31, 2016. The measurement at December 31, 2016 applied the following actuarial
assumptions:

Inflation 3.25% for BRS excluding teachers and 4.5% for teachers
7.5% to 4% percent, indexed by year of service, for teachers
Salary Scale and 4.5% to 4% for non-teachers
Investment rate of return, 7.75% for BRS excluding teachers and 7.5% for teachers,
including inflation net of expenses, including inflation

Cost of living adjustments 3 % of first $13,000

) RP-2000 mortality tables projected using scale BB2D from 2009 for BRS excluding teachers,
Mortality and RP-2014 mortality tables projected using scale BB2D for teachers
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The salary scale for non-teachers indicated above was a reduction from a range of 5.0% to 4.5% used in the
measurement of the total pension liability as of December 31, 2015. Additionally, the investment rate of
return of 7.5% for teachers indicated above was a reduction from the 8.0% used in the December 31, 2015
measurement.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the target asset
allocation as of the actuarial valuation date of December 31, 2015 for BRS, excluding Teachers, are
summarized below:

Long-term
expected
Target real rate of
Asset class allocation return
Domestic equity 25% 6.44%
International developed markets equity 19 7.40
Emerging markets equity 8 9.42
Core fixed income 11 2.03
High yield fixed income 13 4.43
Real estate 10 5.00
Commodities — 4.43
Hedge fund, GTAA, Risk parity 7 3.75
Private equity 7 10.47

100%

h. Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.75% for BRS excluding Teachers. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that contributions from plan members
will be made at the current contribution rate and that contributions of participating employers and the
Commonwealth will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on
those assumptions, the BRS's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability.
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Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the BRS Net Pension Liability

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the BRS net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.75% for the BRS excluding Teachers, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the
BRS net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower

(6.75%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.75%) than the current rate for BRS excluding Teachers (in
thousands):

City's net pension liability

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
(6.75)% Rate (7.75%) (8.75)%
June 30, 2017 S 2,044,641 $ 1,483,824 S 1,008,453

Non-contributory retirees and beneficiaries

In addition to appropriation payments to cover current and future benefit payments of City employees covered
by the BRS, the City funds noncontributory retirement benefits for pensioners whose employment predates the
BRS, certain veterans who meet certain state law requirements, former employees retired under Massachusetts
Special Acts and families receiving killed-in-the-line-of-duty benefits. These retirees and beneficiaries receive
benefits for their lifetime. As of June 30, 2017, the date of the City’s Actuarial Valuation for the City’s Non-
contributory and Special Legislation Retirees, the City is providing such benefits to 71 pensioners; these benefits
are funded on a pay-as-you-go basis with annual benefits of approximately $4.0 million. The City’s net pension
liability for the noncontributory retirees and beneficiaries is $90.2 million, as of June 30, 2017.

The actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016 was used to determine the City’s pension liability and pension
expense as of June 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Total Pension liability S 90,212
Plan fiduciary net position —
Plan net pension liability S 90,212
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total

pension liability —%
Interest S 2,860
Recognized portion of current year assumption change (11,035)
Pension expense (income) S (8,175)

The pension expense reflects immediate recognition of the change in assumptions because the group of retirees
and beneficiaries is assumed to be closed.

There are no deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to these pensions. The discount rate used to
determine the total pension liability was 3.585% as of June 30, 2017, which was the high quality tax-exempt
general obligation municipal bond rates (20-Bond GO Index) as of June 30, 2017, as published by The Bond
Buyer. The mortality assumptions are the same as used in the Boston Retirement System Actuarial Valuation
Report as noted in footnote 11(g).
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12. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

GASB No.74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans
Plan Description

During fiscal 2017, the City implemented GASB No. 74. The City sponsors and participates in the Other
Postemployment Benefit Trust Plan (the Plan) an agent multi-employer defined benefit OPEB plan that provides
healthcare and insurance benefits, in accordance with state statute and City ordinance, to participating retirees
and their beneficiaries. The Boston Public Health Commission, a discretely presented component unit, also
participates and contributes to the plan. The OPEB plan is administered by the City and does not issue a stand-
alone financial report.

Membership in the Plan

Chapter 32B of M.G.L. establishes the eligibility requirements for membership of the Plan. As of June 30, 2015,
the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, the membership of the Plan consisted of the the following:

Active plan members 15,195
Inactive members

receiving benefits 14,897
Inactive members

entitled to but not yet receiving benefits —

Total membership 30,092

Total number of participating employers 2

City ordinance grants the authority to the City to establish a healthcare benefit trust fund for purposes of
providing retiree healthcare benefits to employees of the City and the Boston Public Health Commission.

GASB No.45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions

Membership of the City

In addition to the pension benefits described in note 11, the City provides postemployment healthcare and life
insurance benefits, in accordance with state statute and City ordinance, to participating retirees and their
beneficiaries. Participating retirees are City retirees. As of June 30, 2015, the most recent actuarial valuation
date, approximately 14,700 retirees and 14,300 active members meet the eligibility requirements as put forth
in Chapter 32B of M.G.L.

Medical and prescription drug benefits are provided to all eligible retirees not enrolled in Medicare through a
variety of plans offered by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Harvard Pilgrim HealthCare, and
Neighborhood Health Plan. Medical and prescription drug benefits are provided to retirees enrolled in Medicare
through supplemental and Medicare Advantage plans offered by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts,
Harvard Pilgrim HealthCare, and Tufts Health Plan.

Groups 1 and 2 retirees, including teachers, with at least 10 years or 20 years of creditable service are eligible
at age 55 or any age, respectively. Group 4 retirees with at least 10 years or 20 years of creditable service are
eligible at age 45 or any age, respectively. Retirees on accidental disability retirement are eligible at any age,
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while ordinary disability requires 10 years of creditable service. The surviving spouse is eligible to receive pre
and postretirement death benefits, as well as medical and prescription drug coverage.

a. Funding Policy
Employer and employee contribution rates are governed by the respective collective bargaining
agreements. The OPEB Plan is currently funded on a pay-as-you-go basis plus periodic advance funding
contributions as amounts are available. The employers and plan members share the cost of benefits. As of
June 30, 2015, the valuation date, the plan members contribute 11% to 28.50% of the monthly premium
cost, depending on the plan in which they are enrolled. The City contributes the balance of the premium
cost.

b. Basis of Accounting
The OPEB Trust Fund is prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Employer contributions to the plan
are recognized when made. Benefits are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of
each plan.

Investments are reported at fair value. Fair value of securities held directly are based on quotations from
national securities exchanges.

¢. Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

GASB Statement No. 45 requires governments to account for OPEB, primarily healthcare, on an accrual basis.
The effect is the recognition of an actuarially required contribution as an expense on the Government-wide
Statement of Activities when a future retiree earns their postemployment benefit. To the extent that an
entity does not fund their actuarially required contribution, a postemployment benefit liability is recognized
on the Government-wide Statement of Net Position over time. OPEB benefits are reported as expenditures
on a pay-as-you-go basis in the governmental funds.

The City’s annual OPEB expense is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer
(ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The
ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the normal cost
each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liability over a period of 30 years. The following table shows
the components of the City’s annual OPEB cost for the year ended June 30, 2017, the amount actually
contributed to the plan, and the change in the City’s net OPEB obligation based on an actuarial valuation as
of June 30, 2015 (in thousands):

ARC S 167,787
Interest on net OPEB obligation 48,839
Adjustment to ARC (32,090)

Annual OPEB cost 184,536
Contributions made (159,180)

Change in net OPEB obligation 25,356
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year 697,700

Net OPEB obligation - end of year S 723,056
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The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB
obligation were as follows (in thousands):

Percentage of

OPEB Cost Net OPEB

Fiscal Year Ended  Annual OPEB Cost Contributed Obligation
2017 S 184,536 86% S 723,056
2016 178,099 84% 697,700
2015 175,602 92% 669,887

Funded Status and Funding Progress of the Plan
The funded status of the OPEB plan in the aggregate and the City’s individual OPEB Plan as of the most
recent actuarial valuation at June 30, 2015 was as follows (in thousands):

Plan City
AAL S 2,597,763 S 2,489,239
Actuarial value of plan assets 335,205 324,261
UAAL S 2,262,558 S 2,164,978
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 12.90 % 13.03%
Covered payroll (active plan members) S 1,366,047 S 1,304,331
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 166 % 166%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about
future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded
status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the City are subject to continual revision as
actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The
schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following the Notes to
Financial Statements, presents multiyear trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan
assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

d. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as
understood by the City and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each
valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the City and plan members to that
point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce short-
term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term
perspective of the calculations.

The most recent actuarial valuation was performed as of June 30, 2015. The projected unit credit cost
method was used. The actuarial assumptions included a 7.0% investment rate of return, an inflation rate
of 4.5% and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 7.0 - 8.0% initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate
rate of 5.0% after 5—6 years. The actuarial value of assets was determined using the fair value of investments.
The healthcare cost trend rate differs between the master medical and other healthcare plans. The City’s
UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of pay on an open basis. The remaining amortization period
at July 1, 2015 was 30 years.
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e. Rate of return
For the year ended June 30, 2017, the annual money-weighted rate of return on investments, net of
investment expense was 11.65% . The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance,
net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

13. Transfers

Transfers and their purposes during the year ended June 30, 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

Governmental funds

Special Capital Other
General revenue projects governmental
Primary government:
Parking Meter Fees S — S (15,000) S 15,000 S —
Parks and Recreation (8,000) — 8,000 —
Debt Service (1,455) — — 1,455
Total S (9,455) S (15,000) S 23,000 S 1,455

14. Excess of Expenditures over Budgets

The City had expenditures in excess of their budgeted amounts for the year ended June 30, 2017 in the following
categories (in thousands):

Public Safety:

Show Removal S 2,311
Police 273
S 2,584

The excess expenditures reported above are allowed under the budgetary laws governing the City.
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15. Fund Balance Classification Details

The components of fund balance for the City’s governmental funds as of June 30, 2017 are as follows (in

thousands):
Other
Special Capital governmental
Fund Balances: General Revenue Projects funds
Nonspendable
Permanent fund principal S - S - S - S 10,041
Subtotal — — — 10,041
Restricted for:
General government — — 14,782 1,314
Human services — — 1,137 —
Police — — 15,469 —
Fire — — 2,832 —
Public Works — — 28,288 —
Property and Development — 35,056 13,382 33,560
Parks and recreation — — 14,825 38,859
Library — — 2,099 —
Schools — - 28,428 10,141
Subtotal — 35,056 121,242 83,874
Assigned to:
General government 19,295 12,476 — —
Human services 409 1,199 — —
Police 2,739 — — —
Fire 1,567 — — —
Other public safety 817 133,750 — —
Public works 1,945 908 — —
Property and development 2,284 57,793 — —
Parks and recreation 745 2,689 — —
Library 141 121 — —
Schools 24,244 11,423 — —
Judgments and claims 24,620 — — —
Catastrophic loss 32,968 — — —
Housing initiative 21,034 — — —
Debt service 7,162 — — —
Employee Related Costs 70,000 — — —
Designated for subsequent year expense 73,238 — — —
Subtotal 283,208 220,359 — —
Unassigned 702,080 — — —
Total fund balances S 985,288 S 255,415 S 121,242 § 93,915

16. Commitments and Contingencies

The City has assigned $78.8 million in encumbrances for purchase orders, contracts, and judgments and claims
in the General Fund, $12.3 million in the Special Revenue Fund, $22.8 million in the Capital Projects Fund, and
$262,000 in Other Governmental Funds.



Notes to Basic Financial Statements ¢ 67

Infrastructure Investment Incentive Transactions

Infrastructure Investment Incentive transactions (I-Cubed) are governed by Chapter 293 of the Acts of 2006
(the Act). Under the Act, the funding for the projects associated with these transactions is provided through
proceeds of bonds issued by the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency (MDFA) and is to be used for
approved public infrastructure improvements undertaken by the developer. The debt service on these bonds
will be paid by the Commonwealth through State Infrastructure Development Assistance to the extent that
New State Tax Revenues generated once the project is operational offset the amounts paid to MDFA to cover
the debt service. When this is not the case, the participating municipality or developer generally will be
responsible for the shortfall depending on the transaction agreement. The Act provides for the establishment
of a Municipal Liquidity Reserve (MLR) from which the participating municipality can draw to offset any required
payments made to the Commonwealth. The MLR is generally funded by the developer either through cash or
a direct pay letter of credit.

During fiscal year 2015, the City executed two Infrastructure Development Assistance Agreements (IDAA) for
I-Cubed transactions. Under the first IDAA, $32.4 million in bonds were issued by MDFA in September 2015.
Also, an MLR of $1.2 million was established at the time of the issuance of the bonds. This reserve is equal to
twice the maximum annual debt service payable in any fiscal year on the bonds issued under the indenture.
The Cityis obligated for any shortfalls between debt service on the bonds and New State Tax Revenues. However,
it has the right to assess the developer or draw from the MLR for any payments on such obligations. The City
had no obligation for any shortfalls at June 30, 2017. The City also recorded $11.2 million in donated capital
assets in fiscal year 2016 for improvements to City-owned infrastructure made by the developer. These assets
have been recorded at acquisition value which has been defined as "the price that would be paid to acquire an
asset with equivalent service potential in an orderly market transaction at the acquisition date."

Under the second IDAA, $10.0 million in bonds were issued by MDFA in fiscal year 2016. The City is obligated
for any shortfalls between debt service on the bonds and New State Tax Revenues. However, it has the right
to assess the developer or draw from the MLR for one-third of any payments on such obligations. The City had
no obligation for any shortfalls at June 30, 2017.

In connection with this second I-Cubed transaction, the City has a leasehold interest in a portion of the parking
garage, which represents the publicinfrastructure improvements under the transaction, created under a master
lease and its assignments and a sublease. With the execution of the master lease and sublease agreements,
along with the assignment agreements transferring the interests of the owner of the parking garage to the City
through the BPDA, the City essentially becomes the lessee on the master lease and the sub-landlord on the
sublease. This results in the City having no responsibility for the operation of the parking garage and having
the right to collect from the sub-lessee Section 121A PILOT payments from 2015 through 2036 and then base
rent from 2036 through 2055, both of which are largely based on a percentage of gross revenues of the parking
garage. The City has no obligation for any payments as lessee under the master lease.

17. Public Health System

Effective July 1, 1996, the City’s Department of Health and Hospitals and Trustees of Health and Hospitals were
abolished. Substantially all their assets and liabilities, including title to the City’s two hospitals, BCH and Boston
Specialty and Rehabilitation Hospital (BSRH), were transferred to and assumed by BPHC.

Also effective July 1, 1996, the operations of BCH and BSRH were consolidated with the operations of the Boston
University Medical Center under the licensure and control of the BMC.
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The BPHC receives the majority of its funding from federal and state grants, and a City appropriation. During
fiscal year 2017, the City appropriated $77.3 million to the BPHC. As described below, the BPHC uses the
appropriation to pay debt service on certain general obligation bonds, for administrative purposes and to
support the various public health programs run by the BPHC. The City has budgeted $79.3 million for the BPHC
for fiscal year 2018.

Due from BPHC/BMC

General obligation bonds issued by the City between December 1967 and October 1995, for which BPHC was
responsible for repayment, have been fully repaid as of June 30, 2017. These bonds pertained to the property
and operations of the BCH Campus, South Block Campus, BSRH Campus, Emergency Medical Services
Operations, and the Long Island Campus.

In addition, the BPHC is also responsible for reimbursing the City for health insurance, equipment lease
payments, workers’ compensation, and other miscellaneous expenses paid for by the City.

18. Risk Management

The Risk Management Program focuses on a planned strategy of self-insurance, supported by strong prevention
and cost reduction efforts, financial reserves and catastrophic insurance. The City is self-insured in most areas
of risk including general liability, property and casualty, workers’ compensation, certain employee health care
costs and unemployment compensation.

The City’s legal liabilities are capped per M.G.L. Chapter 258, and Corporation Counsel defends the City in any
lawsuits that arise from the normal course of operations. For workers’ compensation, the City is exempt from
state insurance requirements per M.G.L. Chapter 152 Section 25B. The City’s Workers’ Compensation Division
as well as the Police and Fire Departments manage employee injury claims internally. The City budgets for and
funds legal claims and employee injury costs through the General Fund, charging specific departments for their
share of costs in order to promote awareness and prevention efforts.

The City provides health insurance coverage for employees and retirees through a variety of insured and self-
insured plans. The City budgets for and funds the premium costs for all plans through the General Fund. Self-
insured plans are financially managed through the Internal Service Fund established in compliance with M.G.L.
Chapter 32B, Section 3A. The guiding policy for the City of Boston Health Claims Trust Fund states that accounting
for the fund will be in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and will ensure that all
contributions and actual costs are shared between employers and their subscribers according to predetermined
ratios.

For unexpected large losses, the City maintains a catastrophic risk reserve, which has an available balance of
$26.1 million at the end of fiscal 2017. To further protect the City’s assets and finances from adverse loss,
commercial insurance is purchased strategically for certain exposures. A catastrophic property insurance policy
provides $100.0 million for all risk protection after a $10.0 million deductible. Boiler and machinery losses are
insured up to $25.0 million per incident, after a $50 thousand deductible.

The City has established a liability based on historical trends of previous years and attorneys’ estimates of
pending matters and lawsuits in which the City is involved. Changes in the self-insurance liability for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 are as follows (in thousands):
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Internal service fund

2017 2016
Health and life claims, beginning of year S 24,730 S 22,553
Incurred claims 336,309 346,695
Payments of claims attributable to events of both the
current and prior fiscal years:
Health and life (337,158) (344,518)
Health and life claims, end of year S 23,881 S 24,730

Government-wide statements

2017 2016
Judgments and claims, beginning of year S 190,625 S 183,157
Incurred claims 7,301 28,747
Payments of claims attributable to events of both the current
and prior fiscal years:
Workers' compensation (13,223) (14,130)
Unemployment compensation (3,493) (3,649)
Tax abatement liability (1,400) (2,400)
Court judgments (3,759) (1,100)
Judgments and claims, end of year S 189,261 S 190,625

The liabilities above have not been discounted to their present value. Incurred claims represent the total of a
provision for events of the current fiscal year and any change in the provision for events of the prior fiscal years.

There are numerous pending matters and lawsuits in which the City is involved. The City attorneys’ estimate
that the potential claims against the City not recorded in the accompanying basic financial statements resulting
from such litigation would not materially affect the basic financial statements.

19. Dudley Square Realty Corporation (DSRC) and Ferdinand Building Development Corporation (FBDC)

As described in note 1, the DSRC is a Qualified Active Low-Income Community Business, and is the owner and
developer of the Dudley Municipal Center property. FBDC is the leverage lender of the Dudley Municipal Center
property. As the project sponsor during fiscal year 2013, the City authorized and issued $28.9 million in general
obligation bonds and transferred proceeds to FBDC. FBDC, utilizing these bond proceeds, made loans totaling
$29.3 million to two investment funds. As of June 30, 2017, $29.3 million is due to FBDC on such loans. The
investment funds made these proceeds and funds from additional investments available to eight leverage
lenders that made loans in the aggregate amount of $40.8 million to DSRC to finance the Dudley Municipal
Center project. This amount is recorded in the City’s Notes and Leases Payable line of note 10. With the
completion of the Dudley Municipal Center project, FBDC is the master tenant and leases the project from
DSRC.

FBDC subleases the majority of space of the project to the City. The schedule of payments is the same in the
lease and the sublease as follows (in thousands):
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Year(s) ending June 30: Lease payments
2018 S 551
2019 595
2020 638
2021 638
2022 638
2023-2027 9,454
2028-2032 10,150
2033-2037 10,150
2038-2043 10,150
2043-2047 10,150
2048 1,015

Total S 54,129

20. Discretely Presented Component Units
The following presents condensed financial statements for each of the discretely presented component units:

Condensed Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2017
(In thousands)

BPHC BPDA TPL EDIC Total
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and investments $ 34,419 $ 23,045 $ 2,175 $ 11,198 $ 70,837
Cash and investments held

by trustee — — 12,583 — 12,583
Receivables, net:

Other 24,248 15,109 1,762 8,121 49,240
Other assets 114 — 8 1,961 2,083
Due from primary

government 2,331 — - — 2,331

Total current assets 61,112 38,154 16,528 21,280 137,074
Noncurrent assets:
Cash and investments held

by trustee — — 60,387 - 60,387
Notes receivable 42,703 125,530 25 - 168,258
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable 12,193 8,161 - 7,186 27,540

Depreciable 12,907 8,529 250 33,018 54,704
Total noncurrent

assets 67,803 142,220 60,662 40,204 310,889

Total assets 128,915 180,374 77,190 61,484 447,963

Deferred outflows of resources:

Deferred amount for
pension costs 27,858 3,249 - - 31,107
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Condensed Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2017
(In thousands)

BPHC BPDA TPL EDIC Total
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Warrants and accounts
payable S 17,413 S 3,228 §$ 611 S 3,204 $ 24,456
Accrued liabilities:
Other 662 536 482 2,669 4,349
Current portion of
long-term debt and leases 1,285 — — 790 2,075
Due to primary government 559 — 425 — 984
Unearned revenue 2,056 1,899 — 296 4,251
Total current
liabilities 21,975 5,663 1,518 6,959 36,115
Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds notes and leases due
in more than one year $ 3,584 S 3,18 $ - S 11,392 $ 18,162
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,225 128,859 - 831 130,915
OPEB 93,541 5,068 — — 98,609
Unearned revenue 43,729 22,246 — — 65,975
Net pension liability 140,757 17,851 — — 158,608
Due to primary government - 5,725 - - 5,725
Total noncurrent
liabilities 282,836 182,935 - 12,223 477,994
Total liabilities 304,811 188,598 1,518 19,182 514,109
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred amount for
pension costs 21,541 3,755 - - 25,296
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 20,231 13,675 250 28,022 62,178
Restricted - - 73,337 704 74,041
Unrestricted (189,810) (22,405) 2,085 13,576 (196,554)

Total net position $ (169,579) $ (8730) $ 75672 $ 42302 $  (60,335)
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Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Year ended June 30, 2017
(in thousands)

BPHC BPDA TPL EDIC Total
Expenses S 189,169 S 28,675 S 18,052 S 42,480 S 278,376
Program revenues:
Charges for services 57,700 8,739 2,206 31,004 99,649
Operating grants and
contributions 44,814 19,514 17,397 17,481 99,206
Capital grants and contributions 366 — — - 366
Total program
revenues 102,880 28,253 19,603 48,485 199,221
Net program revenues (expenses) (86,289) (422) 1,551 6,005 (79,155)
General revenues:
Investment income 54 78 267 10 409
Sale of property — 3,523 2,033 — 5,556
City appropriation 77,267 - - - 77,267
Miscellaneous income 384 — 2,767 128 3,279
Total general
revenues 77,705 3,601 5,067 138 86,511
Change in net position (8,584) 3,179 6,618 6,143 7,356
Net position - beginning of year (160,995) (11,909) 69,054 36,159 (67,691)

Net position - end of year $ (169,579) $ (8,730) $ 75,672 $ 42,302 $ (60,335)
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(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands)

Schedules of Funding Progress - Other Postemployment Benefits

Required Supplementary Information e 73

Actuarial UAALas a
Actuarial Actuarial accrued Unfunded Funded percentage of
valuation value of liability AAL (UAAL) ratio Covered covered payroll
date assets (a) (AAL) (b) (b-a) (a/b) payroll (c) ((b-a)/c)
OPEB - City
06/30/15 $324,261 $2,489,239 $2,164,978 13.03% $1,304,331 166.0%
06/30/13 204,567 2,257,699 2,053,132 9.06% 1,021,081 201.1%
06/30/11 109,736 2,595,942 2,486,206 4.23% 1,045,488 237.8%
OPEB - Plan
06/30/15 $335,205 $2,597,763 $2,262,558 12.90% $1,366,047 165.6%
06/30/13 209,779 2,352,101 2,142,322 8.92% 1,080,837 198.2%
06/30/11 111,038 2,704,200 2,593,162 4.11% 1,102,402 235.2%

Schedules of Employer Contributions - Other Postemployment Benefits

Annual
required Percentage
contribution contributed
OPEB - City
June 30, 2017 $167,787 95%
June 30, 2016 162,018 93%
June 30, 2015 158,387 102%
OPEB - Plan
June 30, 2017 $178,411 90%
June 30, 2016 172,045 90%
June 30, 2015 168,281 99%

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Schedule of City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Boston Retirement System

(Amounts in millions)

2017 2016 2015

City's proportion of the net pension liability 35.66% 36.78% 36.82%
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability S 1,484 S 1,622 S 1,417
Commonwealth's proportionate share of net pension

liability associated with the City 2,345 2,426 2,092
Total S 3,829 S 4,048 S 3,509
City's covered-employee payroll (for the period ended on

the measurement date December 31, 2015 and 2014) S 1,475 S 1,475 S 1,423
City's proportionate share of the net pension

liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 100.61% 109.97% 99.58%
BRS fiduciary net position as a percentage of the

total pension liability 58.44% 55.76% 59.59%

Note: Schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Historical information prior to the implementation of
GASB Statement No. 68 is not required if the information is not available. Additional years will be displayed as they
become available.

Schedule of City's Contributions - Boston Retirement System

(Amounts in millions)

2017 2016 2015

Actuarially determined contribution S 193 S 179 S 165
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 205 179 165
Contribution surplus (deficiency) S 12 S — S -
Covered-employee payroll (for the fiscal

year ended June 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015) S 1,467 S 1,467 S 1,442
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll 13.97% 12.20% 11.44%

Note: Schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Historical information prior to the implementation of
GASB Statement No. 68 is not required if the information is not available. Additional years will be displayed as they
become available.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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General Fund

“Make Way for Ducklings” — Boston Public Garden

The General Fund is the operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all revenues,
expenditures and other financial resources except those required to be accounted for in other funds.
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General Fund
Comparative Balance Sheets

June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
ASSETS:
Cash aNd INVESTMENTS ....ccvviiieiieieiccee ettt et e eetee e ere et e e saaeeeaeeessaeesaeeenraeenneas S 1,153,840 $ 1,106,679
Receivables:
Property TaXes ....ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiriec e 18,520 13,818
MOtOr VENICIE / DOAt @XCISE ..covveeeeeeiiii et 26,650 23,896
INTEIZOVEINMENTAL «..eiiiiiiiie e e e e e s e are e e ssabae e s sbaeeeeas 38,483 42,415
Departmental and OTNET .......ccueii e are e 22,555 19,224
Tax title aNd POSSESSION ..veiiiieiiieeiiieiiciie e ertee et e e e e e e st e e sste e e ssabeeeesbaeeeennns 60,668 80,542
TOtal RECEIVADIES uvvvieiiiiiiiieiic et aaaees 166,876 179,895
Allowance:
Motor VEhicle / DOat EXCISE ......covueeeieieiiecree ettt ettt sre e e s eae e e (19,018) (18,242)
Tax title AN POSSESSION ..veiiiiiiieiiiiiieeriie e ertee s ereee e et e e e st e e sste e e s sebeeeesbaeeeennns (60,668) (80,542)
Lo =1 Y] Fo VY7 [ o Tl USSR (79,686) (98,784)
NET FECEIVADIE oeeeieiieieeeee e e e e e e be e e e e e e e estraaeeeeeeesnnnneees 87,190 81,110
DUE from Other FUNAS .o e s e e e e e s saanrees 1,868 2,412
Due from COMPONENT UNIES .iiveuviieiiiiieieiiiieetieeesiee st e sre e e s stee e s saae e s sbseeesnnbeeesnaneeas 6,709 8,615
TORAL @SSOES ...ttt st ettt e et st e st be s eaeeeats S 1,249,607 $ 1,198,816
LIABILITIES:
Warrants and accounts Payable ..........cceooeeiieiieie e S 48,704 S 43,997
Accrued liabilities:
Payroll and related COSES ......ciiviiiiiiiiiiiriiee et srae e s sareeeeas 148,379 141,068
(DT oo 1y 3= g o o o =T oSSR 26,032 22,801
D TU T o oY =T o (0] oo [ TP 170 945
DU tO COMPONENT UNIES .uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb ababababababerebeeees 2,331 2,978
TOtal [IABIlItIES .....eeeieeeieieeeee et e et seaae s S 225,616 S 211,789
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Revenue not considered available ...........cooviiiiiiiiiiiie s 38,703 38,024
FUND BALANCE:
XY = =Y P 283,208 266,222
(LT Ty Fq o= o USRS 702,080 682,781
Total fuNd balance ..o 985,288 949,003
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance .................. S 1,249,607 $ 1,198,816

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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General Fund

Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
REVENUES:
Real and personal property taxes .......c.cceeevvereeresesesereeneneeneas S 2,079,693 S 1,967,687
EXCISES uvveerireiieeeieeesiee st e et e st e sreeste e sbeesabeesbeesabeesneesabeenanee e 212,797 236,263
Payments in lieu of taXes .....ccoovvveririieeiiieeccec e, 80,501 90,215
FINES 1ottt ettt e st s e e st e e s ae e ae e e nane e 63,046 60,953
INVESTMENT INCOME ..uiiiii e 2,329 184
Licenses and PEIMILS ......coccveeeeiiieeeeiieeeecree e ecvre e e e e e e e 84,470 70,005
Departmental and other ......ccococvvviieeiiieiccee e, 87,985 86,791
INtergovernmMeNntal .......ccocvveeeeiiee e 554,661 543,683
Total REVENUES .........oeevieiiiiiieeeeee e 3,165,482 3,055,781
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General GOVErNMENT .....uvviiviiee e e 85,855 80,684
[ (8]0 F= T I =T V7 (ol =TS 31,422 31,356
PUDBIIC SAfety .oiveieeeciieeeeec e 643,100 610,233
PUBIIC WOIKS «evvvviieiiiiieiiieeec ettt 106,059 101,157
Property and development ........cccoeveerieiniieniieeneenieceeee 42,460 33,870
Parks and recreation .......cceeeeeceeieirrreeee et 23,447 22,106
(] T | oY P UURPRRPRN 35,791 33,870
SCNOOIS ettt 1,048,987 1,016,412
Public health programs .......cccccceeceiinieniiinnienceeeee e 77,754 77,932
Judgments and claims ......ccoooiiiiiiiie e 3,766 1,100
REtiremMeNnt COSES ...uvviiiiriiiiiiiiiiiieieiiiererererererere e rere e rerererens 347,402 309,083
Other employee benefits .......ccccccveeeecciei e, 247,965 236,661
State and district assesSSMENts ........cceecvvvvereeeeieeiiiieeee e e 244,320 234,450
Total current expenditures ........cccoveeecieeeecciiee e, 2,938,328 2,788,914
Capital OULIAYS ....oooeieiiieee e 10,283 13,873
(DT o) A=Y VA [l SO 171,131 164,708
Total Expenditures ..........ccccccveveveiieeiiiieeeeiee e 3,119,742 2,967,495
Excess of revenues over expenditures ................c............ 45,740 88,286
OTHER FINANCING USES:
TraNSTEIS OUL .eviieiiee i e (9,455) (1,455)
Total other financing uses ..............cccccceeevcieeecciee e, (9,455) (1,455)
Net change in fund balances ............c.cccccevviiinniiinennen. 36,285 86,831
Fund balance - beginning ............cccccooiiiieiiii e, 949,003 862,172
Fund balance - ending .............cccoooviviiiiiiicciececece e S 985,288 S 949,003

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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General Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Other Financing Sources Compared to Budget (Budgetary Basis)
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Classification Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance 2016 Actual
PROPERTY TAXES
Real EState TAXES .......urverecrermremnrsenerserenserenrenens S 1,900,669 S 1,900,669 $ 1,904,246 $ 3,577 S 1,780,160
Real and Personal Property Taxes.......ccccevvenveene 147,267 147,267 149,150 1,883 144,885
Revenue class total 2,047,936 2,047,936 2,053,396 5,460 1,925,045
MOTOR VEHICLE EXCISE
Motor Vehicle Excise - CUrrent ........cceevvvvvenenns 53,000 53,000 36,049 (16,951) 46,385
Motor Vehicle Excise - Prior Years .........c.c.oe..... — — 16,012 16,012 21,261
Boat Excise - Current and Prior Years ................ 40 40 62 22 39
Revenue class total 53,040 53,040 52,123 (917) 67,685
OTHER EXCISE TAXES
Hotel / Motel ROOM EXCISE ....cveevveevereerieiriennns 80,000 80,000 91,306 11,306 89,103
Aircraft FUEl EXCISE ..vuvvreeeeeeeeeeeeieereee e 27,680 27,680 15,864 (11,816) 36,807
Condominium Conversion EXCISe .........cccceveruenne 350 350 510 160 646
Meals TaX EXCISE ..veovevveereereiereeeeereeereeresresneenenns 26,000 26,000 29,165 3,165 27,967
Urban Redevelopment Ch. 121A.........cccoevenn. 10,500 10,500 18,949 8,449 10,422
Vehicle Rental SUrcharge ........c.cccoevevevvveenrveennnns 1,250 1,250 1,581 331 1,617
Revenue class total 145,780 145,780 157,375 11,595 166,562
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
State OWned Lands ........coccceuervnnceerernenenienenens 291 291 291 — 295
Exemption - EIderly ......ccoeureeereeneenceneeneencinenns 1,041 1,041 770 (271) 386
Exemption - Other ..o — — — — —
Lottery .o, — — —_ — —
Veterans Services - Local Aid .......ccccevvevevenennnne 2,547 2,547 2,423 (124) 3,410
Police Career Incentive .........cccocvevvvininirennenns — — —_ — —
Unrestircted General Government Aid.............. 182,164 182,164 182,164 — 174,653
Local Share of Racing TaxXes .........ccceveververenenene. 293 293 348 55 376
School CONSEIUCLION ...vevveevieeeeieeeeeeeeeceee e 6,720 6,720 6,720 — 7,344
Charter School Reimbursement .........cccceeeueeen. 20,671 20,671 16,089 (4,582) 22,515
Chapter 70 Education Aid ..........ccceevveeeenereennens 216,128 216,128 216,128 — 212,597
Revenue class total 429,855 429,855 424,933 (4,922) 421,576

(continued)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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General Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Other Financing Sources Compared to Budget (Budgetary Basis)
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Classification Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance 2016 Actual
DEPARTMENTAL & OTHER

Penalties & Interest - Property TaXes .......ccceveervrueereeereeenenseereeeenennas S 3,000 $ 3,000 $ 2,569 S (431) S 6,012
Penalties & Interest - Motor Vehicle ........ccocvveviveiieiiie e 2,500 2,500 2,913 413 3,163
Penalties & Interest - TaX Title ....cccceevieeeceeccie e 3,000 3,000 5,329 2,329 5,303
Penalties & Interest - Boat EXCISE .....cccvevveriienierieneenienienieeeesieenae e 5 5 —_ (5) —_
Sidewalk Paid in AVANCE ..c..ccveiririiniiierieeceeee e — — 3 3 1
Unapportioned ASSESSMENTS ......cceveerierierieeieneeniesiesieeseeeesaeeseseees —_ —_ 13 13 4
Other Departmental Fees & Charges ..........cccccevviiiiiiniiiiicniiiiiinne 2,000 2,000 2,066 66 2,122
RegiStry DiViSION FEES ...ccvviiiiieiiiieeeiietee ettt 1,500 1,500 1,527 27 1,529
LIEIIS vveveeeeeeeeeeeeaeseeresessesseseeseassessessesssesessesessesesseseessessessesseesenserseressesen 525 525 687 162 681
Other DepartMental ......occcoceviererieniee et 3,100 3,100 2,323 (777) 3,233
CItY ClEIK FEES ..vvitieiiiiiiie sttt sttt sttt a e s 600 600 547 (53) 636
Muni Medicaid Reimbursement ..........coceeeverereeinenenenereseeeeeeeees 7,000 7,000 9,162 2,162 8,172
MEdiCaIA PArt D ....cvocvecveceeeieeeeeieseesee e teeae e s s s saseenee 4,000 4,000 5,910 1,910 5,111
Police Services 400 400 769 369 416
FIF@ SEIVICES .uviiiiieiiieetieeteeette et e et e et e et e st e e teeeteeeteeeseeenseesnnes 6,500 6,500 6,461 (39) 5,650
Parking FaCilities .......cocevvueruieiieeiereeieseee st s 1,000 1,000 2,268 1,268 1,285
SEreet OCCUPANCY .ooviiiiiieiiieriteerite ettt ettt ettt e e i 4,850 4,850 6,022 1,172 5,500
Street and Sidewalk PEIMILS .......ccovieiienienieie et 1,100 1,100 1,222 122 1,164
Administrative Fees —_ — — — —
Demolition of Abandoned Structures 20 20 18 (2) 20
Property Mgmt - BUilding RENTS .....ccccovuerieniieiinieneeieneeieeee e 1,800 1,800 1,863 63 1,837
St. Furniture Program FiXxed FEES ........ccevveviriirenienieseeie e 1,500 1,500 1,500 — 1,500
St. Furniture Program Adm FEES .......cccevieviiriieriiiieniesieeie e 1,100 1,100 1,340 240 1,492
DOIT E-RALE vrvveeeeereereeseeeeeeeeeeeseeseerenne — — 1,392 1,392 —
Fiber Optics Access Fees 300 300 62 (238) 318
Public Works - Other Charges ........ccccoceevvieeriieeniieesieesiee e sreeseee s —_ —_ —_ —_ —_
Tuition and Transportation - SChOOIS ........ccceviriireriienierieereeene 1,000 1,000 1,151 151 1,273
McKinney-Vento reimbursement .........coceeeevieeieenennenienenieseenieenes 1,383 1,383 1,383 — —
LIDFary FEES ..ooviiiieiiiiieiesieetee ettt et sttt s 150 150 173 23 153
CODra / SEIf-PAY ..oveereeeiieiereeee e 250 250 392 142 381
Affirmative RECOVEIY UNIt ....coeiviririirienieieieeseeieseseseeee e 400 400 113 (287) 393
Fringe-Retirement .......coocviiiiiiiiiiiiee e 4,800 4,800 4,851 51 4,792
Pensions and ANNUILIES ...c.c.eveeviiriereriieniereere e 4,386 4,386 4,404 18 4,386
Indirect Costs ReIMbUrsemMeNt .......cccoverierieeiienienieieneeeeee e 525 525 477 (48) 661
Third-Party PAYMENTS .....cccovieiiirieiienienieeie st sie ettt see e —_ —_ 1 1 15
Prior Year ReIMbBUIrSEMENTS ......ovrveriiriireiieieieeeese et 2,024 2,024 2,964 940 4,623
Police Detail Payroll ........ccoveviieiiniiiiiicieciececceese e — —_ 49 49 53
Police Detail AdmMInistration FEE .......cccvvvereeiiinieneriieneeieeeeneeee e 3,000 3,000 4,637 1,637 4,640
RENTAI INCOME .ooeviiieiecectectee ettt e san e 20 20 — (20) —
Miscellaneous COlECLING .....oceevviriiriiierieeeteeee e — — 11 11 —
Administrative Fee 3rd Party Payments 350 350 510 160 400

Revenue class total 64,088 64,088 77,082 12,994 76,919

(continued)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



Combining, Individual Fund Statements and Schedules ¢ 81

General Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Other Financing Sources Compared to Budget (Budgetary Basis)
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Classification Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance 2016 Actual
FINES
PArKiNg FINES .ouveueereereremeeseeserseesessseessessesssesseessesssesens S 57,000 $ 57,000 $ 60,472 S 3,472 S 57,763
COUIE FINES eveieviectee et etee ettt ettt eteeereeereeens 120 120 172 52 170
Moving Violation FINes - COUrt .......cverrreererrererrerereereeenns 1,700 1,700 1,391 (309) 1,711
Fire Safety FINES ...ovvvcveveieeieeeeeeeeeeeeseeesseeesesssee s sesessenens 40 40 36 (4) 33
Code ENfOrCEMENT ..oooviiieeeieieeeeee et 700 700 1,011 311 1,222
Revenue class total 59,560 59,560 63,082 3,522 60,899
PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES
Y XY o T OO OO O 18,970 18,970 18,493 (477) 18,830
Miscellaneous PILOT's 25,500 25,500 35,077 9,577 32,370
Miscellaneous Ch 121B Section 16 ........cccceeeeveevevveveeereenns 6,000 6,000 6,464 464 8,005
Miscellaneous Ch 121A Section 6A ......cccccveeevevevverveereeennns 15,000 15,000 22,098 7,098 29,686
Revenue class total 65,470 65,470 82,132 16,662 88,891
INVESTMENT INCOME
Interest 0N INVESTMENTS ......ccvveieriiiieriieieeee e 200 200 2,329 2,129 184
Revenue class total 200 200 2,329 2,129 184
LICENSES AND PERMITS
Building Structures and PErmits .........cccceeevvevveveeveeeeeerennens 35,000 44,090 61,954 17,864 52,285
Weights and MEASUIES .........ccveuveeeereereireeriereceeeeeereeeeneerenns 285 285 298 13 289
Street and Curb Permits .......ccocevveereevenienenrenieseeee e 3,100 3,100 3,650 550 4,034
Pre-rental INSPECtiONS ......ccecevvereerreeriereeeereee e 1,150 1,150 1,955 805 1,730
Other Departmental Licenses & Permits .........ccccceeveenuenne. 665 665 642 (23) 744
Health INSPECLIONS .....cevviieieieiieieeiesie e 1,700 1,700 1,864 164 1,811
Alcoholic Beverages and LICENSES ........cccvevereervienieniieinennns 4,200 4,200 4,455 255 4,337
Entertainment LICENSES ......coveveieerererieniesieneeeeesee e 1,900 1,900 1,816 (84) 1,843
Police Firearm Permits ........ccoeeeeeveeeveeeiereereseeeeereeessneresnens 25 25 20 (5) 66
Other Business Licenses and Permits ........cceceeevevverereeennen. 170 170 170 — 172
Cable TElOVISION ....ceiviieictiieieeeteee ettt 6,500 6,500 7,269 769 7,131
Revenue class total 54,695 63,785 84,093 20,308 74,442
MISCELLANEOUS
AN RIBNES et 267 267 267 —_ 802
Revenue class total 267 267 267 - 802
TRANSFERS AND OTHER AVAILABLE FUNDS
SUIPIUS Of PrOPEITY ..ocvieveieeeieeeeeeereetesie et enenne 4,000 4,000 — (4,000) —
Appropriated Cemetery TrUStEE ........ceoveveveeverereerereerereeenenes 950 950 — (950) —
Appropriated Parking Meter Receipts .........ccceveeeereernnnan. 22,500 22,500 — (22,500) —
Appropriated FUNS Balance ......cccccvveeeeeeenireresinssesineneens 40,000 40,000 — (40,000) —
Revenue class total 67,450 67,450 —_ (67,450) —
Total Revenues and Other financing Sources S 2,988,341 $ 2,997,431 $ 2,996,814 $ (618) $ 2,883,005

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures Compared to Budget (Budgetary Basis)

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

2017
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Classification Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance 2016 Actual
GENERAL GOVERNMENT

Costs Of ISSUANCE - RANS ..ottt 500 S 150 S 146 S 4 S 65
Annual Audit COStS ......ooovrrererererierererenns 750 779 779 — 573
Mayor's OFfiCE .o.cvevrrrieeeersisieeeieesessnenens 4,042 4,042 3,770 272 3,234
City COUNCl voveeeeiieieiececceeeeeeee e 5,341 5,341 5,084 257 5,206
Office of New Bostonians 425 425 400 25 381
Consumer Affairs and Licensing 1,177 1,177 1,059 118 379
Election Department - Election DiViSion ..........ccccceeveeveeeieereennns 3,819 3,819 3,488 331 3,268
Election Department - Listing Board ...........ccceeveveeeeseeresieseennenes 511 537 537 — 507
Auditing DEPArtMENt ......ccceceeveveeiereeeeeeeree e snenes 2,705 2,705 2,541 164 2,570
Assessing DEPartMeNt .....c.ceeeveveeiieeereeeeee e 7,200 7,233 6,992 241 7,103
Treasury Department - Collecting DiviSion ..........ccceeeeveeererennnene. 3,035 3,035 2,557 478 2,832
Treasury Department - Treasury DiViSion .........cccceveveeveeeierennnene. 1,951 1,951 1,912 39 1,913
Office of Budget Management ...........cccceeveeveeeeeeenieeneeeeeenens 3,200 3,200 3,081 119 2,723
Human ReSOUrCES .........cciiiiiiiiiiiiicii 3,410 3,406 2,877 529 2,904
PUrchasing DiVISION ......c.ccccevveuereereenietiieteee e e s eseae e 1,832 1,832 1,726 106 1,772
Office of Administration & FINANCE ......ccceevverveveeeeeieseeeeee s 1,071 1,071 849 222 888
Office of Labor Relations .......coceevveeeveeieeeieeeseeeeeeeee e e s s 1,424 1,424 1,356 68 1,311
Department of Innovation & Technology ..........cccceeeveerevecrerennans 28,524 32,343 32,339 4 32,047
Intergovernmental Relations 1,185 1,185 1,136 49 1,275
Law Department ........cccoceeeeiereverevererereaeaenns 5,872 5,343 5,253 90 5,753
Risk Retention Reserved ..........ccoceevveveerevennne 3,000 3,000 3,000 — 1,500
Housing Trust FUNd .......cccoceveeieveieeeiereverereane 330 330 280 50 296
CIY CIEIK wrvveeeeeeeeeeeeeesseessesscneneenesessssesenen 1,220 1,220 1,161 59 1,147
Re@iStry DIVISION ...cuevveviriiieriiieteieteeret et b e sa e e 1,032 1,032 966 66 968
Finance COMMISSION .....coiuiiiiiiiiiierieeteeee e 268 268 264 4 257
Tregor RESErve FUNG ......cccecveuiieieieieeeeeeee e — 3,813 3,813 — 989
Office of CIVIl RIS ..vcviieiceieieiieeeeeeee e 283 283 258 25 160
Commission for Persons with Disabilities ...........cccceeveereerienienen. 418 418 370 48 287
Public INfOrmation ......c..cceceeiririnienenicceeeee e — — — — —
Neighborhood SErVICES .......ccvivierierieriiereeee e 3,195 2,813 2,680 133 2,525
Arts & Cultural DeVEIOp ....cccceeveveieieieieteeeee e 1,349 1,349 1,247 102 1,275
Arts, Tourism & Special EVENS ......ccccveveeeveveeieieeieeeereeeree e 1,400 1,400 1,390 10 1,093
WOMEN'S COMMISSION ..vvevieeiieeeeeeeeeteseeete et e et e seesetesreeereeeesaeeseas 234 234 196 38 212
Reserve for Collective Bargaining ..........ccceveeveeveesreeseeresesreennens 13,300 28,000 28,000 — 22

Function Total 104,004 125,158 121,507 3,651 87,435

HUMAN SERVICES

Boston Centers for Youth & Families ..........ccceeveeevereeneniienennienne 24,959 26,017 26,017 —_ 24,918
Elderly COMMISSION ..cucvcucuieiiieierereieveveveaeann 3,234 3,255 3,221 34 3,072
Veterans Services Department 4,678 3,396 3,283 113 3,948

Function total 32,871 32,668 32,521 147 31,938

(continued)
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General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures Compared to Budget (Budgetary Basis)
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017
Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Classification Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance 2016 Actual
PUBLIC SAFETY
POlICE DEPAItMENT .....o.evuecvenceeseiiciesiese s ensenees S 356,341 $ 364,322 S 364,595 S (273) S 348,887
Fire DEPArtMENT ..ccveeveieieecreeeeee ettt et ere v nennes 220,990 221,045 219,083 1,962 216,918
Mayor's Office - Emergency Preparedness 638 643 643 — 651
Transportation - Traffic DiVISION .......ccccceevveeveeereseeesee e 24,832 25,150 25,146 4 24,875
Transportation - Parking Clerk .........cccceeveeveveeeeesesesieieeeeeens 8,342 8,361 8,323 38 7,917
LICENSING BOAId ....cueiieiiieieieieeieieeete et — — — — 638
Inspection Services DEpPartmMent ........ccocveeeereecieseenieereeseennenene 18,813 18,555 18,555 — 18,233
Youth Fund 6,059 5,343 5,222 121 5,760
Function total 636,015 643,419 641,567 1,852 623,879
PUBLIC WORKS
Public Works Department .........ccccceeeeeerenierieseeieeeeeeereevesnenas 83,963 82,308 82,281 27 86,704
Central Maintenance Facility .......cccccovveeveevienienececsecieseeee s 2,590 2,590 2,322 268 2,149
SNOW REMOVAL .o 22,564 22,564 24,875 (2,311) 14,786
Function total 109,117 107,462 109,478 (2,016) 105,289
PROPERTY AND DEVELOPMENT
Property Management ........ccccceeveeeeereeresresieseeeeeeeeseeresae e 30,427 28,504 28,369 134 25,457
Neighborhood Development .........cccceeereeerieeieceeeeeeeeeee e 12,963 12,963 12,926 37 11,544
Leading the Way ....cc.cccieieririeniciietenteie et — — — —_ —_
Function total 43,390 45,426 45,295 131 38,561
PARKS AND RECREATION
Parks and Recreation Department ..........cccceeeeveereciereeeereeeenennen 18,562 19,956 19,956 — 21,371
Environment Department 2,233 2,233 2,167 66 1,898
Cemetery DIVISION ....ccccvecveevereeeereereereereete st eseeesesereetesaeereenenne 2,419 2,445 2,328 117 2,277
Function total 23,214 24,634 24,451 183 25,546
LIBRARY
Library Department ......cccoveeverienieieseesie e 34,502 34,776 34,775 1 34,863
Function total 34,502 34,776 34,775 1 34,863
SCHOOLS
BOSton PUBIIC SChOOIS ....c.vveeeeieieeteeceecee ettt 1,031,684 1,031,684 1,031,628 56 1,016,277
Functiontotal 1,031,684 1,031,684 1,031,628 56 1,016,277
PUBLIC HEALTH
Public Health COMMISSION ....ccvevvvietieeicieceece et 77,267 77,267 77,267 — 76,155
Function total 77,267 77,267 77,267 - 76,155

(continued)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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General Fund

Schedule of Expenditures Compared to Budget (Budgetary Basis)

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

2017
Favorable
Original (Unfavorable)
Classification Budget Final Budget Actual Variance 2016 Actual
JUDGMENTS AND CLAIMS
EXECULION OF COUMS wouvuiiiiieieieieieictiis sttt S 5000 S 5,000 S 3,188 S 1,812 S 10,454
Function total 5,000 5,000 3,188 1,812 10,454
OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Medicare PAyMENTES ......cc.ccveeeiriiriiienieieeeeee sttt 10,000 8,610 8,608 2 7,989
Human Resources - Health Insurance .... 206,208 206,208 205,280 928 191,266
Health Benefits & INSUrANCE .....ccceveerireiniireicicses e 722 726 676 50 593
Unemployment COMPENSAtioN ........ccccvereerrerieeneneneneenieneeeeeeesaeees 350 — — — —
Workers' Compensation FUN .......cc.coceriereniienieienieseeee e 2,200 1,479 1,479 — 1,329
OPEB Stabilization FUNG ........c.ovverveereereeeeereessessseesseeesssssesseessesenes 40,000 40,000 40,000 — 40,000
Function total 259,480 257,023 256,043 980 241,177
PENSION COSTS
Boston Retirement System .........ccccoviiiiiiiiiiniiinicic 199,280 199,280 199,280 — 196,549
Pensions and ANNUItIES - City .....cccceveverenienienieinereneseseeeeeeee e 5,289 3,608 3,607 1 4,063
Pensions and Annuities - COUNLY ......ccccoevveverieeeeneneneseneeeeee e 100 100 38 62 37
Function total 204,669 202,988 202,925 63 200,649
DEBT REQUIREMENTS
Redemption of City Loans .........cc.ceeuene 112,190 112,190 112,190 — 106,251
City Debt and Interest Payments 48,977 48,977 48,960 17 47,873
Temporary NOtes ......cccoccveeviiiiieiniineenn, 12,277 77 —_ 77 —_
MWPAT Principal .....ccoceevvevervieninienianne 1,187 1,187 1,187 — 543
MWPAT INEEIESE ..veeeeereeeereeeseeeseeseesseessesesessesseesessesesesneseseeseeseeseeneas 312 312 312 — 56
Section 108 - DUAIEY SQUANE .......ccccererererieieieeeieee st 505 505 505 — 505
Debt Service SINKING FUNAS ....cocviviiriiiiiniieieeiesceie et 1,455 1,455 1,455 — 1,455
Lease Payments ........cccoociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 551 551 551 — 943
Function total 177,454 165,254 165,160 94 157,626
STATE & DISTRICT ASSESSMENTS
Health Insurance/RetireMeNt ..........cccevvevuevievieieeeeseeesesee e 111 111 111 — 120
Parking SUMCarge ........cocoeveirininienereece e 2,539 2,539 2,265 274 2,539
MoSqUito CONLrOl PrOJECES ....cceeveueruerieriiicieieieeiere ettt 265 265 265 —_ 265
Special Education Chapter 766 .........cccceveerieriieneeiieneenieeieseesiesienieens 724 734 734 — 696
Metropolitan Air Pollution CENter .........cceveevieriieneerienieieeee e 230 230 210 20 224
Metropolitan Area Planning ........c..c...... 326 326 326 — 292
M.B.TA. ASSESSMENES .....vvorrvereerrrnienns 83,823 83,823 83,823 — 82,998
M.D.C. ASSeSSMENtS ......cccceveerviuvverranunnes 12 12 12 —_ 12
School Choice 942 942 882 60 643
Charter School Sending Tuition 156,829 151,817 151,817 — 142,786
Suffolk CouNty Jail oo 3,875 3,875 3,875 — 3,875
Function total 249,674 244,672 244,320 352 234,450
Total Expenditures  $ 2,988,341 $ 2,997,431 $ 2,990,127 $ 7,305 $ 2,881,089
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Special Revenue Fund

Commonwealth Avenue

The Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources, other than debt service, trust
funds or capital projects that are legally restricted or committed for specific purposes.

This fund accounts for a number of federal and state grants administered by the City’s individual departments.



Combining, Individual Fund Statements and Schedules ¢ 86

(This page intentionally left blank)



Special Revenue Fund

Comparative Balance Sheets
June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)
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2017 2016
ASSETS:
Cash aNd INVESTMENES .....eiiieiiieiie ettt ettt e et e et e e et e e st e e sae e st e e saseesabeesaeeesanis S 245,567 211,703
Receivables, net:
INEErEOVEINMENTAL ....eiiiiiei e e et e e e e e e e tae e e e e e e e sabaaaeaaeaens 52,356 54,698
Departmental anNd OTNET ........uii i e e rae e 35,054 43,585
TOTAl FECEIVADIES ..uvvreriiiiiiiiii bbb as s sasassssssssssssnsnssnnen 87,410 98,283
[DTET=R oY 0T o1 1 aT=T g 101 0o - 1,745 746
TOLAI ASSELS ...oooviiiiiiieciee ettt ettt e et e e et e e e e e e abe e ebeestbeeeteeestaeeeaaeentreenane et S 334,722 310,732
LIABILITIES:
Warrants and accounts Payable ........ccceocciieriiiiie e S 25,344 15,693
Accrued liabilities:
Payroll and related COSES ....cccuuiiiiiiiie et e e e eaee e e e s naeeean 1,282 1,459
DeEPOSItS AN OTNEE ....oviiiiiieee e e e e e e e e e bar e e e e e e eas 49,022 43,797
UNEAINE MBVENUE ..eiiiiiiiieesiieerite ettt ettt e siteestteestteesateesiteesaseesabeessaeessteesateesateenseeessseensneenes - -
[DIVTN o o 4 a L=V 101 1 1c SREN 3,405 2,974
Total abilities .........coocveiviiiiieee e 79,053 63,923
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Revenue not considered available ... 254 20
FUND BALANCE:
R0 o o1 (=Y« I 35,056 43,585
F ] F={ g 1= Te [P UPUPPRNt 220,359 203,134
Total FUNA DAIANCE ..ottt e e eeeeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeaees 255,415 246,719
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance....................... S 334,722 310,732

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Special Revenue Fund

Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
REVENUES:
FI S ettt ettt ettt e e et e e et e e et ee e e et ateeeaetaeeeaa——eeea—teeeaatateeaa——eeaa——eaeaataresaaaaeerananes S — S 4,270
INVESTMENT INCOME ...eiiiiiiiiie ettt e s esnre e e s saneeesenneeesanneeas 100 55
LiCeNSES @Nd PEIMILS oooeuiiiiiiee ettt et e e e et e e e e e eerrra e e e e e e s e snsraareeeeeesnnnnnnes 212 186
Departmental and Other ........ocuiii i e 61,694 40,985
INEErEOVEINMENTAL ..ooiiiieeeee e e e e e e e e e e e e e st raa e e e e e e e saannanes 258,671 263,413
Total revenues 320,677 308,909
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
GENEral GOVEIMMENT ....eviiiiiiee et eeeee et e e e e st e e e e sete e e e enrae e s sasseeeennreeesnnneas 6,094 5,822
HUM@N SEIVICES evvvtueiieeeiieitiiee e e eeeeettiee e e e eeeeetteseeeeeserassaaaeeessesstanneeeeesessnannaesesssessnnnn 8,329 9,126
] oo Y=Y =Y Y SRR 34,371 30,366
PUBIIC WOTKS ettt e e e e e e e aaaa s 8,534 15,630
Property & deVelOPMENT .....cccuiiieeiii e 93,717 68,881
[ e LYol (=T 1 110 ] o H PRSPt 1,062 1,272
] T | oY USRS 3,180 2,771
Yol Voo PR 139,127 126,837
Public health Programs .........cceeieiiii e e et e e s naeeeeas 1,615 2,593
Total current eXPenditures ..o e e e e e e 296,029 263,298
(07 o1 | I oYU - 1Y £ USSP 1,767 1,827
Total EXPENItUIES .......ocooiniiieeeiee et e e e et e e e e e e aaneees 297,796 265,125
Excess of revenues over expenditures 22,881 43,784
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Payments tO @SCIOW @ZENT .....cc.uiiiiiiiieceiie et e ettt e eeette e e ettt e e e e te e e eenaee e eareeeeenteeeeeaneeas (7,432) (1,388)
Premiums on long-term debt iSSUEM ......c.uevivceiiieeiiie e 8,247 2,130
TrANSTEE QUL oottt e ettt e et e e e et e e e e eatee e eeabeeeeenbaeeeesseeessreaaan (15,000) (6,500)
Total other financing soUrces (USES) ..........ccvveiveeiiiieiieeiee et (14,185) (5,758)
Net change in fund balances ...............c.cccoooiiiiiiii e 8,696 38,026
Fund balance - Beginning ...........c..ooiiiii i 246,719 208,693
FUN Balance - @NAING .......cc.oooiuviiieiieeccee et ettt e etae et e e eaaeereas S 255,415 S 246,719

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Capital Projects Fund
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Boston skyline from Boston Harbor

The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or
construction of major capital facilities. Such resources are derived principally from proceeds of general

obligation bonds and from federal and state grants.
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Capital Projects Fund
Comparative Balance Sheets

June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
ASSETS:
Cash @Nd INVESTMENTS ....evviiiiieiee ettt ettt e et e e e saa e e e s e ta e e e ssaaaeessataeeesesaeesssnssessanreeeas S 136,428 S 87,418
Cash and investment held by truStEes ........cccviieiiiii e e 10,008 17,846
Intergovernmental reCEIVADIES ......coiiciiiiiiiiii e s e e s sbae e 6,292 12,050
Departmental and other reCeiVabIEs ........cc.veieciiii i 657 667
TOTAl ASSELS ..ottt et e e st e e et e e s et eeestaeeseaaeeesaabeeeseraeesannes S 153,385 $ 117,981
LIABILITIES:
Warrants and acCouNnts PAyable ........coociiviiiiiiiiiceeeeceeete ettt ettt S 28,573 S 30,353
Total HabilitieS .........oooiiiiieee e e e 28,573 30,353
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Revenue not considered available ..........eeoiviieiiiiiiiie e 3,570 8,645
FUND BALANCE:
2T T =Yoo PRSPPI 121,242 78,983
Total FUNA DAlANCE ..o 121,242 78,983
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balance ........................ S 153,385 § 117,981

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Capital Projects Fund

Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
REVENUES:

INEEIrEOVEINMENTAL .viiviiviiii ettt ettt ettt et ete et s ereeebeebeenbeenaesaeesaees S 43,579 § 20,004

INVESTMENT INCOME ..eiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e et e e e e s i e e s sbre e e snneeessnneeesennneeennnne — 25

Departmental and OThEr ... e e e e e e e e e — 1,742
o] 7 LI =1 =L 10 L= 43,579 21,771

EXPENDITURES:

(0T 11 =1 I 1011 1= 1Y PSP 221,321 216,101
Total eXPENItUrES ............ooeiiiiie e e e e sraee s 221,321 216,101
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures .............ccccceeveviiieeniieenieesie e (177,742) (194,330)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Long-term debt and capital 1€ases ISSUB ........eeevcvieeeiiiieceier e 181,935 181,193

RefuNding DONAS ISSUBT ......cocuiiiiieiie ettt e et ee e e e earee e e e araeeeeaes 58,370 8,100

Payments tO ESCrOW @ZENT ....ccueeieiieiieeeeiiieeeitee e stee e e stte e e eete e e stteeeesatreeeenseeesnnseeeesnseeesanns (58,367) (8,099)

Premiums on long-term debt iSSUBA .......ccuuiiiiiiee et 15,063 20,929

OPErating transfers, NET ....ccuii i e e e e e e s e e e e sata e e eeaneeeesanaeeean 23,000 6,500
Total other financing SOUrces (USES) ..........ccveevueeiiiieeiiiiiiieeee e 220,001 208,623
Net change in fund balances .............cccooooiii e 42,259 14,293

Fund balance - BegINNING .........c.oiiiiiii e s 78,983 64,690
FUNA BAlaNCe - @NAING ........ccooevivieieeeeceeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt ene e eneeneennes S 121,242 $ 78,983

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Other Governmental Funds

Prudential Center
Other Governmental Funds are those funds that are not defined as major funds.

Permanent Fund, established by GASB Statement No. 34, is used to report resources that are legally restricted to the
extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support the reporting government’s programs,
that is, for the benefit of the government or its citizenry. The permanent fund is composed of the following pools:

Pool#1is used for the maintenance and improvement of the City’s parks and cemeteries and the erection and maintenance
of statues and monuments for the use and enjoyment of City residents.

Pool#2 is used for scholarship awards, the purchase of educational equipment, and the aid of needy students.

Pool#7is a co-mingled investment fund of various non-testamentary trust funds of the City of Boston. The non-expendable
portion of the fund is composed of donations/contributions from either individuals or organizations. Donations/
contributions are to be expended in conformity with their respective trust instruments.

Debt Service Fund is used to account for resources accumulating for principal and interest for the 2009 Qualified
Construction School Bond.

Dudley Square Realty Corporation (DSRC) and Ferdinand Building Development Corporation (FBDC)—-The DSRC and FBDC
are non-profit organizations qualified as tax-exempt entities under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Although legally separate, both DSRC and FBDC provide services entirely, or almost entirely, to the City and thus have
been reported as blended component units. DSRC and FBDC are used to account for the construction and financing of
the Dudley Municipal Center.
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Other Governmental Funds
Combining Balance Sheet

June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Total Other Governmental

Permanent Funds Funds
Ferdinand Building
Debt Service Dudley Square Development
Pool 1 Pool 2 Pool 7 Fund Realty Corp. Corp. 2017 2016
ASSETS:
Cash and investments...........coeu.... S ) ) ) 9,469 § ) ) 9,469 $ 8,048
Cash and investments held by
EPUSEEES cvvvveveeereeeeseeeeeseeeseeeeseesenne 49,085 673 1,317 — 1,594 1,194 53,863 49,234
Receivables, net.......ccccoceeveeiinnenne. 58 2 1 — — 31,286 31,347 29,447
Due from other funds...........c......... — — — — 6,942 — 6,942 6,401
Total assets.........cccccevveerevenenne. $49,143 $ 675 $ 1,318 $ 9,469 S 8,536 $ 32,480 $ 101,621 $ 93,130
LIABILITIES:
Warrants and accounts payable...... S 241 S 4 S 4 S - S 372§ 103 S 724§ 243
Accrued liabilities .......c.ccocovenennnene 2 — — — — — 2 31
Due to other funds .......ccocvvveevunenens — — — — — 6,980 6,980 5,640
Total liabilities ............cccocueneeee. 243 4 4 S — 372 7,083 7,706 5,914
FUND BALANCE:
Nonspendable ........ccceeveveniernnee. 9,897 144 — — — — 10,041 4,974
RESEIICEEA wrvreeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesessens 39,003 527 1,314 9,469 8,164 25,397 83,874 82,242
Total fund balance ................... 48,900 671 1,314 9,469 8,164 25,397 93,915 87,216
Total liabilities and fund
balance ........cccccoovecinieninnenne $49,143 $ 675 $ 1,318 $ 9,469 S 8,536 $ 32,480 $ 101,621 $ 93,130

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Other Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Total Other Governmental

Permanent Funds Funds
Ferdinand Building
Debt Service Dudley Square Development
Pool 1 Pool 2 Pool 7 Fund Realty Corp. Corp. 2017 2016
REVENUES:
Investment income.............. S 7,546 $ 85 S 11 $ 12§ 10 $ 303 $ 7,967 $ 1,449
Departmental and other-..... 226 — 927 — 1,581 1,920 4,654 5,183
Total revenues.............. $ 7,772 $ 85 $ 938 § 12 § 1,591 $ 2,223 $ 12,621 $ 6,632
EXPENDITURES:
General government........... 3,063 49 1,096 - 970 1,880 7,058 5,923
Capital outlays .......cccceeeuennes — — — — — 319 319 2,325
Total expenditures........ 3,063 49 1,096 - 970 2,199 7,377 8,248
Net change in fund
balances .........ccccoevnenn 4,709 36 (158) 12 621 24 5,244 (1,616)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfersin ....ccceeeeevveeeeeenns — — — 1,455 — — 1,455 1,455
Total other financing
SOUICES ....ccvvenvnvririneaeens - - - 1,455 - - 1,455 1,455
Net change in fund
balances ..........cccoo....... 4,709 36 (158) 1,467 621 24 6,699 (161)
Fund balance -
beginning.........c.ccoceeen. 44,191 635 1,472 8,002 7,543 25,373 87,216 87,377

Fund balance - ending.. $ 48,900 $ 671 $ 1,314 $ 9,469 $ 8,164 $ 25,397 S 93,915 $ 87,216

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Internal Service Fund accounts for the City’s self-insurance for health benefits provided by Blue Cross Blue Shield
of Massachusetts and Harvard Pilgrim Healthcare for City employees, their dependents and retirees. The Internal
Service Fund is included in the governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements.
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Internal Service Fund

Comparative Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
ASSETS:
CaSh @NA INVESTMENTS ...eeeiiieiii ittt et ettt e e ettt esetaeesstaeeessateeeseasseeesbaeessssseeesanseeas S 73,916 S 67,408
RECEIVADIES ..ottt st st e e bt s b e e sae e s ba e e aeeearas - 578
(0 0 1= = T = £ 6,541 5,523
TORAI ASSEES ..ot e e e e et e e e e e e e et e e e e et e e e e et eaeeeaeeeneeeeeeeanneeaeeens S 80,457 $ 73,509
LIABILITIES:
ACCIUET [IaDIIITIES eeeeeeeeeeeee ettt et e et e et e e e e et e eeeeaeeeeaaeeeeeaaeeeesaaeaeesaaaeessaeeeesaanee S 23,881 S 24,730
Total laBIlIties ........ccccceieeiee e e e e et e e e nrae e S 23,881 $ 24,730
NET POSITION:
(8] a1 =T ot (=T R PPPRPPPPPRPPPIRE 56,576 48,779
TOAl NEE POSILION ...ttt ettt et ere e e e e sae et e sneereereeneen S 56,576 $ 48,779

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Internal Service Fund

Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
REVENUES:
EMpPloyee CONLIIDULIONS ...coiiiiiieeieee e e e e e e e e aa e e e e e e e ean S 68,821 65,165
EMployer CONTIDULIONS ....ooiiieiieecee et e e e e ere e s e e e e ernaeeeenes 276,134 265,240
TOLAl FEVENUES ...ttt e e ettt e e e e e e e tb e e e e e e e eesnnbaaeeaeeeenannees 344,955 330,405
EXPENDITURES:
LR L2 L1 oI oY= g = 1 S 337,158 344,518
Total @XPENitUreS ............ooiiiiiiiee e e e e e e e e e a e e e e e e e e anens 337,158 344,518
Change iN NEt POSILION .........ccoeeiiieiieccec ettt e sre e e nee s 7,797 (14,113)
Net position - BEZINNING .........ccccoiiiiiiiii e e s 48,779 62,892
Net POSITION = @NAING .......oveeiieceececeeeeeeee ettt ettt e st eetestesreereeseeneeneennas S 56,576 48,779

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



Internal Service Fund
Comparative Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash received from employees and employer ......ccccccocveeeecrieeennen.
Cash paid tO VENAOIS .....cooceeieeeiiee ettt
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities .....................

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ................ccccooeevevennneen.
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year .............ccccccceevceiiiiencee e,

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating iNComME (I0SS) ...eiiviieriieiiieeiie e

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Oher @SSEES ...eviiiiiiiiiiiieeee e
Due from component units / receivables .........cccccceveeeveenveennnn.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .........ccccceeveveeiecierennneen.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ..............

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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2017 2016
............................... $ 345,533 ¢ 330,757
............................... (339,025) (350,222)
............................... 6,508 (19,465)
............................... 67,408 86,873
............................... $ 73,916 $ 67,408
............................... $ 7,797 S (14,113)
............................... (1,018) (2,971)
............................... 578 352
............................... (849) (2,733)
............................... $ 6,508 $ (19,465)
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Fiduciary Funds

& -..‘ - 3

Leonard P. Zakim Bridge

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

Boston Retirement System is a defined benefit contributory retirement plan covering employees of the City of Boston,
Boston Public Health Commission, Boston Housing Authority, Boston Redevelopment Authority, and the Boston Water
and Sewer Commission. The System is subject to benefit provisions and financing requirements set forth primarily in
Chapter 32 of the Massachusetts General Laws.

OPEB TRUST FUND

The OPEB Trust Fund is an irrevocable trust fund established for other postemployment benefits. The assets are
appropriated from the General Fund and accumulate to reduce the unfunded actuarial liability for health care and other
postemployment benefits.

PRIVATE PURPOSE TRUST FUNDS

Private purpose trust funds are used to report any trust arrangement not otherwise classified as pension or benefit trusts,
or an investment trust fund, “under which principal and income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other
governments.”

Pool#1 is a co-mingled investment fund of various trust funds of the City. A number of the Pool#1 trust funds are for the
maintenance and improvement of the City’s parks and cemeteries for the use and enjoyment of City residents. The other
portion of Pool#1 trust funds lack a general government purpose and are therefore classified here as private purpose
trust funds.

Pool#2 is used for scholarship awards, the purchase of educational equipment, and the aid of needy students.

Pool#5 is formed by the will of George R. White dated May 21, 1920. The will requires that the fund’s income be used
for the creation of public utility and beauty for the use and enjoyment of the inhabitants of the City.

Pool#7 is a co-mingled investment fund of various non-testamentary trust funds of the City of Boston. The nonexpendable
portion of the fund is composed of donations/contributions from either individuals or organizations. Donations/
contributions are to be expended in conformity with their respective trust instruments.

AGENCY FUND

Law Enforcement Trust Fund accounts for proceeds from property seized from illegal drug-related activities. Funds can
be used to defray the costs of protracted investigations, to provide technical equipment or expertise, and to provide
matching funds for federal grants.
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Boston Retirement System

Comparative Statements of Plan Net Position
Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(Amounts in thousands)

Total Boston Retirement

System
2016 2015
ASSETS:
Cash aNd INVESTMENTS ...eccviiiiiicieecric ettt ere e e e e eave e e aeeeareeenreeeareeeneeesareas S 5,860,261 S 5,563,940
Receivables:
INterest and diVIENAS .......eeeiiiieiiiieee et e e e e e e e e arreeeeeeean 7,184 6,904
SECUNEIES SOIA ooiiiiiiiriiiiie et e e st b e e e e sesbab e e e e e e e sessaraeeseeesennsnres 15,183 18,866
EmMployer CONtrIDULIONS ...cc.ciiiiiiiiieiieee et st 13,134 11,448
(01 =T OO PPRRTUPRRUPPRINt 5,303 14,634
TOtal rECEIVADIES ... e e e e e e e e araeaeaeeean 40,804 51,852
Securities lending short-term collateral investment pool ..........cccveeeeiiiieecciee e 191,892 184,295
TOtAl ASSELS ..oooiiiiiieeee et e e e e e e e e e et baa e e e e e e e bbb a e e e e e e eeetrraaaaaaeaan 6,092,957 5,800,087
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities .........cccccveeeeciiiicccec e S 15,882 S 14,843
Y TolU g A T=T o TN ol o - 1YY o PP 34,166 41,603
Collateral held on securities IENAING .......oooeeiiie e e 191,826 184,348
TOtAl lABIIIEIES ......eveieieeeieeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e s ae e e e s b b e e s e saaaeesanreeeas S 241,874 S 240,794
NET POSITION:
Held in trust for pension benefits and other purposes ...............cccccoeieviieecciie e, S 5,851,083 $ 5,559,293

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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OPEB Trust Fund

Comparative Statements of Plan Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

ASSETS:
Cash and investments
Total Assets

LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

Total liabilities

NET POSITION:

Held in trust for pension benefits and other purposes

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

2017 2016
470,449 379,081
470,449 379,081

187 146
187 146
470,262 378,935
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Private Purpose Trust Funds
Combining Statements of Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

ASSETS:

(0T a T Lo Lo I L0 V25 1 0 d LT LR

RECEIVADIES: e

LIABILITIES:

ACCOUNTS PAYADIE oo et e e et e e e e nre e e eaaes
AcCCrUEd lIabilitieS ..uvvevereriiiiii e
Total lHabilities ........cccvveeiiiiiiiiie e

NET POSITION:

Held in trust for other PUrPOSES ...........ccccoiiiiiiiiiiie e e

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

Pool 1 Pool 2

26,089 $ 556

28 1

28 1

26,117 557

173 S 4

173 4

25,944 $ 553
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Total Private Purpose Trust

Funds

Pool 5 Pool 7 2017 2016
S 27,979 S 58,732 S 113,356 S 108,216
53 50 132 2,542
53 50 132 2,542
28,032 58,782 113,488 110,758
181 2,793 3,151 6,665
— 81 81 223
181 2,874 3,232 6,888
S 27,851 $ 55,908 $ 110,256 $ 103,870

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Agency Fund

Comparative Statements of Net Position
Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Law Enforcement Trust Fund

2017 2016
ASSETS:
CaSh AN INVESEMENTS ceneeeieeeeeee ettt e et e et e e e et eeee et e eseaeeesareeesassatesseseessaseeesasraeesaareeens S 8,385 S 7,596
o1 =] I T =1 SRR 8,385 7,596
LIABILITIES:
Refunds payable and Other ... e 8,385 7,596
TOtAl lABIIIEIES ......evvieieeeeeeeeeeee ettt et e ettt e s eae e e e s eba e e e ssaaeeeseneeeeas S 8,385 S 7,596

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



Boston Retirement System

Comparative Statements of Changes in Plan Net Position

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(Amounts in thousands)

ADDITIONS:
Contributions:

0] 0] (o) V=T S
EMPIOYEES oot

Commonwealth of Massachusetts (nonemployer) ...........

Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments

Interest and dividends .......ccoceevveiinienieeeeec e
Management and related fees .........ccceeviieeciieiieciieeecieeea,
Securities |ending iINCOME ......coccvveeeviiii e
Borrower rebates and fees ......cocvvvveeviienieecii e
IntergovernmMental .......cccccvvieiieiinienec e
Miscellaneous INCOME ......iivviiieiiiiieeeeieee e

Total additions ...........cccceeviiiniiiiniieeeeee,

DEDUCTIONS:

BENEFITS .uviieiiiiieece e s
Reimbursements to other systems ........cccceeeeieeeeviieecsciee s
Refunds of contributions .........cccccvevieviiiiivieccir e,
AdMINISration ...oocveeeieiiieeieeee e
Total deductions ............cccocciiiiriiiiiniiien e,
Changes in net position ...........cccccoeccieieciei e,

Net position - beginning of year ............ccccccoevviivieevcinncieennen,
Net position -end of year ............ccccoeeeeviiiccee e,

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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2016 2015

............................................ $ 247,771 $ 218,813
............................................ 153,943 147,090
............................................ 132,477 120,434
............................................ 198,838 (104,056)
............................................ 188,572 111,296
............................................ (28,940) (23,350)
............................................ 2,704 1,186
............................................ (1,123) (333)
............................................ 7,566 6,929
............................................ 89 —
............................................ 901,897 478,009
............................................ 566,850 548,605
............................................ 12,662 11,385
............................................ 23,005 23,921
............................................ 7,590 8,952
............................................ 610,107 592,863
............................................ 291,790 (114,854)
............................................ 5,559,293 5,674,147
............................................ $ 5,851,083 $ 5,559,293
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OPEB Trust Fund

Comparative Statements of Changes in Plan Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016
ADDITIONS:
Contributions:
EMPIOYELS ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e et e e aeete e st eneesestesteereeteeseensenseaseatesaeereeneeneenes S 163,791 S 154,494
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments .........ccccccoeeeeiiiiieciiec e, 45,197 (2,076)
[N =T =X A= [T I EAVZTo [=Y e L3 4,536 4,075
Management and related fEES .........ooi i e (651) (514)
B o3 2= I Te Lo [ 4 To] 1 - 212,873 155,979
DEDUCTIONS:
BENETITS .etiiitieiiie e e e st e e be e e beeebe e e beeereesnreeereennt 121,541 112,244
Administrative expenses and Other .........ooociii e 5 6
Total dedUCEIONS .......ooeiiiieee e e e e e e e e e e e s eabaae e e e e eeaan 121,546 112,250
Changes iNn NEt POSILION ..........cccoiiiiiiiiice e e eree s 91,327 43,729
Net position - beginning of Year ............cccoooiiiiii i 378,935 335,206
Net POSItioN - @N0 OF YEAI ........ocveeeeeeeceeieeeece ettt sttt et neenes S 470,262 $ 378,935

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Private Purpose Trust Funds
Combining Statements of Changes in Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Pool 1 Pool 2
ADDITIONS:
[INVESTMENT INCOME ..viiiieeie ettt ettt e et e e e ettt e e ettt e e s aaaeessataeessssaeesssnsaeesssseessssaeeessnns S 3962 S 60
DONAtioNS AN OTNEE veiiiiiieieee et e et e sae e e bee e aae e e 263 -
Total AddItiONS .......cooooiiieee e e e e anaes 4,225 60
DEDUCTIONS:
Administrative expenses and Other .........ooocuiiiiiiie e e 2,922 34
Total operating EXPENSES ..........oooeiiiiiiiiieiiieeee ettt s 2,922 34
Net changes in Net POSILION .............ccuiiiiiiiii e e e 1,303 26
Net position - beginning Of YEar .............coviieiii e 24,641 527
Net position - @Nd Of YEAr .............ccoiiiiiiieececece et s S 25944 $ 553

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Total Private Purpose Trust

Funds
Pool 5 Pool 7 2017 2016

3,774 19,398 S 27,194 S 26,462

201 4,534 4,998 5,837

3,975 23,932 32,192 32,299

5,852 16,998 25,806 33,153

5,852 16,998 25,806 33,153
(1,877) 6,934 6,386 (854)

29,727 48,975 103,870 104,724

27,850 $ 55,909 $ 110,256 $ 103,870

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Agency Fund

Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Year ended June 30, 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

Law Enforcement Trust Fund

Balance July 1, Balance June 30,
2016 Additions Deletions 2017
ASSETS:
Cash and iNVESTMENTS ....veeeeeeieeeeeeee e S 7,596 S 3,326 S 2,537 S 8,385
LIABILITIES:
Refunds payable and other.........cccevevvievieceecieceese e, S 7,596 § 3,326 § 2,537 § 8,385

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Discretely Presented Component Units

Boston skyline

Discretely presented component units are legally separate from the City but are included because
the City is financially accountable for the organizations.
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Discretely Presented Component Units

Combining Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2017 and 2016
(Amounts in thousands)

Boston
Planning &
Boston Public Development
Health Commission Agency
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash @Nd INVESTMENTS .....ccvevericiiieeietecte sttt cr et ettt er ettt etesa et eteebe s et eteetessensesseressenseseesenseneens S 34,419 23,045
Cash and investments held DY truStEE .....cuiviiiiiiiiiice e — —
Receivables, net:
(03T OO OO TSP PERUPTUSPPPRRPOOt 24,248 15,109
(018 =T o T £ TSSO P PP PP PR PROPPP 114 —
Due from primary SOVEINMENT .....oovieiiiiiieeieeeeste ettt ettt et et e st s et e b e sneesaneeas 2,331 —
Total current assets 61,112 38,154
Noncurrent assets:
Cash and investments held DY truStEE .....cuiviiiiiiiiii e — —
Notes and Other reCEIVADIES ........civiriiriiriieeree ettt ee s 42,703 125,530
Capital assets:
NONAEPIECIADIE ..cnviiieieie ettt st sttt st e e b saeenes 12,193 8,161
DEPrECIADIE, NET ..ovieieiieieeeee ettt sttt st et b sttt e b et b saeere e 12,907 8,529
Total noncurrent assets 67,803 142,220
] =1 I 1T =] PR UUPRRRRRt 128,915 180,374
Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred amount for PENSION COSES ...ccviriiiiiiiiririeiereete ettt st s sae s 27,858 3,249
Liabilities:
Current liabilities
Warrants and acCoUNTS PAYADIE .....c.oviriiiiiriiieireeteie ettt sttt et ae e 17,413 3,228
Accrued liabilities:
(04 0T OO OUSRRORPTSRRSRRRRTOI 662 536
Current portion of long-term debt and leases ... 1,285 —
Due tO Primary BOVEIMMENT ..cc..iiiiiiierieieteeieerieeste et et esteesabeeb e ste e st e ssteesbeesbeesanesaseesseesneenanenas 559 —
UNEAINEU FEVENUE ....iiuiiieeiieiieiteit ettt ettt ettt st et e st e s bt et e besbe e st e beebeeas e besbeentenbesaeensenbesbeennens 2,056 1,899
Total current ADIITIES .....ccvviiveieieeriee et ens 21,975 5,663
Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds notes and leases due in more than ONE YEaAr ........cceevciiiiiiieciiee e 3,584 3,186
Other NONCUITENt lIADIlITIES ...oovevvieieriiiieieeeee et 1,225 128,859
OPEB .ottt ettt sttt ettt s h et bt a et bt h et e bt a e et e b e e bt et e be e Rt e b e b e e h e e tenheeat e besbeeneetenaean 93,541 5,068
UNEAINEA FEVENUE ..coviiiiiiiiiieiteeite ettt sttt ettt sttt e sbe e sat e st e e bt e sneesabesabeebeesanesaneenseensnenas 43,729 22,246
LN = Ao T=Y a1y T T 1= o 11 OSSR 140,757 17,851
DUE tO PriMAry SOVEIMMENT ....eeuiiiiirieriieiertieitestesiestestesteeatestestesstessessessteseseesseessessesnsensessesssensens — 5,725
Total noncurrent iabilities ......c.coceevieriieieeee e 282,836 182,935
Total HABIlItIES ......cocveieeiieiieecceee ettt s ens 304,811 188,598
Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred amount for PENSION COSES ...c.uiiiiiiriirinieriereeee ettt st s 21,541 3,755
NEE POSITION: ...ttt ettt s e ettt e bt e s bt e st e e beesabesabe e bt esbbesanesnneenseens
Net investment in capital assets 20,231 13,675
Restricted for:
RESEIICEE ..ottt et s e st et e s b e sab e et e e be e s st e snbe e b e e neesnnesaneeane — —
UNPESTIICEEA ..vveveviviviiiiiiitete ettt es ettt e a ettt as e b s b b e b e b e bt beseas s bbb ebebebesessssseanasassesenas (189,810) (22,405)
Total Net POSITION ....c..ooiiiiiiieiee et s S (169,579) S (8,730)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



Trustees of the
Public Library of

Economic
Development
and Industrial

Total Discretely Presented
Component Units

the City of Boston  Corporation of Boston 2017 2016

S 2,175 § 11,198 S 70,837 S 70,639
12,583 - 12,583 12,050
1,762 8,121 49,240 52,911
8 1,961 2,083 1,077

— — 2,331 2,978
16,528 21,280 137,074 139,655
60,387 - 60,387 54,782
25 - 168,258 177,058

- 7,186 27,540 24,865

250 33,018 54,704 53,618
60,662 40,204 310,889 310,323
77,190 61,484 447,963 449,978
— — 31,107 32,377

611 3,204 24,456 28,231
482 2,669 4,349 3,213

- 790 2,075 1,727

425 - 984 1,395

— 296 4,251 5,384
1,518 6,959 36,115 39,950
— 11,392 18,162 18,462

- 831 130,915 140,638

— — 98,609 91,845

— — 65,975 67,051

— — 158,608 170,846

— — 5,725 7,220

— 12,223 477,994 496,062
1,518 19,182 514,109 536,012
— — 25,296 14,034

250 28,022 62,178 58,546
73,337 704 74,041 66,719
2,085 13,576 (196,554) (192,956)
S 75,672 $ 42,302 S (60,335) S (67.691)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Discretely Presented Component Units
Combining Statements of Activities
Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

(Amounts in thousands)

EXPENSES ...oooiiiiiiiiiiiii it e st e e e
Program revenues:
Charges fOr SEIVICES ....uuiiiiiiiieiiiie ettt et e e te e et e e e et e e e s e bae e e sabaeeeestaeeennsaeeesasaeeean
Operating grants and CONtribULIONS ......coceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiie e
Capital grants and contribULIONS ......ccuvviiciiiie e e
TOtal PrOZram FEVENUES .......ccceeviiiriiiiiienieenieesteesteesteeeseeesseeessaeesseeesseeenseessseesnses
L\ L= = =T L =T PUPPPPPTPPPOE
General revenues:
INVESTMENT INCOME ...eiiiiiiiiiieiietee ettt e e e e s st e e e e e s s s saabb e e e e e e e essasbaaaeeeseanan
1[N il o] ] o 1T 4V AR
(011 VT o] o] fo] o] 4 =11 1o} o KOO P PR OPPPPPI
MiSCEIIANEOUS INCOME ..iiuviiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt sa e et e saaeesbe e e sabeesbeeesaaeebeen
Total GENEral FEVENUES ..........oocuvviiiiiieeceee ettt e e e e sata e e aae e e s areee s
Changes iNn NEt POSILION .............oooiiiiiiie e e e et eaes

Net position - beginning Of YEar .............cooi i s

Net position - @Nd Of YEAr ...........ooiiiiiiieeecc e

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

Boston
Planning &
Boston Public Development
Health Commission Agency
S 189,169 28,675
57,700 8,739
44,814 19,514
366 —
102,880 28,253
(86,289) (422)
54 78
— 3,523
77,267 —
384 —
77,705 3,601
(8,584) 3,179
(160,995) (11,909)
$ (169,579) $ (8,730)
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Total Discretely Presented

Trustees of the Economic Development C Uni
Public Library of and Industrial omponent Units
the City of Boston Corporation of Boston 2017 2016
S 18,052 S 42,480 S 278,376 S 263,134
2,206 31,004 99,649 77,288
17,397 17,481 99,206 84,192
— — 366 415
19,603 48,485 199,221 161,895
1,551 6,005 (79,155) (101,239)
267 10 409 49
2,033 — 5,556 2,539
— — 77,267 81,682
2,767 128 3,279 6,889
5,067 138 86,511 91,159
6,618 6,143 7,356 (10,080)
69,054 36,159 (67,691) (57,611)
S 75,672 §$ 42,302 S (60,335) S (67,691)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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STATISTICAL SECTION (Unaudited)

This part of the City of Boston’s comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information
says about the government’s overall financial health.

Contents Page
Financial Trends 124

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the government’s financial
performance and well-being have changed over time (See accompanying Management’s Discussion and
Analysis, Statement of Net Position, and Statement of Activities):

General Government Expenditures by Function (GAAP Basis) — Last Ten Fiscal Years
General Government Revenues by Source (GAAP Basis) — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Net Position by Component — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Changes in Net Position — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Revenue Capacity 138

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the government’s most significant revenue
source, the property tax:

Assessed and Estimated Actual Value of All Taxable Property — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Property Tax Rates — Direct and Overlapping Governments — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Largest Principal Taxpayers — Current Year and Nine Years Ago
Property Tax Levies and Collections — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Debt Capacity 142

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the government’s current
levels of outstanding debt and the government’s ability to issue additional debt in the future (See
accompanying note 10 of the basic financial statements):

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type — Last Ten Fiscal Years

Ratio of Net General Obligation Bonded Debt to Assessed Value and Net
Bonded Debt Per Capita — Last Ten Fiscal Years

Legal Debt Margin Information — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Demographic and Economic Information 148

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment
within which the government’s financial activities take place:

Demographic and Economic Statistics — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Principal Employers — Current Year and Nine Years Ago
Operating Information 150

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information
in the government’s financial report relates to the services the government provides and the activities it
performs:

Full-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Department — Last Ten Fiscal Years
Operating Indicators by Function — Last Ten Fiscal Years

Capital Asset Statistics by Department — Last Ten Fiscal Years

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the prior year information in these schedules is derived from the
comprehensive annual financial reports for the relevant year.
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General Government Expenditures by Function
(GAAP Basis)*

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year
FUNCTION 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
General Government S 85,855 S 80,684 S 58,242 S 102,786 S 77,515
% of Total 2.8 2.7 2.0 3.7 3.0
% Change 6.4 38.5 (43.3) 32.6 12.6
Public Safety S 643,100 $ 610,233 S 633,471 S 558,802 S 553,851
% of Total 20.6 20.6 22.2 20.4 21.4
% Change 5.4 (3.7) 13.4 0.9 5.6
Public Works S 106,059 S 101,157 $ 123,767 S 113,239 $ 102,789
% of Total 3.4 3.4 4.3 4.1 4.0
% Change 4.8 (18.3) 9.3 10.2 21.3
Library S 35,791 S 33,870 S 33,966 S 33,978 S 30,888
% of Total 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.2
% Change 5.7 (0.3) — 10.0 2.7
Schools S 1,048,987 $ 1,016,412 S 960,228 S 940,276 S 879,898
% of Total 33.6 34.3 33.6 34.2 34.0
% Change 3.2 5.9 2.1 6.9 5.9
Retirement Costs S 347,402 S 309,083 S 282,648 S 255,647 § 235,078
% of Total 11.1 10.4 9.9 9.3 9.1
% Change 12.4 9.4 10.6 8.7 6.7
Employee Benefits S 247,965 S 236,661 S 230,089 S 234,400 S 232,831
% of Total 7.9 8.0 8.1 8.5 9.0
% Change 4.8 2.9 (1.8) 0.7 (7.3)
State & District Assessments S 244,320 §$ 234,450 $ 215,538 S 197,939 $ 176,300
% of Total 7.8 7.9 7.5 7.2 6.8
% Change 4.2 8.8 8.9 12.3 9.8
Property & Development S 42,460 S 33,870 S 35,594 S 33,376 S 32,568
% of Total 1.4 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.3
% Change 25.4 (4.8) 6.6 2.5 8.2
Other S 317,803 $ 311,075 S 282,621 S 275,250 S 262,653
% of Total 10.2 10.5 9.9 10.0 10.2
% Change 2.2 10.1 2.7 48 (1.9)
Total Expenditures S 3,119,742 S 2,967,495 S 2,856,164 S 2,745,693 S 2,584,371
% of Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
% Change 5.1 3.9 4.0 6.2 4.7

*General fund only

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Fiscal Year

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 FUNCTION

68,828 S 65,459 S 70,514 S 69,524 S 66,927 General Government

2.8 2.7 2.9 3.1 3.1 % of Total
5.1 (7.2) 1.4 3.9 2.6 % Change
524,476 S 516,725 S 511,365 S 521,898 S 509,293 Public Safety
21.3 21.0 21.2 23.2 23.3 % of Total
1.5 1.0 (2) 2.5 6.7 % Change
84,727 S 105,318 S 96,641 S 112,168 S 108,831 Public Works
3.4 4.3 4.0 5 5 % of Total
(19.6) 9.0 (13.8) 3.1 11.2 % Change
30,069 S 30,532 S 29,853 S 31,268 S 27,089 Library
1.2 1.2 1.2 1.4 1.2 % of Total
(1.5) 2.3 (4.5) 15.4 (13.2) % Change
830,839 S 812,949 S 815694 S 818,338 S 782,500 Schools
33.8 33.0 33.8 36.4 35.8 % of Total
2.2 (0.3) (0.3) 4.6 5.2 % Change
220,340 S 195,976 S 235,282 § 82,332 S 95,193 Retirement Costs
9.0 8.0 9.7 3.7 4.4 % of Total
124 (16.7) 185.8 (13.5) 2.5 % Change
251,194 S 294,200 S 224,156 S 191,597 S 190,167 Employee Benefits
10.2 12.0 9.3 8.5 8.7 % of Total
(14.6) 31.2 17 0.8 8.1 % Change

160,547 $§ 152,042 S 146,323 $ 142,055 $ 132,792 State & District Assessments
6.5 6.2 6.1 6.3 6.1 % of Total
5.6 3.9 3 7 6.9 % Change

30,089 S 35,138 S 30,247 S 28,959 S 29,876 Property & Development

1.2 14 1.3 1.3 1.4 % of Total
(14.4) 16.2 4.4 (3.1) (15.9) % Change
267,743 § 251,514 § 256,727 S 247,084 S 241,360 Other

10.9 10.2 10.6 11 11.1 % of Total

6.5 (2.0) 3.9 2.4 7.4 % Change
2,468,852 $ 2,459,853 S 2,416,802 $ 2,245,223 S 2,184,028 Total Expenditures

100.0 100.0 100.0 100 100.0 % of Total

— 1.8 7.6 2.8 5.6 % Change

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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General Government Revenues by Source
(GAAP Basis)*

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year
SOURCE 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Property Taxes S 2,079,693 1,967,687 1,867,259 1,767,783 1,677,581
% of Total 65.7 64.4 64.0 63.6 63
% Change 5.7 5.4 5.6 5.4 5.4
Motor Vehicle Excises S 52,061 67,686 52,922 52,972 47,105
% of Total 1.6 2.2 1.8 1.9 1.8
% Change (23.1) 27.9 (0.1) 12.5 16.3
Other Excises S 160,736 168,577 176,040 170,161 174,149
% of Total 5.1 5.5 6.0 6.1 6.5
% Change (4.7) (4.2) 3.5 (2.3) 18.4
Departmental & Other S 87,985 86,791 86,392 84,385 87,585
% of Total 2.8 2.8 3.0 3 3.3
% Change 14 0.5 2.4 (3.7) 11.7
State Distributions S 554,661 543,683 523,256 509,199 504,656
% of Total 17.5 17.8 17.9 18.3 18.9
% Change 2.0 3.9 2.8 0.9 3.8
Payment in Lieu of Taxes S 80,501 90,215 79,232 73,324 72,335
% of Total 2.5 3.0 2.7 2.6 2.7
% Change (10.8) 13.9 8.1 1.4 14.7
Fines S 63,046 60,953 60,116 59,922 58,835
% of Total 2.0 2.0 2.1 2.2 2.2
% Change 3.4 1.4 0.3 1.8 (8.9)
Investment Income S 2,329 184 61 57 179
% of Total 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 —
% Change 1,165.8 201.6 7.0 (68.2) (81.8)
Licenses & Permits S 84,470 70,005 71,205 62,257 47,220
% of Total 2.7 2.3 2.4 2.2 1.8
% Change 20.7 (2.7) 14.4 31.8 (3.1)
Total Revenues S 3,165,482 3,055,781 2,916,483 2,780,060 2,669,645
% of Total 100.00 100.0 100 100.0 100.2
% Change 3.6 4.8 4.9 4.1 5.9

*General fund only

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Fiscal Year

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 SOURCE

1,591,998 S 1,526,361 $ 1,467,605 S 1,393,371 S 1,316,734 Property Taxes
63.1 66.7 65.5 62.5 58.7 % of Total
4.3 4 5.3 5.8 4.6 % Change

40,507 S 46,977 S 40,134 S 37,354 S 56,883 Motor Vehicle Excises
1.6 2.1 1.8 1.7 2.5 % of Total
(13.8) 171 7.4 (34.3) 66.9 % Change

147,065 $ 77,237 S 80,986 S 78,100 S 58,926 Other Excises
5.8 3.4 3.6 3.5 2.6 % of Total
90.4 (4.6) 3.7 32.5 (10.4) % Change

78,438 S 65,498 S 74,861 S 82,087 S 79,030 Departmental & Other
3.1 2.9 3.3 3.7 3.5 % of Total
19.8 (12.5) (8.8) 3.9 20.4 % Change

486,379 $ 395374 S 404,619 S 454,252 S 493,227 State Distributions
19.3 17.3 18.0 20.4 22 % of Total
23 (2.3) (10.9) (7.9) 1.8 % Change

63,066 S 65,461 S 67,265 S 56,686 S 56,667 Payment in Lieu of Taxes
2.5 2.9 3 2.5 2.5 % of Total
(3.7) -2.7 18.7 - 0.9 % Change

64,566 S 64,751 S 70,627 S 69,711 S 67,940 Fines

2.6 2.8 3.1 3.1 3 % of Total
(0.3) (8.3) 1.3 2.6 0.6 % Change
982 S 4,733 S 3,246 S 18,289 S 37,822 Investment Income
— 0.2 0.1 0.8 1.7 % of Total
(79.3) 45.8 (82.3) (51.6) (12.2) % Change

48,753 S 41,676 S 32,907 S 40,822 S 45,989 Licenses & Permits
1.9 1.8 1.5 1.8 2.1 % of Total
17 26.6 (19.4) (11.2) 13 % Change

2,521,754 S 2,288,068 S 2,242,250 S 2,230,672 $ 2,213,218 Total Revenues
100.0 100.0 100 100.0 98.7 % of Total
10.2 2 0.5 0.8 4.6 % Change

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Net Position by Component
Government-wide Financial Statements

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Governmental activities:
Net investment in capital assets ...........c.co...... S 648,786 $ 557,142 S 502,985 S 457,789 S 450,322
RESEHCEEA v.vevveeeeeteeeeeeteeeee et ereneeas 52,746 53,200 51,446 62,701 75,878
UNFEStricted ....oeeeerererererieieieieieieiccsesesesesesieas (1,206,488)  (1,159,303) (1,184,987) 82,638 74,097

Total governmental activities net position.. $ (504,956) $ (548,961) $ (630,556) $ 603,128 $ 600,297

Business-type activities:
Net investment in capital assets ..................... S — S — S — S — S —
ReStrICted .veveieeriieceerieceee e — — — — -
UNrestricted ..oooovveeevcieeeeiee e — — — — —

Total business-type activities net position.. $ - S - S - S - $ —

Primary government:

Net investment in capital assets ...........c.c....... S 648,786 $§ 557,142 S 502,985 S 502,985 S 450,322
Restricted .....ccovveeeiieeicieeeeee s 52,746 53,200 51,446 51,446 75,878
UNFESEHCIEd vuveveeeieieeceieeerie e (1,206,488)  (1,159,303)  (1,184,987) (1,184,987) 74,097

Total primary government net position ...... $ (504,956) $ (548,961) S (630,556) S 603,128 S 600,297

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Fiscal Year

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

442,778 S 402,646 S 427,097 S 384,389 $ 334,467
127,843 156,989 234,339 217,070 234,902
(46,024) (108,780) (69,124) 221,418 405,878

524,597 S 450,855 $ 592,312 S 822,877 S 975,247

— s — s — s — s -
— 14,832 14,901 — —
— — (52,069) (42,803) (50,997)

- $ 14,832 $  (37,168) $  (42,803) $  (50,997)

442,778 S 402,646 $ 427,097 S 384,389 $ 334,467
127,843 171,821 249,240 217,070 234,902
(46,024) (108,780) (121,193) 178,615 354,881

524,597 $ 465,687 S 555,144 $ 780,074 $ 924,250

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Changes in Net Position
Government-wide Financial Statements

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands)

EXPENSES:
Governmental activities:

General government .......coocveeveeerieenieeneeesieeneenn
HUMaN SErViCes .......ueieiiiiiiiieeeeee e
Public safety .....cooveeeveiiiieeieeee
PUBIIC WOIKS .ovviiiiieiiieciieciec e
Property and development.........ccccceeveenienineenae
Parks and recreation .........ccecvevveeniienieenveeneennnn

Public health programs ..........cceceeviienieinieeneenne

Interest on long-term debt .........ccccceecvieeeiiieeenns

Total governmental activities expenses ...........

Business-type activities:
Convention Center ......uiiieeeeerieieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen
HOSPItAl .eeeeieeeieeeeee e

Total business-type activities ..........cccceeeeeeennes

Total primary government expenses ..............

PROGRAM REVENUES:
Governmental activities:
Charges for services:
Public safety .....ccccveeeicieeeecee e
PUBIIC WOIKS ..veviiiiiiiiiiiieeeiieeeiec e

Operating grants and contributions......................
Capital grants and contributions ..........ccccceeeunnne.

Total governmental activities program revenues..........

Business-type activities:

Operating grants and contributions ...................

Total business-type activities program revenues .........

Total primary government program revenues

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

Fiscal Year

2017 2016 2015 2014
128,465 128,288 S 103,923 161,913
49,974 52,056 49,884 49,291
962,654 941,313 941,531 821,196
130,182 139,816 178,569 157,491
168,276 118,582 134,506 118,816
41,236 39,769 35,890 32,297
51,397 49,959 48,931 52,192
1,833,105 1,803,331 1,620,851 1,554,563
81,859 96,083 83,276 69,896
42,321 40,995 49,300 48,188
3,489,469 3,410,192 3,246,661 3,065,843
3,489,469 3,410,192 $ 3,246,661 3,065,843
147,471 133,656 138,066 139,431
28,268 24,269 23,975 19,165
5,163 10,540 6,623 2,832
36,647 34,730 40,718 41,811
760,230 746,277 670,640 583,480
52,348 39,381 53,099 11,972
1,030,127 988,853 933,121 798,691
1,030,127 988,853 S 933,121 798,691
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Fiscal Year

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
S 127,882 S 108,499 S 80,968 S 106,435 S 103,420 S 109,121
50,690 48,103 49,974 52,310 48,896 50,827
826,700 817,768 875,111 930,779 920,790 908,353
132,506 110,187 133,830 131,883 145,867 148,497
114,673 114,753 117,871 118,456 105,581 110,272
32,242 34,651 31,956 31,204 30,026 30,134
51,875 44,526 47,320 50,050 52,881 47,340
1,455,300 1,369,047 1,317,108 1,314,601 1,316,314 1,272,997
69,978 73,975 70,619 71,453 71,618 68,718
41,900 39,798 40,329 39,832 28,041 31,058
2,903,746 2,761,307 2,765,086 2,847,003 2,823,434 2,777,317
— — 1,516 13,751 4,902 5,122
— 2,523 3,336 3,635 3,924 4,201
— 2,523 4,852 17,386 8,826 9,323
S 2,903,746 $ 2,763,830 $ 2,769,938 $ 2,864,389 $ 2,832,260 $ 2,786,640
129,602 134,384 89,485 85,305 115,013 127,460
17,716 19,515 12,029 12,190 10,174 2,564
9,130 7,839 9,451 20,318 16,077 16,910
49,490 48,522 33,410 39,236 28,562 33,135
549,596 574,653 501,441 547,812 594,914 593,767
37,256 35,337 33,338 12,555 56,517 18,267
792,790 820,250 679,154 717,416 821,257 792,103
— — 1,172 5,567 1,116 1,196
— — 1,172 5,567 1,116 1,196
S 792,790 S 820,250 S 680,326 $ 722,983 $ 822,373 $ 793,299

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Changes in Net Position (continued)
Government-wide Financial Statements

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2017 2016 2015

NET EXPENSE:

GOoVernmMENtal aCHIVITIES ......covevvieereeiieteecteeete ettt ettt et e b eaaeeanes S (2,459,342) S (2,421,339) $ (2,313,540)

BUSINESS-tyPe CHIVITIES .oiveeeeeiiiieieeie e — — —

Total primary government Net eXPenSse ............c..cceeeveeereeereeireeveeeeseenneen $ (2,459,342) S (2,421,339) $ (2,313,540)

GENERAL REVENUES AND OTHER CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Governmental activities:

Taxes:

Property taxes, levied for general pUrPOSES ........ccueveeiieeiieeiieeiie e S 2,087,659 $ 1,967,021 $ 1,866,277

EXCISES 1eouvveeiuieiitttesteesteeste e sttt e st e sttt e sabeesate e sabeesateesabeesabeesabeesabeesabaenabeesabeesaree s 213,198 224,052 236,208

Payment in lieU Of taXES ..ecviviieiiiieie e 80,501 90,215 79,232
Grants and contributions NOt restricted .........oocvvvveieiiiiiiiiiiiiee s 201,013 199,835 191,172
INVESTMENT INCOME i e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeees 19,588 15,753 15,404
MISCEIIANEOUS .oeiiieiiiiieiee e e e e e e e s esaaraeeeeeesesasares 3,738 6,058 2,983
SPECIAL IEEIMS .ot ebeeene s — - —
TEANSTEIS ettt et e et s e e b e e st e e nba e e sab e e be e e saeeebeas - - -
Loss on disposal of capital assets .......cccceeveeriiiiiiiniiiie e — — —

Total governmental activities .............cccoociiiiiiiiiiiie e 2,605,697 2,502,934 2,391,276
Business-type activities:
Taxes:

EXCISES ettt ettt e e s e e e s e e e e e s nr e e e e e e s e nnneee — — —
INVESTMENT INCOME ...eiiiiiiiiii ittt e e e e s e nbee e e e e s e e nanees — — —
MISCEIIANEOUS ..veiiiieeiii ettt saa e e saa e e saae e saseenaaee e - - -
SPECIAL IEEIMS .ottt be e e b e ne s — - —
TrANSTEIS eeiiiieiieecie ettt ettt e e b e e st e e bt e e st e e b e e e st e e be e e naaeeaeas - - -

Total business-type actiVities ........cccceerieiriiniiireee e — — —

Total primary GOVEIrNMENT .............ccoeveveevieieeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeete et ere v ereeneas $ 2,605,697 S 2,502,934 S 2,391,276
CHANGES IN NET POSITION:

GOVEINMENTAI ACEIVITIES .veeeieeeeeeeeeee et ee e et e e e et e e ee e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeseeeaeessaaeeeas S 146,355 S 81,595 S 77,736

BUSINESS-tYPE ACHIVITIES .vvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiee et e e e e e e e e s e sanees - - -

Total primary SOVErNMENT ...........cccocovieveiiiieeieeete ettt S 146,355 $ 81,595 § 77,736

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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2014

2013

2012

2011

2010 2009 2008

(2,267,152) S

(2,110,956) $

(1,941,057) S

(2,085,932) S

(2,129,587) S (2,002,177) S (1,985,214)

— — (2,523) (3,680) (11,819) (7,710) (8,127)
(2,267,152) $  (2,110,956) $  (1,943,580) $  (2,089,612) $  (2,141,406) $  (2,009,887) $  (1,993,341)
1,771,166 $ 1,684,908 $ 1,586,988 $ 1,525,494 $ 1,468,340 $ 1,389,218 $ 1,316,165

220,761 221,937 191,301 122,399 123,121 115,237 97,262
73,324 72,335 63,066 65,461 67,265 56,686 56,668
199,007 185,827 188,895 187,322 171,174 230,475 259,931
16,713 14,732 10,887 21,724 17,221 22,584 47,072
4,012 7,820 7,084 23,195 21,901 12,107 1,531

— — 11,450 — — — (298)

— — (44,872) (1,120) 30,000 27,000 23,000

— (903) — — — — —
2,284,983 $ 2,186,656 $ 2,014,799 $ 1,944,475 $ 1,899,022 $ 1,853,307 $ 1,801,331

— — — 58,508 43,887 36,605 40,342

— — 2,688 3,561 3,567 6,299 9,796

— — (257) (7,509) — — —

— — (59,612) — — — —

— — 44,872 1,120 (30,000) (27,000) (23,000)

— — (12,309) 55,680 17,454 15,904 27,138
2,284,983 $ 2,186,656 $ 2,002,490 $ 2,000,155 $ 1,916,476 $ 1,869,211 $ 1,828,469

- ¢ 75,700 $ 73,742 $ (141,457) $ (230,565) $ (148,870) $ (183,883)

17,831 — (14,832) 52,000 5,635 8,194 19,011
17,831 $ 75,700 $ 58,910 $ (89,457) $ (224,930) $ (140,676) $ (164,872)

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands)

General Fund
ASSIZNEA ..o e
UNASSIBNEM ...ooueiieiiiiiiieiieeee e

Total general fund ...,

All other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable ........coceeriiiiieiniiieeeeee e
RESEHCLEA ovviiiieiiieetece e
ASSIBNEA ..ot

Total all other governmental funds ...................

General Fund
Reserved for:
ENCUMDBIances .....ceevveveieenieenieenieeeeeesieeeene
DEDL SEIVICE ovviveiieriieiiie sttt

Unreserved:

Designated for subsequent years expenditures
Undesignated .......ccccceeeeeeiciiiiieeeeeeecieeeeee e
Total general fund .............coooeiiiiiee e,

All Other Governmental Funds
Reserved for:
ENCUMDBIanCes ....oceevveeriieenieinieenieeseee e
Debt SEIVICE ...oviieiiiiieiiee et
Future appropriations .......cccccveeveeeieicciieeeeee e,
Unreserved:
Undesignated:
Special revVeNUE .......cocciviiieieeicecieeeee s
Capital projects ......cccceevveeeeeciee e,
Reported in permanent funds ...........cccccccunee..
Total all other governmental funds ...............

Fiscal Year

2017 2016 2015 2014
283,208 266,222 S 228,236 251,353
702,080 682,781 633,936 532,955
985,288 949,003 $ 862,172 784,308

10,041 4,974 §$ 4,974 4,974
240,172 204,810 194,044 199,703
220,359 203,134 161,742 154,667
470,572 412,918 $ 360,760 359,344

Note: For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 the City implemented GASB Statement No. 54, “Fund Balance Reporting and Other
Governmental Fund Type Definitions.” Statement No. 54 requires the use of new fund balance classifications that compose a

hierarchy primarily based upon the extent to which the City is bound to follow constraints on the use of
governmental fund resources. These classifications are described in note 2I.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Fiscal Year
2013

218,292
533,104
751,396

34,307
137,727
132,889
304,923

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

S 36,808 S 36,808 S 37,534 S 32,519 S 38,617

123,103 123,103 240,824 216,429 198,098
547,282 547,282 550,329 553,101 495,334
$ 707,193 $ 707,193 $ 828,687 S 802,049 S 732,049

S 136,138 S 136,138 S 116,878 S 125,858 S 187,565

24,108 24,108 30,087 30,087 35,756
123,714 123,714 138,594 144,043 154,404
(65,024) (65,024) (74,168) (110,745) (144,877)

37,098 37,098 35,743 44,678 48,101

$ 256,034 $ 256,034 S 247,134 $ 233,921 $ 280,949

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years*
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2017 2016 2015 2014
REVENUES:
Real and personal property taxes ........coeeeevveeveereereereereereeeeeennenns $ 2,079,693 S 1,967,687 S 1,867,259 S 1,767,783
EXCISES 1eiveiireieiniiiesieestteste ettt esiteestaeesiteesaeeesiteessaeeseteesaseessteesaeaees 212,797 236,263 228,962 223,133
Payments in lieu of taXes ......cceevvvieiiiiiieeeec e, 80,501 90,215 79,232 73,324
FINES ettt ettt s aae e e 63,046 65,223 60,116 59,952
INVESEMENT INCOME wuuuiiiieeeeecee e e e e e e e eaaees 2,329 1,713 2,312 6,508
Licenses and PEIrMILS ...cccuvveiriieeiriiee e e e e et e e 84,470 70,191 71,291 62,325
Departmental and Other .........ccocciiiiciie e, 87,985 134,701 139,321 137,366
INtergovernmMENtal .......ccceeeiiieeceeee e e et 554,661 827,100 829,582 804,289
TOtal FEVENUES ..o e e e 3,165,482 3,393,093 3,278,075 3,134,680
EXPENDITURES:
General GOVEINMENT .....ccoccuiiiiiiiie ettt et evaee e 85,855 92,429 67,461 113,743
HUMAN SEIVICES iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e, 31,422 40,482 39,578 39,205
PUDBIIC SAfELY .eiiveiiiiieeiieceet e 643,100 640,599 665,655 596,239
PUDBIIC WOTKS veeiiieiiieeiiiesieesit sttt seee e 106,059 116,787 142,223 127,703
Property and development .......cccccviviiieiiniiee e, 42,460 102,751 111,513 107,771
Parks and recreation ... 23,447 23,378 21,574 20,937
(] o =1 USSR PTRPSRPP 35,791 36,641 36,518 36,026
Yol Vo Yo SRS 1,048,987 1,143,249 1,087,896 1,091,899
Public health programs .........ccccevecieeiicie e, 77,754 80,525 74,821 68,697
Judgments and Claims .....c.ooeeeciiii i 3,766 1,100 3,678 9,493
Retirement COSES .oovvviiiiiiiiiiii 347,402 309,083 282,648 255,647
Other employee benefits ......cccocoeeeeccieiicce e 247,965 236,661 230,089 234,400
State and district asSeSSMENTS ..cccvveeieiiieieiiieiece e, 244,320 234,450 215,538 197,939
Capital OULIAYS oueveeeeiiee ettt 10,283 234,126 247,474 248,864
Debt service:
[ T o T o T- 1 PP R 117,527 109,825 111,381 110,948
INEEIESE oo, 53,604 54,883 46,890 42,967
Total EXpenditures ...........ccccooeevieiiiiiee e 3,119,742 3,456,969 3,384,937 3,302,478
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures.............c...c....... 45,740 (63,876) (106,862) (167,798)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Long-term debt and capital leases issued..........cccceeevvveeeecnereennen. — 181,193 170,190 178,444
Issuance of refunding bonds ...........ccoccvveeeiiiiiciiie e, — 8,100 126,735 —
Payments to refunded bonds escrow agent ........ccccoeveeeriieeeinnen. — (9,487) (147,658) —
Premiums on long-term debt issued .......cccccevevecierevcieeeeciee e, — 23,059 36,875 17,172
TraNSTEIS, NET ..oeiieieeeecee e e et e e e eavee s (9,455) — — —
Total other financing sources (US€S) ..........ccccecvviiviiieeennnennn. (9,455) 202,865 186,142 195,616
Net change in fund balances ..............ccccccevveiieieeneccece, S 36,285 S 138,989 S 79,280 S 27,818
Debt Service as a percentage of noncapital expenditures................ 5.94% 5.12% 5.03% 5.05%

*General fund only

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Fiscal Year

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

S 1,677,581 $ 1,591,998 $ 1,526,361 S 1,467,605 $ 1,393,371 $ 1,316,734

221,254 187,572 124,214 121,120 115,454 115,809
72,335 63,066 65,461 67,265 56,686 56,667
58,852 64,593 64,772 70,649 69,723 68,090

5,523 4,137 11,956 8,907 15,275 38,554
47,290 48,838 41,750 32,907 41,130 46,049
131,632 123,042 103,003 91,468 104,208 111,982
749,369 772,491 707,754 742,464 875,912 850,392
2,963,836 2,855,737 2,645,271 2,602,385 2,671,759 2,604,277
95,199 85,951 78,573 78,148 81,905 81,877
37,621 35,406 36,008 38,014 37,307 38,575
588,771 552,785 526,332 523,515 529,425 530,379
114,731 90,214 109,635 105,123 121,422 122,038
106,423 109,707 111,607 117,394 93,408 102,682
21,407 22,795 19,766 17,534 18,195 17,928
33,447 31,799 33,556 33,431 36,634 32,051
1,035,828 1,004,168 974,832 962,703 973,327 931,569
69,105 73,736 70,380 71,214 71,393 68,394
— 69,040 129,603 121,180
3,010 3,871 811 10,181 9,946 1,967
235,078 220,340 195,976 235,282 82,332 95,193
235,002 251,194 294,200 224,156 191,597 190,167
176,300 160,547 152,042 146,323 142,055 132,792
241,547 188,377 140,405 126,668 141,309 183,244
107,189 99,435 91,690 91,784 87,700 83,460
39,495 38,784 42,092 41,300 31,594 32,311
3,140,153 2,969,109 2,877,905 2,891,810 2,779,152 2,765,807
(176,317) (113,372) (232,634) (289,425) (107,393) (161,530)
235,136 146,835 156,109 144,492 113,962 153,510
37,080 110,100 52,720 68,345 40,425 28,155
(35,975) (95,876) (15,490) (73,640) (42,230) (28,565)
25,482 33,885 11,401 7,634 8,087 8,402
— (44,872) (1,120) 30,000 27,000 23,000
261,723 150,072 203,620 176,831 147,244 184,502
$ 85406 $ 36700 $ (29,014) $ (112,594) $ 39,851 S 22,972
5.06% 4.8% 4.8% 4.83% 4.51% 4.44%

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Assessed and Estimated Actual Value of All Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands)

Personal
Real Property Property
Total

Residential Commercial Industrial Assessed Total Assessed Direct Tax
Fiscal Year Value @ Value Value Value value ¥ Rate ® ©©
2017 93,462,191 S 43,571,094 $ 1,103,888 S 5,804,774 S 143,941,947 S 15.77
2016 83,719,423 38,031,832 908,352 5,387,474 128,047,081 16.47
2015 72,346,068 32,451,521 785,062 5,154,211 110,736,862 18.15
2014 64,541,403 29,631,863 707,564 4,951,983 99,832,813 19.16
2013 60,147,396 26,762,023 707,703 4,582,149 92,199,271 19.68
2012 57,517,785 25,790,869 675,290 4,516,466 88,500,410 19.65
2011 56,563,231 25,171,149 679,520 4,386,681 86,800,581 19.15
2010 56,279,025 25,931,406 798,982 4,247,118 87,256,531 18.09
2009 57,465,174 28,198,212 809,682 3,914,103 90,387,171 16.63
2008 59,387,385 26,011,520 875,894 3,792,499 90,067,298 16.06

(1) The assessed valuation of taxable property reflects 100% of the full and fair cash value.

(a) Exempt residential properties not included.

(b) Tax rates are per $1,000 of assessed value and are reported in whole dollars in the above table.

(c) Total direct tax rate is the weighted average calculation of the residential, commercial, and industrial values.

Source: City of Boston Assessing Department

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Property Tax Rates Direct and Overlapping Governments @)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Class City General Total % Change Total Direct ®

2017 Residential S 10.59 S 10.59 (3.7)% S 15.77
C.L.P. 25.37 25.37 (5.4)%

2016 Residential 11.00 11.00 (9.2)% 16.47
C.L.P. 26.81 26.81 (9.2)%

2015 Residential 12.11 12.11 (3.7)% 18.15
C.LP. 29.52 29.52 (5.3)%

2014 Residential 12.58 12.58 (4.3)% 19.16
C.L.P. 31.18 31.18 (2.4)%

2013 Residential 13.14 13.14 0.8 % 19.68
C.LP. 31.96 31.96 0.1%

2012 Residential 13.04 13.04 2.0% 19.65
C.L.P. 31.92 31.92 2.8 %

2011 Residential 12.79 12.79 7.7 % 19.15
C.LP. 31.04 31.04 5.7 %

2010 Residential 11.88 11.88 11.8 % 18.09
C.L.P. 29.38 29.38 8.4 %

2009 Residential 10.63 10.63 (3.1)% 16.63
C.LP. 27.11 27.11 4.6 %

2008 Residential 10.97 10.97 (0.2)% 16.06
C.L.P. 25.92 25.92 (3.5)%

(1) Per the initiatives of Proposition 2 1/2 adopted by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the City cannot levy more than 2.5
percent of the total full and fair cash value of all taxable real and personal property. The City's levy is also limited in that it cannot
increase more than 2.5 percent from the prior year, with certain exceptions for new growth or through overrides and exclusions
adopted by City voters

(2) Real and personal property tax rates are per $1,000 of assessed value.

(3) Total direct tax rate is the weighted average calculation of the residential, commercial, and industrial values. C.I.P. =
Commercial, Industrial, and Personal Property.

Source: City of Boston Assessing Department

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Largest Principal Taxpayers ()

Current and Nine Years Ago

2017 2008
% of Total % of Total
Taxable Taxable

Taxable Assessed Assessed Taxable Assessed Assessed
Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value
BOStON Properties .......cceueeveeeeeeecvecveeeesnnens S 3,578,676,469 2.49% S 1,548,494,130 2 1.72%
EVEISOUICE ..ovuviiiiieeiie ettt 2,254,340,174 1.57% 1,466,676,780 3 1.63%
Oxford Properties .......cccoceeeeeeveeecccneeecennennn. 1,536,031,000 3 1.07% 760,512,169 —
Teacher's Insurance and Annuity
JAXT Yo Tol F- | o] o NSRS 1,280,059,900 4 0.89% —
Tishman Speyer Properties..........ccceeeueee. 1,170,925,460 5 0.81% 993,080,160 4 1.10%
Fort Hill Associates ........ccoceeeeeeeeecccinveeeneennn. 1,030,088,190 6 0.72% 5 0.84%
MetLife Real Estate Investments................. 987,652,970 7 0.69% —
Morgan Stanley .......cccovveeviieniieenieeneeen, 740,575,030 8 0.51% -
John Hancock Financial........cccceevuveveieiinnnnn, 701,297,200 9 0.49% —
Libery Mutual .....ccccccvveveeeiiiecieeceeceeeen, 668,732,380 10 0.46% —
Senior Housing Properties Trust ........ccccee... 667,847,000 11 0.46% —
National Grid ......ccceeeeeeeiiiiieeeeceeeeeeee e, 666,255,000 12 0.46% —
Synergy Investments..........ccccceviiini, 661,044,517 13 0.46% —
Blackstone Group Equity Office .................. 622,375,830 14 0.43% —
Equity Office Properties.........ccccceeeeivveeennns 2,106,813,670 1 2.34%
Brookfield Properties Corporation.............. 751,725,240 6 0.83%
Broadway Real Estate Partners................... 695,299,900 7 0.77%
Beacon Properties ......ccccceeeeeiiviiiieeeeenienane 597,003,380 8 0.66%
Manulife Financial ......ccoovevvieiiiiiiiieeiieeiiinn, 487,023,700 9 0.54%
UIDC of Massachusetts, INC .........evvvevevnvnnnns 485,947,930 10 0.54%

S 16,565,901,120 11.51% $ 9,892,577,059 10.97%

(1) The Largest Taxpayers table includes entities with a fiscal 2017 tax liability greater than $15 million. The methodology used in creating the table involves the search
of the title holder(s) of all major parcels of property in the City. This methodology does not necessarily locate all parcels owned by affiliates nor does it differentiate

between percentage ownership in particular parcel.

Source: City of Boston Assessing and Treasury Departments

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(amounts in millions)
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Tax Levy

Tax Levy Net of Refunds Collected as
Tax Levy Collected within Year of Levy of June 30, 2017
Net % Gross % Gross % Net Net % Gross % Net
Fiscal Year Gross Y Net Gross Amount Amount Levy Amount Levy Levy

2017 $ 2,0939 $ 2,055.2 98.2% $ 2,083.3 99.5% 101.4% $2,075.4 99.1% 101.0%
2016 1,963.1 1,924.8 98.0% 1,958.4 99.8% 101.7% 1,949.3 99.3% 101.3%
2015 1,869.0 1,833.1 98.1% 1,865.6 99.8% 101.8% 1,853.6 99.2% 101.1%
2014 1,779.8 1,744.9 98.0% 1,784.7  100.3% 102.3% 1,765.8 99.2% 101.2%
2013 1,684.4 1,643.4 97.6% 1,677.0 99.6% 102.0% 1,669.1 99.1% 101.6%
2012 1,615.9 1,577.3 97.6% 1,604.2 99.3% 101.7% 1,597.8 98.9% 101.3%
2011 1,541.1 1,503.8 97.6% 1,531.8 99.4% 101.9% 1,523.5 98.9% 101.3%
2010 1,465.5 1,429.8 97.6% 1,456.6 99.4% 101.9% 1,447.2 98.8% 101.2%
2009 1,400.7 1,365.3 97.5% 1,392.7 99.4% 102.0% 1,383.2 98.8% 101.3%
2008 1,334.6 1,295.5 97.1% 1,338.8  100.3% 103.3% 1,317.5 98.7% 101.7%

(1) Includes omitted assessments billed in June of each fiscal year and subsequently reduced through residential exemption.

Source: City of Boston Treasury Department

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Amounts in thousands, except per capita amount)

Governmental Activities

Business-type Activities

Convention
Center Boston City

General Notes Payable Capital Lease Special Hospital Special

Fiscal Year Obligation Bonds &) Agreements Obligation Bonds Obligation Bonds
2017 S 1,296,931 74,266 S 69,465 S - -
2016 1,264,231 76,619 62,266 — —
2015 1,229,542 63,361 56,425 - -
2014 1,189,238 75,680 45,887 — —
2013 1,129,545 76,587 39,365 - -
2012 1,040,365 40,382 32,566 — —
2011 972,540 36,602 28,123 - 73,080
2010 952,830 40,285 35,504 93,305 80,605
2009 916,820 32,611 39,545 97,085 87,840
2008 903,215 35,421 36,773 100,485 94,800

Note: Details regarding the City’s outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

(1) Includes Bond Anticipation Notes, MWPAT Notes, and Other Notes.
(2) See page 148 for the City’s total personal income data.

(3) See page 148 for the City’s population data.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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% of Total

Total Primary Personal Income

Government @ Per Capita ©®
1,440,662 5.32% S 2,141.17
1,403,116 5.54% 2,095.86
1,349,328 6.13% 2,057.27
1,310,805 5.94% 1,992.14
1,245,497 5.66% 1,931.87
1,113,313 5.34% 1,755.74
1,110,345 5.37% 1,777.42
1,202,529 5.70% 1,947.44
1,173,901 4.94% 1,819.47
1,170,694 5.39% 1,908.50

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Ratios of Net General Obligation Bonded Debt to Assessed Value and
Net Bonded Debt per Capita

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands, except per capita amount)

Ratio of
Net General General General
Bonded Debt Bonded Debt to Bonded Debt
Calendar Year Outstanding Assessed Value Assessed Value per Capita &
2017 S 1,296,931 S 143,941,947 09% $ 1,927.55
2016 1,264,231 128,047,081 1.0% 1,888.41
2015 1,229,542 110,736,862 1.1% 1,874.63
2014 1,189,238 99,832,813 1.2% 1,813.18
2013 1,129,545 92,199,272 1.2% 1,752.02
2012 1,040,365 88,500,410 1.2% 1,631.90
2011 972,540 86,800,582 1.1% 1,556.82
2010 952,830 87,256,531 1.1% 1,542.81
2009 916,820 90,387,171 1.0% 1,421.01
2008 903,215 90,067,298 1.0% 1,472.45

(1) See page 138 for the City's total assessed value of property.

(2) See page 148 for the City's population data.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Amounts in thousands)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Debt limit .ceevvierieerieerieereee e, S 5,540,530 $ 5,540,530 S 5,156,374 $ 5,156,374 S 5,301,711
Total net debt applicable to limit ................ 275,070 1,809,054 1,388,019 1,590,189 1,705,035
Legal debt margin ......ccocceevceviveenieniniennen, S 5265460 S 3,731,476 S 3,768,355 $ 3,566,185 S 3,596,676
Total net debt applicable to the limit
as a percentage of debt limit .................... 4.96% 32.65% 26.92% 30.84% 32.16%

Legal Debt margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2016

Equalized valuation as of January 31, 2016 e ee e e s s e e s s st s ee s eeser s eesee s eentee e eeeen S 110,810,609
Maximum debt limits as of July 1, 2017 et e ettt e e e e e et ee e ereseeraneene 5,540,530
Less: Debt outstanding JUNE 30, 2016 ......cccuueeeeiiieeeeiieeecieeecsieeeeere e e stree e ssbe e e e eeae e e sasaeeennsaeeenns (1,128,298)
Less: Debt authorized but unissued as of June 30, 2016 .......ccccceeeieiiiiieiiiiee e (680,756)

Debt incurring capacity as of JUNE 30, 2016 .......cceeeeiiiieeeiiiieceieee st e e eetre e e sire e e e sareeeeeanes S 3,731,476
Add: Debt redeemed during fiscal year 2017 ......ccoccviiieiiiee ettt e e e eaees 93,926
Less: City Council Authorizations during fiscal year 2017 L (217,146)

less: Debt adjustments approved through June 30, 2017 .....ccecvieeeeiiieeeeeee e —
Add: Increase in normal debt limit based on new equalized valuation

effective JanUary 31, 2007 ...t e e st e e et e e seata e e s abaeeeaaraeeeanns 1,638,280
Add: Premium per Issuance through June 30, 2017 ......ccociieiiiriiiiniieniieeee et 15,063
Add: RefUNAE @MOUNTS ..eevviiiiiiiiiiiiiiriiiec ettt e e e s bar e e e e e e seababeeeeeeesesababaeeeeessensneres 3,861

Debt incurring capacity as of JUNE 30, 2017 ....ccocuiiiiiiiiiiiiierieeeee ettt S 5,265,460

(1) Includes the value of Chapter 121A tax agreement properties

(2) The laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts provide for general debt limits for the City, consisting of a Normal Debt Limit
and a Double Debt Limit. The Normal Debt Limit is 5.0% of the assessed valuation of taxable property in the City as last equalized
by the State Department of Revenue, and may authorize debt up to this limit without State approval. The City may also authorize
debt up to twice this amount (the Double Debt Limit) with the approval of the State Commonwealth’s Secretary of Administration
and Finance.

(3) The debt authorized but unissued as of June 30, 2016 and City Council authorizations during fiscal year 2017 are reported for
purposes of the computation of legal debt margin within the Normal Debt Limit.

Source: City of Boston Office of Budget Management

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
5301,711 $ 5,301,711 S 5293826 S 4,387,466 S 4,387,466
1,399,004 1,345,702 1,257,207 369,724 1,187,532
3,902,707 $ 3,956,009 S 4,036,619 $ 4,017,742 S 3,199,934
8.43% 27.07%

26.39% 25.38% 23.75%

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Calendar Years

Total Personal Per Capita

) o Income (ir}z) Personal UnempIoYar)nent
Fiscal Year  Population thousands) Income Rate

2017 N/A N/A N/A N/A
2016 672,840 $ 27,073,058 $ 40,237 3.4%
2015 669,469 25,334,046 37,842 4.6%
2014 656,051 23,899,232 36,429 5.2%
2013 644,710 22,393,343 34,734 6.1%
2012 637,516 21,329,440 32,884 6.0%
2011 624,969 21,030,468 33,074 6.6%
2010 621,383 21,470,976 34,170 7.6%
2009 645,187 24,159,957 36,805 7.5%
2008 613,411 22,090,962 35,396 5.3%

N/A = Information not available for this fiscal year

(1) Source: U.S. Census Bureau and BPDA Research Analysis

(2) Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 1-year American Community Survey estimates, BPDA Research Division Analysis. Converted
2013 to dollars using the Consumer Price Index.

(3) Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Local Area Unemployment Statistics, BPDA Research Division Analysis. Recent
unemployment figures are preliminary and subject to revision.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Principal Employers
Current and Nine Years Ago

2017 2008"

Percentage of Percentage

Total City of Total City

Employer 0 Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
Massachusetts General Hospital ............ 17,640 1 2.33% 16,146 1 2.52%
Brigham and Women's Hospital ............. 13,365 2 1.76% 11,225 2 1.75%
Boston University ......cccccveeeeriiivciieneeennn. 9,960 3 1.32% 9,087 4 1.42%
Children's Hospital, Boston .................... 9,760 4 1.29% 3,832 9 0.60%
Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Ctr......... 8,305 5 1.10% — —%
State Street Bank & Trust Co. ®).............. 7,500 6 0.99% 10,861 3 1.69%
Harvard University Graduate Schools B 5,680 7 0.75% — —%
Northeastern University .........ccceeeuveenn. 5,390 8 0.71% 4,417 7 0.69%
Fidelity Investments .......ccccceeecvveeeviveene 5,100 9 0.67% 8,000 5 1.25%
Boston Medical Center.......ccccccevuvvveenne.. 4,395 10 0.58% 4,000 8 0.62%
New England Medical Center ................. — - 5,508 6 0.86%
Harvard University ......cccoccveeeeeeiciiineennnn. — — 3,654 10 0.57%

Total v 87,095 11.50% 76,730 11.97%

Note 1: Boston employment estimate represents both payroll and non-payroll jobs for 2015.
Note 2: No new survey data was made available in 2008. The figures shown are from 2006.

Note 3: Employment numbers for these employers are current as of 2016.

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis; American Hospital Association; National Center for Education Statistics; BPDA Research
Division Analysis. Estimates reflect most recent available data.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



150 e City of Boston Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees by Department )
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
CITY-FUNDED:
PUBIC SAELY @) ottt 4,501 4,456 4,529 4,541 4,413
PUBIIC WOTKS e e sese e eee s ss e snenes 373 377 394 366 342
Other city departments ) ... ..o eeeeeeen 2,688 2,650 2,678 2,696 2,643
Boston Public Health Commission ™ .......o.ooovooeoeeeeeen 827 777 770 762 798
SCROOIS .o 8,782 8,746 8,789 8,664 8,381
Total city-funded ............ccoovviiiiniii e, 17,171 17,006 17,160 17,029 16,577
GRANT-FUNDED: .......oevoeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeee e sseseeesess e seeee e enes
SCROOIS .o 610 656 601 698 796
ATLOREES oo 385 370 282 277 293
Total grant-funded ................ccccoeeiiiiice e, 995 1,026 883 975 1,089
Total employees ..........ccoccveviviiiiiiiiieciee e 18,166 18,032 18,043 18,004 17,666

(1) All data are as of January 1 in the year stated. The methodology used in compiling these data was established jointly by the City
and the Boston Municipal Research Bureau.

(2) Public Safety includes both the Police Department and the Fire Department and starting in fiscal 2015 the Office of Emergency
Management.

w

—_— = = —

Includes Boston Retirement System employees.

B

Boston Public Health Commission employees are funded by the City, but are not employees of the City.

(9}

Prior years restated to include part-time school custodians.
Does not include grants managed by the Boston Public Health Commission.

Source: City of Boston Office of Budget Management

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 )

4,446 4,476 4,431 4,685 4,737
350 359 378 388 404
2,565 2,596 2,712 2,841 2,771
803 794 797 820 752
8,052 8,047 8,211 8,572 8,476
16,216 16,272 16,529 17,306 17,140
759 792 754 755 912
307 292 378 1,433 1,391
1,066 1,084 1,132 2,188 2,303
17,282 17,356 17,661 19,494 19,443

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Operating Indicators by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

Function/Program 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Police

Service calls answered .......cccvveeeiiiiieiiiiieiiec e, 516,741 408,144 421,573 566,297 579,704

Moving/traffic violations ..........ccceeveeveieieeneeceecece e, 95,865 107,204 110,254 90,180 95,454

Parking violations as of JuNe 30 ......ccccevvvenieiniieniecnieceene 1,358,385 1,346,400 1,272,107 1,326,235 1,309,406
Fire

Calls ANSWEIEA ....veviiieriieiiieciee et s 85,598 82,438 80,079 73,443 73,971

Inspections conduCcted .......coocceieiriieeeriee e 24,332 25,819 23,019 23,896 23,744
Library

Personnel full-time .....coocieeiicii e 411 413 417 408 401

Personnel part-time .......ccccceeceeeiiiieee e 45 50 58 59 66

Central and branch libraries ........cccocvvvviviieiiniieeceiee e, 25 24 24 25 26

Books, audio and video materials,

newspapers, and magazines in circulation ...........cccccouu.... 3,796,379 3,707,607 3,715,079 3,732,000 3,694,546

Library cards in force .....coovvvvieeniieniieniienieenieese e 281,439 268,275 323,789 361,939 383,931
Schools

Student enrollment as of JUN@ 30 ....ccccuvveveeeiiiiicinierieee e, 56,433 56,531 57,102 56,975 56,801
Streets, sidewalks, and bridges

Streets iN MIlES ..oovvvirieeeeeeee e 988 988 988 988 988
Hospitals

Births as of JUNE 30 ..cocveiriiiniieiiereeeee e 20,089 20,968 19,586 20,392 21,480

Deaths as of JUNE 30 ....oevvveiviiieiiieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 7,526 7,383 7,438 7,330 7,051

Source: City of Boston Auditing Department

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



Statistical Section e 153

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
598,280 543,424 621,794 577,126 577,163
108,520 107,822 138,441 137,217 132,546

1,424,098 1,435,022 1,571,688 1,591,832 1,529,537

72,511 71,244 69,859 71,247 70,176
25,112 24,297 23,900 22,093 23,810
384 385 431 464 518
49 54 57 96 158

26 26 26 27 27

3,796,679 3,534,413 3,587,136 3,403,538 3,116,540

524,054 510,966 543,628 518,080 552,797

56,535 56,789 56,219 56,144 56,074
988 987.5 968 810 809
20,540 21,568 21,064 21,387 8,430
7,090 7,572 6,987 7,185 3,043

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Capital Asset Statistics by Department
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

Function/Program 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Police

Officers and personnel ........cccceecciveieciiee v, 2,896 2,895 2,907 2,933 2,925

STATIONS et e e e 11 11 11 11 11
Fire

Officers and personnel ........ccccevecieiieeviee v, 1,623 1,618 1,604 1,604 1,597

SEALIONS it 35 35 35 35 35
Parks and Recreation

Personnel (Parks DiViSioNn) .......ccccvveveiieeeiiiiee e 280 251 306 233 220

Neighborhood (city) parks .......ccccceveeviriinienieenieereeeee, 258 251 251 262 262

Neighborhood (city) playgrounds — Tot Lots ..........ccveeenneee. 131 129 127 129 129

Community Centers — (BCYF operated) .....c..cceveveeereeneennnne 30 29 29 29 35

GOIf COUMSES ittt 2 2 2 2 2

Swimming pools (BCYF operated) .......ccccoveeveenieesiencinniennenns 18 18 17 18 17

TENNIS COUMES ..viiiiiiiieeeee et e e 65 65 65 66 66
Public Education

Total number of Boston Public Schools employees............... 10,255 9,634 9,530 9,374 9,467

Total number of SChoOIs .....ccoocuviiiriiii e 124 125 128 128 127
Public Works

Traffic signals (signalized intersections) .........cccccoeceeveevieeneene 859 854 849 841 846

Parking meters (approximately) .......cocceeveiieeeiiiee e, 6,420 7,626 7,699 7,614 6,810

BIIOEES .eeeetiiiiieiiie ettt 40 40 36 37 4
Hospitals

Number of hospitals .......ccccceriiiriiiniiie e 20 20 20 21 21

Patient DEAS ...oovviiiiieci e 6,021 5,227 6,049 5,402 5,437

Source: City of Boston Auditing Department

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Fiscal Year

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
2,913 2,948 2,885 3,011 3,085
11 11 11 11 11
1,559 1,559 1,557 1,573 1,525
35 35 35 35 35
219 218 212 224 224
251 251 251 257 257
128 128 128 132 129
38 38 45 46 46
2 2 2 2 2
17 17 21 23 20
78 78 78 67 67
9,806 9,982 9,240 9,188 9,754
128 135 135 135 144
837 833 823 813 800
7,861 7,195 7,304 7,038 6,300
4 4 4 4 4
22 20 20 22 22
5,618 5,584 5,564 5,629 5,618

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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